
 
 
 

 
  13 November 2020 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
will meet on 

Monday, 23 November 2020 

beginning at 
6:45 pm 

 
PLEASE NOTE: this will be a ‘virtual meeting’. The meeting canbe viewed 

here: https://bit.ly/3ps8W1V 

 
TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair) 
 Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillor Janice Asman 

Councillor Alan Broadhurst 
Councillor Nicholas Couldrey 
Councillor Jephthe Doguie 
Councillor James Duguid 
Councillor Judith Grajewski 
Councillor Tim Groves 
Councillor Lucy Jurd 
Councillor David Pragnell 
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne 
Councillor Gin Tidridge 

 
CC: Councillor Keith House Council Leader 
  
Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer; Tel: 023 8068 

8298; Email: nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 
Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 
Email: natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk 

  

NATALIE WIGMAN 
Corportate Director – Strategy 

____________________________________________________________________ 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website - 
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings as well as in other formats, including 

Braille, audio, large print and other languages, upon request. 
 

PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen-in to 
proceedings at this ‘virtual’ meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the 
Council website at least 24hrs before the meeting. It is important, however, that 

Councillors can discuss and take decisions without disruption, so the only 
participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors concerned, the officers 
advising the Committee and any participants who have registered in advance to 

speak. This meeting may be recorded. 

 

Eastleigh House  
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

1

https://bit.ly/3ps8W1V
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA 
 

1. Public Participation      
  
 Councillors not on Policy and Performance Committee and members of the public 

can participate during this section of the meeting in the following ways: 
 

 If you are able to participate live (meet the technical requirements) and wish to 

be present and speak, you will need to notify Democratic Services 4 working 

days (Midday Tuesday 17 November 2020) before the meeting. Technical 

and etiquette guides will be provided. 

 Alternatively, the public can email a statement to be read out by ‘the 

spokesperson’.  Emailed statements will need to be received 2 working days 

(Midday Thursday 19 November 2020) before the date of the meeting. 

Democratic Services will confirm receipt of the email and confirm it can be read 

out. 

 The statement (including questions) will be the equivalent of a maximum 

of three minutes if read out.  Please therefore restrict your statement to one 

side of A4 (12 font).  This applies audio/ video recordings also. 

 Alternatively a MP4 file will be sent to Democratic Services 4 working days 

(Midday Tuesday 17 November 2020) before the meeting.  This must be 

accompanied by a written transcript (emailed). In the event that the file does not 

meet technical requirements the transcript will be read by the spokesperson 

and shown on the screen.  

 Please contact us via democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk 
  
2. Minutes    (Pages 5 - 8)  
  
 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 15 October 2020. 
  
3. Apologies     
 
4. Declarations of Interest      
  
 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 

agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
  
5. Chair's Report     
 
6. Update from Task and Finish Groups     
 
7. Eastleigh Scheme of Housing Allocations    (Pages 9 - 66) 
 
8. Biodiversity Strategy Development    (Pages 67 - 68) 
 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk


9. Responses to M27 Scrutiny Invitation    (Pages 69 - 94) 
 
10. Corporate Performance and Financial Monitoring    (Pages 95 - 162) 
 
11. COVID 19 Recovery Proposals    (Pages 163 - 198) 
 
12. Cabinet Forward Plan    (Pages 199 - 204) 
 
13. Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme    (Pages 205 - 208) 

 
 
 

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews  

 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 7 December 2020 at 6:45 pm 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Thursday, 15 October 2020  (6:45 pm – 8:11 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Gomer (Chair); Councillors Cross, Asman, Broadhurst, 
Couldrey, Doguie, Duguid, Grajewski, Groves, Jurd, Tyson-Payne and 
Tidridge 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Kyrle and Councillor Campbell  
 

_______________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

115. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

116. MINUTES 
 
It was AGREED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 10 September 
2020 be confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

117. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor Grajewski declared a pecuniary interest as Executive Member 
of Public Heath at Hampshire County Council. 
 

118. CHAIR'S REPORT 
 
The Chair reported that the Task and Finish Groups were making 
progress. Small portfolio Working Groups would be formed. 
 

119. UPDATE FROM TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 
Councillor Tyson-Payne joined the meeting at 18:54. 
 

(a) Housing Task and Finish Group 
 

Councillor Couldrey reported that the Housing Task and Finish 
Group had met and discussed how the objectives for the Group 
could be achieved. Another meeting had been scheduled for early 
November where the focus would be on the empty homes strategy. 
 

(b) Environment Task and Finish Group 
 

5

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

Councillor Groves reported that the Group had met on 4 occasions. 
A draft tree strategy was being worked on.  

 
(c) COVID-19 Recovery Task and Finish Group 

 
Councillor Tyson-Payne reported that the Group had met and 
praised the work that was being carried out by the Council. The 
Group was drawing to a close as there was nothing more to add. 
The report would be coming to the next meeting.    

 
120. COVID 19 RECOVERY 

 
The report for COVID-19 Recovery will be discussed at the next meeting.  
 

121. POLLUTION STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT 
 
Councillor Kyrle, Cabinet Member for the Environment and the Strategic 
Planning Lead for the Environment introduced the report and explained 
that it was part of the Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan. 
Detailed proposal would be produced and brought back to the Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel in February 2021 for consideration. 
 
Councillor Grajewski declared a pecuniary interest as Executive Member 
of Public Heath at Hampshire County Council. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel noted the contents 
of the report and convened a Task and Finish Group, to be Chaired 
by Councillor Groves, to assist with development of the Pollution 
Strategy and to consider the following aspects of the Strategy, in 
particular: 
 

(1)  analysis of stakeholders and those impacted by pollution; 
(2)  data on health, environment and wellbeing impact when 

setting  pollution priorities; 
(3)  links with equality and reducing inequality; 
(4)  mitigation restoration and enforcement against polluters; and 
(5)  links and co-operation with external agencies. 

 
122. EQUALITY STRATEGY RENEWAL 

 
Councillor Campbell, Cabinet Member for Social Policy and the Strategic 
Planning Manager introduced the report and explained that a Working 
Group would be formed and chaired by the Corporate Director. A draft 
Strategy would come back to the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel 
towards the end of the process.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 

6



3 
 

That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel noted the contents 
of the report and convened a Task and Finish Group, to be Chaired 
by Councillor Asman, to assist officers and the portfolio holder with 
development of the new Equality Strategy, with particular emphasis 
on: 
 

(1) travellers and illegal encampments as part of the strategy; 
(2) inclusion of a meaningful and transparent section on Equality 

Impacts Assessment; and 
(3) incorporation of Digital Inclusion in the strategy. 

 
 

123. CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 
The Panel considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions. 
 
It was AGREED that the report be noted. 
 

124. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL'S WORK 
PROGRAMME 
 
Panel members considered their Work Programme to March 2021. 
 
It was AGREED that the Work Programme be noted. 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

23 November 2020  

CABINET 

26 November 2020 

EASTLEIGH SCHEME OF HOUSING ALLOCATIONS 

Report of the Housing & Homelessness Specialist 

 

Recommendation(s) 

For Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel 

It is recommended that 

Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel considers the proposed amendments in the report 
and makes any recommendations to Cabinet. 

 

For Cabinet 
 
It is recommended that   
 
Cabinet approves the proposed amendments to the Eastleigh Scheme of Allocations 
which underpins the Hampshire Home Choice (HHC) Allocations Framework.  The key 
areas for amendment are: 

(1) Award high priority banding (Band 2) to applicants occupying homeless temporary 
accommodation stock for 2 years 

(2) Effect amendments throughout the policy to reflect the legislative changes brought 
about by the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

 

 

Summary 
 
Eastleigh Borough Council joined the Hampshire Home Choice Scheme of Allocations in 
2014.  Local Authorities are required to establish a scheme of allocations determining the 
priorities of those who apply for housing and setting out the procedures to be followed in 
the allocation of housing. The HHC Allocations Framework is the resulting policy, jointly 
agreed by the 5 local authorities.  As detailed in the HHC Framework, each local authority 
is also required to maintain its own scheme of allocations which may contain separate 
policies to ensure the policy best suites the needs of the district. 

Eastleigh’s Scheme of Allocations has remained unchanged since its first publication in 
2014.  A recent review has highlighted areas within the policy that either no longer fall in 

9

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

line with government legislation and/or have scope for development to efficiently maximise 
housing opportunities for homeless households. 

 

Statutory Powers 
 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended) and Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Approving these plans will ensure the Council is meeting its legal 
responsibilities and increase the supply of homeless temporary 
accommodation stock in the borough.  This addresses the following Corporate 
Plan objectives: 

 Enabling healthier lifestyles/wellbeing  

 Tackling deprivation 

Introduction 

2. Eastleigh Borough Council joined the Hampshire Home Choice Framework 
partnership in 2014 along with East Hampshire District Council, Havant 
Borough Council, Test Valley Borough Council and Winchester City Council.  
HHC is a common approach to the allocation of social housing across 5 local 
authority areas with an allocations policy agreed by all 5 organisations.  Local 
authorities are also required to maintain their own allocations policy giving 
scope to address and reflect local priorities. The Eastleigh Scheme of 
Allocations was introduced in 2014 to coincide with the Council’s decision to 
join HHC 

3. Since the implementation of the Eastleigh Scheme of Allocations, there has 
been a significant change to homelessness legislation.  April 2018 saw the 
introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 which revolutionised 
the way local authorities deal with homelessness.   

4. This report details proposals to amend the Eastleigh Scheme of Allocations.  
The Scheme is attached at Appendix 1. The report proposes modification to 
reflect the changes to legislative duties placed on local authorities brought 
about by the introduction of the Homelessness Act 2017 and seeks to 
increase housing supply to combat the increased levels of homelessness.  

 

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Main Report 

5. The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 places additional duties on local 
authorities to work with homeless/threatened homeless households.  The Act 
implemented a more prevention-based approach to tackling homelessness to 
minimise the impact that homelessness and/or a threat of homelessness has 
on a household and requires authorities to work with homeless/threatened 
homeless households under two new duties, the Prevention duty & the Relief 
duty. 

 Local authorities have the freedom to create an allocations policy to best suit 
the needs of their district providing that applicants falling into specified groups 
(including homelessness) are awarded a reasonable degree of preference for 
an allocation of social housing.   The newly implemented legislation is not 
reflected within the current Eastleigh Scheme of Allocations and therefore the 
reviewed policy (at Appendix 1) recognises an award of priority to applicants 
to whom the local authority owes the Prevention or Relief duties. 

6. The second amendment proposes a change to the priority of households 
accommodated in homeless temporary accommodation stock in excess of 2 
years.  This stock is offered to homeless households to prevent or relieve the 
use of emergency accommodation such as bed and breakfast.  The tenants 
accommodated within this stock often have limited resources to secure 
ongoing housing options and are therefore reliant upon awaiting an allocation 
of social housing through HHC.  The lengthy housing register waiting times 
result in a slow turnover of temporary accommodation vacancies.  Introducing 
an increase in priority band to applicants who have tenanted homeless 
temporary accommodation stock for a period of 2 years will encourage move 
on from the stock. 

The consistent message from the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government (MHCLG) is to focus on increasing housing supply within the 
borough.  Eastleigh Borough Council has seen a sharp increase in the 
number of homeless households requiring placement in emergency 
accommodation over recent years: 

 NUMBER OF PLACEMENTS 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

SINGLES 7 14 37 41 

FAMILIES 4 18 26 40 

 

With a further rise in homelessness predicted following the Covid-19 
pandemic, increasing the throughput of our temporary accommodation stock 
will help to reduce our need for emergency accommodation placements. 

 

11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Financial Implications 

7. The proposal to increase the priority band of applicants in homeless 
temporary accommodation after 2 years will increase the housing supply in 
the borough and reduce the use of emergency accommodation and 
subsequently the councils spend on this resource.  

Risk Assessment 

8. If the proposal to increase the priority band of applicants in homeless 
temporary accommodation after 2 years is not adopted, homeless families are 
likely to have increased stays in emergency accommodation causing further 
social and financial hardship and detriment to the household.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

9. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to advancing equality of opportunity. An assessment of Equalities 
impacts is attached at Appendix 2. The assessment demonstrates that people 
with protected characteristics are afforded proportionate support and 
protections by both the Hampshire and Eastleigh schemes. Applicants’ 
demographic profile and equality characteristics are recorded through the 
application process. The Council will review this information and consult with 
diverse groups to ensure the scheme continues to be inclusive. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

10. There are no Environmental implications to the implementation of these 
recommendations.  

 

Conclusion 

11. The current Eastleigh Scheme of Allocations does not reflect the legislative 
changes around homelessness, or the increasing homelessness pressures 
placed on the authority that are predicted to worsen further given the current 
economic state.  The changes (shown included in the new proposed Scheme 
at Appendix 1) will give additional freedom to Eastleigh Borough Council to 
manage the stock of homeless temporary accommodation effectively.  This 
will maximise the stock’s potential whilst also encouraging tenants to move 
without offering an incentive to homelessness. 

 

EMMA BOYES 
HOUSING & HOMELESSNESS SPECIALIST 

 
DATE:     3 NOVEMBER 2020 
Contact Officer: Emma Boyes 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Tel No: 07792 353548 
e-mail: Emma.Boyes@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: Appendix 1 Eastleigh Scheme of Allocations 
 Appendix 2 Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 
 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   1 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council 

Homechoice Allocation Policies 

 

 

This scheme of allocations relates to the exercising of the 
Council’s functions under Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 

 

 

 

The Council is required by law to publish its allocation scheme that describes how it 

determines priorities between applicants and the procedures it follows when 

nominating to social housing in the borough.  

 

*** DATE TBC *** 

 

15



 

   2 

 

Index 

  Page  

1 Introduction    3 - 4 

2 Principles and Objectives    5 - 6 

3  
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

Housing Register 
Eligibility for the Housing Register  
Applicants who qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register  
Applicants who don’t qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register  
Suspension Policy 
Registration on the Housing Register   

  6  
  7 - 8 
  8  
 10 
 10- 12  
12 

9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
 
 

Statement of Choice  
Managing Choice  
Offers of accommodation 
Renewing applications 
 Vulnerable applicants/Support Needs 
Housing Need Assessment 
Applicants with a need for housing under the Housing Register 
Banding Scheme 
Band 1- Urgent Priority 
Band 2 – High Priority  
Band 3 – Medium Priority  
Band 4 – Low Priority 
Determining Priorities under the scheme 
Determining between applicants 
Occupancy/property eligibility criteria 
Accommodation for disabled people with access needs 
Direct Matches 
Properties not included in the scheme 
Administration and processes – CBL 
Right to Review  
Process of Review 
Complaints 
 
Annex -Processes and administration of Housing Register   
Section 1 – Processes, Applications and Assessment  
Section 2 – Allocation and Lettings 
 
Appendices   
1 - Sensitive Lettings  
2 - Owner Occupiers 
3 - Definition of Household 
4 - Health and Welfare Assessment  
5 - Cancelling/suspending applications  
6 – Grounds for refusal by a Registered Provider   
 

12 
13  
14 
14 - 15 
15 
16 - 17 
17 - 20 
21 
21 - 22 
22 
22 
22 
23 
23 
23 - 24 
24 
24 
24  
25 
25 
25 
25 
 
 
26 - 29 
30 - 35 
 
36 
36- 37 
38 
39 
40 - 43 
43 
44 
 

 

 

16



 

   3 

 

Introduction 

1.1 Eastleigh Borough Council is required to establish an allocation scheme for 
determining priorities between people who apply for housing and setting out the 
procedure to be followed in allocating housing accommodation. 

1.2 An allocation is defined as occurring when a local housing authority selects a 
person to be its own secure or introductory tenant, nominates a person to be a 
secure or introductory tenant elsewhere, or nominates a person to be an 
assured tenant of another social landlord. The selection or nomination of a 
person for the initial grant of a ‘flexible’ or ‘affordable’ tenancy of social housing 
will also be an ‘allocation’ because those are simply variants of secure or 
assured tenancies.      

1.3 The Scheme of Allocation details all aspects of the allocation process, including 
the responsibility for decisions, policy on offering choice to applicants, how 
applications will be assessed, processed and how decisions will be made with 
regard to the allocation of social housing in the borough of Eastleigh. 

1.4 The Council operates a choice based lettings scheme in partnership with Havant 
and Test Valley Boroughs, Winchester City and East Hampshire District 
Councils (together forming a ‘Sub-Regional Area’ for the purposes of housing 
allocation), and consists of a Common Allocation Framework (known as the 
Hampshire Home Choice Allocation Framework) agreed between these 
authorities, with individual schemes of allocation prepared by each participating 
authority in accordance with that Framework. 

1.5 The Council’s scheme of allocation and Hampshire Home Choice (HHC) Sub-
Regional Allocation Framework ensures applicants are given ‘reasonable 
preference’ in accordance with legislation. This includes the following 
customers:  

a) people who are homless or threatened with within the meaning of Part 7 
of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002), 
or are owed the prevention or relief duty under the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017    

b) applicants who are owed a full duty under Part 7 of Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended by the Homelessness Act 2002) or Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017. 

c) People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living 
in unsatisfactory housing conditions; 

d) People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds;  

e) People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the 
housing authority, where failure to meet that need would cause hardship 
(to themselves or to others).  

17



 

   4 

 

1.6 Additional preference will be awarded to applicants who are in a reasonable 
preference group if their housing needs are serious and urgent.  

1.7 The Council’s scheme may contain provisions for determining priorities between 
people in reasonable preference groups. Applicants entitled to reasonable 
preference will be further assessed against the following: 

a) The financial resources available to an applicant to meet his/her housing 
costs 

b) The behaviour of an applicant (or a member of his household) which affects 
their suitability to be a tenant 

c) The local connection of the applicant to the HHC local authority districts. 

1.8 An allocation under the Council’s scheme of allocation is where: 

(a) A person is nominated to be an assured tenant (including fixed-term, 
flexible, or Affordable Rent tenure) of a registered provider of social 
housing in the borough. 

(b) There is a transfer of housing accommodation where a Registered 
Provider/Housing Association tenant is in a reasonable preference group 
and where the transfer has been made on the basis of the need 
expressed in a person’s housing application. 

1.9 The letting of accommodation to applicants not in a reasonable preference 
group or of temporary housing for homeless applicants will normally be made 
outside of this scheme. 

1.10 Tenancies let through this scheme will include flexible and shorthold tenancies 
and tenancies let on social and Affordable Rents. 

1.11 Partner Registered providers of social housing in the scheme have a duty under 
Housing Act 1996 to cooperate with housing authorities to such extent as is 
reasonable in the circumstances in offering accommodation to applicants with 
priority under this scheme.      

1.12 The Council when drawing up its scheme of allocation has had regard to the 
following: 

 

 The Housing Act 1996 (Part 6), as amended by the Homelessness  
Act 2002, the Localism Act 2011 and other relevant legislation. 

 Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in 
England (2012, DCLG) “the Code”. 

 Providing social housing for local people: Statutory Guidance on social 
housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 
2013) “Supplementary Code”. 

 Improving Access to Social Housing for Victims of Domestic Abuse in 
Refuges or Other Types of Temporary Accommodation: Statutory guidance 

18



 

   5 

 

on social housing allocations for local authorities in England (MHCLG, 
November 2019) “Supplementary Code”. 

 Improving access to social housing for members of the Armed Forces 
(MHCLG, 27 June 2020) “Supplementary Code”. 

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

 Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997,SI 1997/483. 

 Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264. 

 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 
2006, SI 2006/1294. 

 Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869. 

 Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989. 

 Allocation for Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England) 
Regulations 2015, SI 2015/967. 

 Each Councils Homelessness Strategy. 

 Each Councils Tenancy Strategy. 

 The Equality Act 2010 

 Existing Case Law 

19



 

   6 

 

2 Principles and Objectives 

2.1 Strategic Priorities  

Corporate Plan    
Providing access to a decent home is one of the Council’s Corporate Plan 
priorities. 

The key principles and objectives of the scheme which determines how 
allocations will be made are: 

 To meet our homeless prevention and statutory homelessness duties  

 To give ‘reasonable preference’ to those in greatest housing need (see para 
1.5) 

 To meet the needs of vulnerable people with support 

 To provide applicants with as much choice as possible 

 To help to create and maintain sustainable local communities 

 To make the best use of available housing resources 

 To allocate scarce local housing resources in as fair a way as possible 

 

2.2 Hampshire Home choice Sub-Regional Allocation Framework  

HHC administers a single housing register for people in housing need across 
the HHC sub region. The HHC Housing Register is used by the five partner local 
authorities to nominate and allocate social housing across the sub region. This 
information is shared with the partner RPs (which includes local authority 
landlords). 

Applicants registered on Hampshire Home Choice from East Hants, Havant, 
Test Valley and Winchester are eligible to bid for a quota of properties identified 
across these four Council areas, as well as homes in the Local Authority in 
which the applicant has a local connection. These properties will be clearly 
labelled in the property adverts and it will be very clear for which properties the 
applicant can and cannot bid. 

Cross boundary moves will be regularly monitored to ensure that each authority 
is not disproportionately affected as a result of cross boundary migration 
between Council areas.  Eastleigh Borough Council does not participate in the 
cross boundary moves element of the scheme.   

 

Registered Providers’ Tenants 

20



 

   7 

 

Ensuring that sufficient priority is given to existing Registered Providers 
(Registered Social Landlords) tenants in order to make best use of existing 
social housing stock. 

2.3 Exceptional and critically urgent cases  

Ensuring there is provision for households living in exceptional and critical 
circumstances to be given highest level of priority under the allocation scheme 

2.4 Local lettings policies 

Local lettings policies will be used to ensure where possible, that there is a 
mixed and balanced community. Local letting policies for some existing 
properties and initial lettings on new build schemes may specify different 
priorities for allocating properties. Properties subject to such a policy will be 
clearly labelled in the property advert.   

Local lettings policies may be applied in addition to any local planning 
restrictions (contained in agreements made under Section 106 of the Town and 
County Planning Act 1990) which may be in place but will not override them. 
These local lettings policies will be agreed by the respective Registered Provider 
and local authority Housing & Homelessness Specialist. 

2.5 Sensitive Lettings 

There may be occasions when a Registered Provider requests that a vacant 
property is advertised as a sensitive letting; for example, where a previous 
tenant has caused anti-social behaviour and it is important to get the right mix of 
tenants in the area, having regard to the needs of existing vulnerable or elderly 
tenants. The landlord and the local authority may agree that the applicant in 
prime position for nomination is not suitable to be offered the property and 
instead agree to offer the property to a more suitable applicant.  

Priority may be given to working applicants taking into account all relevant 
factors in relation to the applicant's housing need, suitability of the property for 
that applicant and the needs of the community. In these cases the advert will 
clearly state the property is subject to the Sensitive Lettings policy.  

3 Housing Register  

3.1 The Council maintains the Housing Register and is the main point of contact for 
all applicants wishing to apply for social housing within the Borough of Eastleigh. 

3.2 The Council maintains the register on behalf of Registered Providers who 
operate within Eastleigh.  All nominations to vacancies provided by the 
Registered Providers are made by Eastleigh Borough Council in accordance 
with the Council’s Scheme of Allocations and the Hampshire Home Choice Sub-
Regional Framework. 

21



 

   8 

 

3.3 Registered Providers will allocate their accommodation in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of allocations and Hampshire Home Choice Sub-Regional 
Framework, with the exception of: 

• Any applicant who may be excluded for an allocation by virtue of the 
Providers’ Allocation policy 

• Any applicant who may be excluded for an allocation as a result of the 
Providers’ charitable status. 

3.4 No applicant will be excluded for an allocation by a Registered Provider without 
full written notification by the relevant Registered Provider to the applicant and 
the Council. 

3.5 All applicants will have the right of a review by/to the Registered Provider of any 
aspect of an adverse decision.  Details of the Registered Provider’s review 
policy will be included with any notification of an adverse decision. 

3.6 Registered Providers in the Hampshire Home Choice Scheme request 100% 
nominations to their vacancies within Eastleigh be provided by the Council. 
Nominations to such vacancies will therefore be made in accordance with this 
Scheme of Allocations. 

3.7 Some Registered Providers may reject nominations for reasons set out within 
their independent allocation policies.  In such circumstances, the Council will 
require the Registered Providers to provide written confirmation of the reasons 
for their rejection to both the Council and the applicant within 3 working days.  
Applicants will be able to request the Registered Provider review its decision 
according to its own independent appeals procedure. 

4 Eligibility for the Housing Register  

4.1 Certain people from abroad, including some subject to immigration control, are 
not eligible for an allocation of social housing. These are known as restricted 
persons. These regulations are set by Government and updated regularly. 

4.2 Allocations and nominations under the scheme of allocations can only be made 
to eligible persons. The Council cannot allocate housing accommodation under 
the scheme to: 

(1) A person from abroad who is subject to immigration control unless he/she is 
of a class prescribed by regulations made by the Secretary of State, or 
currently a tenant of the Council or a registered provider. No person 
excluded from entitlement to housing benefit shall be included in any class 
prescribed by the secretary of State. 

(2) Two or more persons jointly if any of them falls under 4.2 (1) above 

(3) Other classes of persons from abroad specified by the Secretary of State. 

 

22



 

   9 

 

4.3 Habitual Residence Test   
Most persons from abroad who are not subject to immigration control (including 
British Citizens) must also be habitually resident in the Common Travel and/or 
have the right to reside in the Common Travel Area in order to be eligible to join 
the Housing Register.  

The Common Travel Area consists of the UK, the Channel Islands, the Isle of 
Man and the Republic of Ireland.   

The Habitual Residence Test is used to ensure new allocations of social 
housing is to the applicants who are ordinarily resident in the UK, i.e. those 
habitually resident in the UK, and to EEA nationals exercising Treaty Rights. In 
applying this test, some British citizens, nationals of EEA member states, and 
others exempt from immigration control may nevertheless be denied an 
allocation on the grounds that they are ‘not eligible’. The Test can be reapplied 
at a later date and a different outcome may arise. 

4.4 Subject to 1.5 (reasonable preference criteria) and any other relevant 
regulations made by the Secretary of State, the Council may decide what 
classes of people are to be treated as qualifying persons; able to join the 
Council’s Housing Register and to be considered for housing accommodation. 

4.5 Applicants deemed not to be a qualifying person by the Council will not be able 
to be considered for housing and must be notified in writing. 

4.6 Any applicant regarded by the Council as ineligible to join the housing register 
may request a review of this decision. (see Section 28:Right to Request A 
Review). 

5 Applicants who qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register    

5.1 The Council will consider all applications to join the Housing Register in 
accordance with its Scheme of Allocations. Applicants will be accepted onto the 
Housing Register for housing provided they: 

(1) Are aged 16 years of age or over and 

(2) Are eligible to be considered for housing accommodation and 

(3) Are a qualifying person and 

(4) Have a local connection with the Eastleigh Borough Council area. 

5.2 Applicants under the age of 18 years of age, 

Applicants aged 16 or 17 years of age will be accepted onto the Housing 
Register, providing they are not otherwise ineligible. When allocating a tenancy 
to an applicant under the age of 18, then: 

a) A trustee must be appointed. A person under the age of 18 cannot be the 
legal owner of an interest in land, including a tenancy. The trustee would be 

23



 

   10 

 

the legal owner of the land and hold it in trust until the young person reached 
18 years of age. Any such case will need to be jointly assessed by the 
Housing Service and Children’s/Adult Services before an offer of 
accommodation is made, and 

b) A suitable guarantor for the tenancy would need to be identified until the 
applicant reaches 18 years of age. 

 

5.3 Qualification Criteria 
An applicant will normally be a qualifying person and therefore qualify to join the 
Housing Register and for an allocation under the Council’s scheme of 
allocations, if they are: 

 
1. In Housing Need, (See Section 14 – Housing Need Assessment) and 

 
2. Have a single or joint household income of less than £45,000 per annum 

and/or assets and savings of less than £16,000, and 
 
3. Have a local connection to the borough of Eastleigh by meeting one of the 

following criteria: 

 

a. Residency Qualification 

 Have been resident in the Borough of Eastleigh for 12 continuous 
months at the time of application. 

 have lived in the Borough of Eastleigh for 3 out of previous 5 years 

 Have close family (mother, father, brother or sister, adult children, 
grandparents) who have been resident for 5 continuous years and 
continue to be resident in the Borough of Eastleigh. 

 

b. Employment 
An applicant may be a qualifying person if he/she or his/her partner is in 
employment which meets all of the following criteria: 

 

 The office or business establishment at which a person is based or 
from where their work is managed is within the Borough of Eastleigh 
and  

 Is in paid employment and  

 Works a minimum of 16 hours per week and  

 Has been employed for a minimum of 12 months and is currently in  
employment and  

 Has a permanent or fixed term contract or is self-employed. 
 

If an applicant or their partner is self-employed further information may be 
required including but not limited to evidence that they are registered with 
HMRC for tax and National Insurance payments, tax returns, payslips, accounts, 
etc. 

24



 

   11 

 

6 Applicants who are not qualifying persons and do not qualify for inclusion 
on the Housing Register 

6.1 Applicants will not normally be qualifying persons if they: 

1) Do not have a local connection to the Borough of Eastleigh unless, at the 
time of their application they are: 

 Owed a re-housing duty by the council under the homelessness 
legislation or 

 A person who is serving in the regular forces or 

 A person who has served in the regular forces within five years of the 
date of their application for an allocation of social housing under Part VI 
of the Housing Act 1996 or 

 Those who have recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to reside in 
accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the death 
of that person’s spouse or civil partner where -  

 

  -  The spouse or civil partner has served in the regular forces: and  
 
  -  Their death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service: or  
 
  -  Is serving or has served in the reserve forces and who is  
   suffering from a serious illness or disability which is attributable 
   (wholly or partly) to that service.  
 

  For the purposes of this policy the definition of ‘regular’ and ‘reserve’ 
  forces will reflect the definition set out in s374 of the Armed Forces  
  Act 2006. 
 

 In a class of people prescribed by regulation who cannot be deemed a 
non-qualifying person due to a lack of connection to one of the local 
authority areas. (for example MAPPA, MARAC, Witness Protection.) or  
 

 A ‘looked after child’ as defined by Children’s Services in another region. 
 

 A care leaver aged uner 21 who normally lives in a different area to that 
of a local authority that owes them leaving care duties and has done for 
at least 2 years including some time before they turn 16 or 
 

 A care leaver aged under 21 owed a duty under Section 23C of Children 
Act 1989 by Hampshire County Council will have a loal connection with 
every district that falls within the area of HCC or 
 

25



 

   12 

 

 A person who needs to move to a particular locality within the HHC area, 
where failure to meet that need would cause themselves or others 
hardship or  

 Social housing tenants who have reasonable preference because of a 
need to move to the local authorities’ district to avoid hardship; and need 
to move because the tenant works or has been offered work in the district 
of the authority and has a genuine intention to take up the offer. 

 
2) Are an applicant who has the means to resolve their own housing difficulties. 

 
3) Are an owner-occupier with the exception of those with a housing and 

assessed care need, who cannot resolve their own housing situation and 
have a need for extra-care or sheltered accommodation.    

 
4) Are not in housing need, unless they are of a household type which could be 

considered for housing which is normally difficult to let and they wish to be 
considered for such a property. This will normally be sheltered and/or older 
persons accommodation, not bungalows.                    
                                                

5) Each application will be considered on its merits. Applicants who do not 
qualify or are not eligible to join the Housing Register will be advised in 
writing of the decision and their right of review of the decision that they do 
not qualify or are ineligible for the Register. (see Section 28) 

7 Suspension Policy 

7.1 The Council operates a suspension policy. Applications will be suspended in the 
following circumstances: 

1) Where an applicant has deliberately worsened their circumstances 

2) Unacceptable behaviour 

3) Former rent arrears and debt 

4) Refusal of suitable accommodation 

7.2 Deliberately Worsened their Circumstances 
 Applicants who seek to gain an advantage on the Housing Register by 
 deliberately worsening their circumstances, for example, moving to severely 
 overcrowded housing or sub-standard accommodation will have their housing 
 application suspended for 6 months. For applicants whose application has 
 been suspended for deliberately worsening their circumstances, their priority 
 date will be the date their application is made live following suspension for 6 
 months. 

26



 

   13 

 

 
 

7.3 Unacceptable Behaviour 
Qualifying persons who are unsuitable to be a tenant because of behavioural 
issues, including anti-social behaviour or poor tenancy or household 
management will have their application suspended for six months. Applications 
will be assessed on their own merits.  

Applicants and/or their household will need to demonstrate that there has been 
a significant change in their behaviour and that this has been sustained for a 
minimum period of 6 months before they may qualify for housing. In some cases 
an applicant may qualify, subject to them agreeing to accept tenancy support or 
signing an acceptable behaviour contract. 

7.4 Behavioural issues may include the following: 

(i) Verbal and abusive physical behaviour and/or  
(ii) Arson and/or 
(iii) Assault and/or  
(iv) criminal behaviour and/or 
(v) criminal damage and/or 
(vi) damage to property and/or  
(vii) domestic violence and/or 
(viii) drug and alcohol misuse/abuse and/or 
(ix) harassment and/or 
(x) homophobic behaviour. 

 
 Applications will be assessed on their own merit taking into account current 
 and recent conduct along with relevant supporting information provided by 
 partner organisations, support workers and the Police. For applicants whose 
 application has been suspended for unacceptable behaviour their priority date 
 will remain what it was before their application was suspended. 

 
 

7.5 Former Rent Arrears and Debt 
Where an applicant and/or their partner owe money to the Council or 

 Registered Provider in the HHC partnership and there is no payment 
 arrangement in place or there is a payment arrangement in place which has 
 not been adhered to for a period of 6 months and continues not to be paid 
 their application may be suspended. For applicants whose application has 
 been suspended for former debt/rent arrears and debt, their  priority date will 
 remain as it was before their application was suspended. 

 

27

http://www.harassment.me.uk/


 

   14 

 

Examples of money owed: 

i. Current rent arrears and/or  

ii. Former tenant rent arrears and/or 

iii. Repair costs/Rechargeable works orders and/or  

iv. Claim against deposit scheme for damage or rent arrears and/or 

v. Rent in advance/Tenancy Start Up or housing related loans owing and/or 

vi. Outstanding debt with a private landlord may be considered 

It is the responsibility of the applicant to provide evidence confirming that there 
is a payment arrangement in place and that payments have been adhered to for 
a minimum period of at least 6 months and continue to be paid or evidence of 
where serious hardship would result if accommodation is not offered. 

7.6 Refusal of Suitable Accommodation 

An applicant, who successfully bids, is nominated and offered suitable 
accommodation but subsequently refuses an offer on two occasions within a six 
month period will not be able to bid for further properties for six months from the 
date of refusal of the second property. 

 

8 Registration on the Housing Register 

8.1 Housing applicants will only be registered onto the Housing Register following 
receipt by the Council of the duly completed housing application form and 
requisite verification documentation. 

8.2 An applicant’s registration date will be the date on which the Council receives 
their application. This date is known as the registration date.  

8.3 All applications for housing are assessed and placed in one of four bands 
depending on the applicant’s housing need. Priority is awarded within each 
band by date the application was placed in the band. This date is known as the 
priority date. 

 
The Council will endeavour to register all applications and notify the applicant of 
their position on the register within 10 working days of receipt of all relevant 
information, informing them of the date their application was registered, their 
banding and their assessed bedroom need. 
 
 
 
 
 

28



 

   15 

 

9 Statement of Choice  

The Council and its partner landlords are fully committed to enabling applicants 
to play an active role in choosing where, and in what property type and tenure  
they wish to live, while continuing to house those applicants in the greatest 
housing need and complying with all relevant legislation. 
 

9.1 Applicants can apply (subject to eligibility) for vacancies which are advertised 
each week. In making this choice applicants need to consider their housing 
need priority against the availability of properties in any given area. 

9.2 The Housing Register offers eligible applicants an opportunity to express 
preferences in relation to accommodation in the following ways: 

 Applicants can make a positive choice about the area in which they wish to 
live.  

 
 Applicants can state their preferences for type of heating, a garden and other 

amenities.  
 
 We will provide applicants with clear information about the supply of and 

demand for vacancies through our weekly Newsletter. This will help inform 
them about the implications of their choice and decisions in terms of waiting 
time and the availability of properties.  

 
 We may use local lettings initiatives to enhance choice and enable 

applicants to make a positive decision about where they live.  
  
 We will seek to ensure that local people have the opportunity to live within 

their home villages.  
 

We will offer choice of tenure, for example social and Affordable Rent 
properties, low cost homeownership, Homebuy.    
           
           
            

10. Managing Choice  
 

10.1  Applicants awarded a ‘Management Transfer’ priority will be expected to bid for 
the next suitable vacancy. This can be extended where no suitable property has 
arisen during the time period. If a suitable property arises and the applicant is 
successful in bidding but refuses the offer of accommodation, then their priority 
will be reduced to their original Band  
 

10.2  Applicants owed the prevention or relief duty under Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 or owed a full duty under Part 7 of Housing Act 1996 (as amended by 
the Homelessness Act 2002) and placed in homeless temporary 
accommodation stock to end or satisfy these duties will be expected to bid for 
suitable properties. If the applicant does not bid for suitable properties, then the 

29



 

   16 

 

local authority will bid on their behalf and make a suitable offer of a vacant 
property within their district. 

11. Offers of Accommodation 
 
11.1    All offers of accommodation made by Registered Providers in the Borough of 

Eastleigh will be made in writing, direct to applicants from the Registered 
Provider themselves. If applicants do not respond to the offer within 2 working 
days it will be assumed they have refused the offer. 

12. Renewing applications/remaining on the Housing Register 

12.1 Applicants will be required to renew their housing application on an annual basis 
on the anniversary of their relevant application date – known as the “renewal” 
date. 

12.2 If applicants fail to voluntarily renew their application they will be sent a written 
reminder to do so within 21 days of the renewal date. Any applicant who does 
not renew their application within 28 days of receiving their reminder letter to do 
so will be assumed to no longer require housing and their application will be 
cancelled accordingly. 

12.3 If an applicant makes contact within 6 months of their original application being 
cancelled this application will be reinstated. 

12.4 If contact is not made within 6 months and satisfactory evidence is provided of 
an incapacity causing the failure to renew, the application can be reinstated from 
the date of the original application.  

12.5 Eligibility and qualification for the list may be reconsidered when an application 
is being reviewed.  

12.6 Applicants must keep the Council informed of any changes to their 
circumstances, as and when these arise, by submitting written details to the 
Housing Case Management  Team. Applicants may be required to complete a 
new application form and provide any necessary supporting documentation. 

13. Vulnerable Applicants/Support Needs 

13.1 The Council is committed to ensure that all residents in the Borough have every 
opportunity to sustain their homes.  

13.2 The Council will provide the following details to a Registered Provider when 
responding to a request for a nomination from the Housing Register: 

 any tenancy support provided to an applicant; 

 any known involvement by any support agency with an applicant, and  

 any concern that the applicant may need tenancy support even if tenancy 
support has not been given and there is no involvement of any support 
agency. 

30



 

   17 

 

14. Housing Need Assessment  

14.1 Household Size and Accommodation Eligibility 
The number of bedrooms an applicant can be considered for is determined by 
looking at the size and structure of the household. The table below details the 
normal bedroom requirements for typical households: 

 

Household Size Size of accommodation 

Single Person Bedsit/studio flat/one 
bedroom property 

Couple One bedroom property 

Household with one child Two bedroom property 

Household with two children of same sex * Two bedroom property 

Household with two children of opposite sex; 
where both children are under 10 years of age 

Two bedroom property 

Household with two children of same sex, where 
one sibling is over 16 years of age. 

Three bedroom property 

Household with two children of opposite sex, 
where one is 10 years or over. ** 

Three bedroom property 

Household with three children Three bedroom property 

Household with four or more children Three/four bedroom 
property 

Household with five or more children Four/five bedroom 
property. 

*Two siblings of the same sex under 16 years of age will be expected to share 
one bedroom of appropriate size. 
 

**Two siblings of opposite sex, where one is 10 years or over are entitled to 
separate bedrooms. 

14.2 Where an applicant states a separate bedroom is required for a carer/s 
providing overnight care, the Council will assess whether the carer is part of the 
household. 

14.3 In exceptional circumstances, the Council will consider allocating properties of 
alternative sizes to applicants. Such decisions will be made by the Council’s  

31



 

   18 

 

Housing & Homelessness Specialist in consultation with the Hampshire Home 
Choice Manager. 

 
14.4 Additional Priority  

14.5 Additional priority may be given in the following circumstances: 

(a) Fostering 

Additional priority may be given to foster carers where their current 
accommodation is not suitable to accommodate a foster child placement. 
An example is where an applicant may require a larger property to 
accommodate one or more foster children. In these cases the local 
authority will work closely with Children’s Services to meet the needs of an 
approved foster carer. 

(b) Health and Welfare Assessment  

An applicant, who has a need to move to a particular locality in the district 
where significant hardship would be caused to them or others, if they did 
not move, maybe awarded additional priority.  

(c) Armed Forces with Urgent Housing Needs 

Additional priority may be given to members of the Armed and Reserved 
Forces, widows/widowers of Armed/Reserve Forces personnel killed 
whilst in service and who have an urgent housing need. For example 
those who need to move urgently because of a life-threatening illness or 
sudden disability. 
 

(d) Emergency Management Transfers 

Existing RP tenants in need of an emergency management transfer will be 
awarded Additional priority and placed into Band 1. (see18.3) 

15. Applicants in the following circumstances have a need for accommodation 
under the Housing Register 

15.1 Overcrowded Circumstances  
Households will be regarded as overcrowded when they are assessed as 
needing at least one more bedroom than their current accommodation provides. 

For the purpose of defining overcrowding the following factors apply: 

a) A single person aged 16 or over requires one bedroom. 

b) A couple require one bedroom. 

c) Two children of a different sex, where one is aged 10 or over, require 2 
bedrooms. 

d) Children of same sex share a bedroom until 16 years of age. 

e) One room will be classified as a living room; all other rooms (except 
bathrooms and kitchens) will be classified as bedrooms provided they 
are suitable as sleeping accommodation. 

32



 

   19 

 

Rooms measuring less than 4.6 square metres (50 square feet) will not be 
counted as a bedroom. 

15.2 Homeless Households 

a) Applicants who are owed a prevention or relief duty or a full duty to be 
housed under the homelessness legislation and who are placed in 
accommodation that is not suitable for their long-term needs, or 

 

b) Where the lease for their private sector leased property is ending through 
no fault of their own, or  

 

c) Where the Council needs to release temporary accommodation in order  
to meet local homeless priorities and pressures. 

 

d) Households occupying homeless temporary accommodation stock or 
Private Sector Leasing Scheme (PSL) properties after 2 years will be 
moved into Band 2. 

 

15.3 Severe Disrepair 
Where an applicant’s home is assessed as being in serious disrepair and is 
considered unsafe by the Council, but cannot be remedied by the applicant or 
landlord within a reasonable timescale and housing conditions can be resolved 
through re-housing. 

Assessments will be carried out by Environmental Health Officers having regard 
to Category 1 hazards under the Housing Health Safety Rating System 
(HHSRS). 

15.4 Existing Social Housing Tenants 
Existing Social Housing tenants living in the Borough of Eastleigh who: 
 
 Will release a property required by the Councils to meet housing need. (e.g - 

tenants in properties previously adapted who no longer require the 
adaptations) 

 

 Are under-occupying their property by one bedroom or more and who wish 
to move to smaller accommodation 

 
 Are under-occupying their property by one bedroom or more (including 

starter tenancies) and are suffering or may suffer financial hardship because 
of reduced welfare payments due to under-occupation. Additional priority 
may be awarded to applicants in these circumstances.   

 

 Are applicants who have succeeded to a tenancy and who are required to 
move to smaller accommodation. 

 Are living in a two bedroom flat and who have two children will be considered 
for more appropriate family accommodation, e.g a house or maisonette. 

 

33



 

   20 

 

 Are living in a bedsit/studio flat for a period of 2 years or over. 
 

15.5 Households living in Temporary/ insecure Housing 
The following applicants are considered to be living in temporary or insecure 
housing if: 

(1) They have been accepted as statutorily homeless by the Council and been 
placed into temporary housing. 

(2) Accepted a qualifying offer of private rented accommodation, which brings 
the Council’s homelessness duty to an end. 

 
(3) They have an Assured Shorthold Tenancy in the private rented sector and 

do not have the means to resolve their own housing situation. 

 
(4) Are considered to be of ‘no fixed abode’. 

 
(5) They occupy Armed Forces accommodation and are close to the end of their 

service. Applicants with an ‘urgent housing need’ may be awarded additional 
priority. 

Fixed–term secure tenancies will not be considered to be temporary/insecure 
housing. 

15.6 Health and Welfare Assessment  

An applicant or household member who has a significant health or welfare 
problem caused or substantially worsened by their existing accommodation and 
where it could be alleviated or resolved by rehousing, maybe awarded priority 
on health and/or welfare grounds. 

 
Priority 
level  

Definition Priority 
Band 

Urgent There is a critical need to move. The current housing situation is 
seriously detrimental to health and interferes with quality of life to an 
intolerable degree. 

Band 1  

High There is a high medical need to move. The current housing situation 
is detrimental to health and interferes with the quality of life to a high 
degree. 

Band 2  

Medium There is a moderate medical need to move. The current housing 
situation is detrimental to health and interferes with the quality of life 
to a moderate degree. 

Band 3  

Low There is a slight medical need to move. The current housing situation 
is detrimental to health and interferes with the quality of life to a low 
degree.  

Band 4  

None There is no medical need to move or a move would offer no 
improvement. The current housing situation is not detrimental to 
health and does not interfere with the quality of life. 

No 
Priority 

34



 

   21 

 

 
When awarding priority on health and/or welfare grounds, the award of urgent 
priority on these grounds need to be considered alongside the needs of other 
applicants who are waiting for rehousing. 

15.7 Lacking Essential Facilities 
Where an applicant is lacking the following essential facilities: 

 Cooking Facilities 

 Bath or Shower 

 Internal WC 

 Cold/Hot Water Supplies 

 Electricity/Gas Supply 

 Adequate Heating 

15.8 Sharing Facilities 
Where an applicant is sharing the following essential facilities with another 
person who is not part of their application: 

 Kitchen 

 Bathroom/Shower 

 Internal WC 

 Living Room  
 

15.9 Vulnerable Applicants in Supported Housing 
Eastleigh Borough Council follow pathways for referrals into supported 

 housing provisions.  Prioritising and agreeing move on from supported 
 housing schemes to facilitate moves into independent accommodation with 
 floating support will be considered by the Housing & Homelessness Specialist 
 and agreed with the Health & Wellbeing Lead?  

35



 

   22 

 

 

15.10 ADHAC 
An applicant who the Agricultural Dwelling Housing Advisory Committee 
(ADHAC) recommends for re-housing unless they have the means to resolve 
their own housing situation. Additional preference may be given if recommended 
by the Committee.    

15.11 Living in Tied or Armed Forces accommodation 
Applicants living in Tied or Armed Forces accommodation. 

15.12 Wish to be considered for difficult to let properties. 
Are not in housing need, unless they are of a household type which could be 
considered for housing which is normally difficult to let and they wish to be 
considered for difficult to let. This will normally be sheltered and/or older person 
accommodation and NOT bungalows. 

15.13 Currently serving prison sentences 
Applicants who are serving prison sentences and who on release will have a 
housing need or be homeless and have a local connection to one of the HHC 
local authorities. The applicants will be reassessed on release. 
 
 
 

16. The Banding Scheme  

Applicants, who are eligible and qualify to be accepted on to the Housing 
Register, will have their housing need assessed and be placed into one of four 
bands: 

 Band 1: Urgent Priority 

 Band 2: High Priority 

 Band 3: Medium Priority 

 Band 4: Low Priority 

17. BAND 1: URGENT PRIORITY 
Applicants who fall into this category will be households who need to move 
because of: 
a) Emergency Cases – Usually on health medical or welfare grounds; or 
 
b) Emergency Management Transfers 

 
c) Special Cases agreed by the Housing & Homelessness Specialist and the 

Health & Wellbeing Lead Specialist. 
 

17.1 Emergency Cases 

36



 

   23 

 

Very few cases are likely to be eligible for this category, it will apply to: 

 Applicants assessed as having a life-threatening health condition that is 
directly linked to unsuitable housing conditions and where the applicant has 
been awarded an urgent medical or welfare assessment.  

 Applicants requiring urgent hospital discharge where their current 
accommodation is totally unsuitable for their needs. 

 Applicants required to move for witness protection reasons, Multi-Agency 
Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) cases, Multi-Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) cases and Child Protection issues. 

17.2 Emergency Management Transfers 
Where an existing tenant of an RP provider in the partnership needs to be 
moved immediately because of serious violence or harassment, where this has 
been substantiated and management action against the perpetrator cannot 
resolve the situation. 

 
17.3 Other cases recognised as emergencies and at the discretion of the local 

authority. 

17.4 Urgent priority banding will be time limited for 3 months. Applicants will be 
expected to bid for the next suitable vacancy. This can be extended where no 
suitable property has arisen during the time period. If a suitable property arises 
and the applicant is successful in bidding but refuses the offer of 
accommodation, then their priority will be reduced to their original Band. 

17.5 Decisions regarding Emergency Management Transfers will be made by the 
Council’s Housing & Homelessness Specialist and Registered Provider 
concerned.    

18. BAND 2 – HIGH PRIORITY 
Applicants who fall into this category will be households who need to move 
because of: 

 Statutory Homeless Duties 

 Overcrowding by Two Bedrooms 

 Serious Disrepair 

 High Medical Priority or Welfare Grounds 

 Vulnerable applicants in Supported Housing ready for Move On agreed as 
per 15.9 

 Existing Social Housing Tenants Under-occupying their Current 
Accommodation 

 Management Transfers - Where an existing tenant of an RP provider in the 
partnership needs to be moved urgently, but does not need to move into the 
next suitable available property as their situation does not require immediate 
re-housing. 

37



 

   24 

 

High priority banding will be time limited for 3 months. Applicants will be 
expected to bid for the next suitable vacancy. This can be extended where 
no suitable property has arisen during the time period. If a suitable property 
arises and the applicant is successful in bidding but refuses the offer of 
accommodation, then their priority will be reduced to original Band. 

18.1 Statutory Homeless Duties 

(a) Applicants who have been accepted by one of the Councils with a full 
duty to house under the homelessness legislation and who are placed in 
accommodation that is not suitable for their long-term needs or 

(b) Where the lease for their Private Sector Leased (PSL) property is ending 
through no fault of their own, or 

(c) Where the Council needs to release temporary accommodation in order 
 to meet local homelessness priorities and pressures or 

(d) Households occupying homeless temporary accommodation stock or 
 Private Sector Leasing Schem (PSL) properties for 2 years. 

18.2 Applicants assessed as having a Band 2 priority can be moved to Band 1 if 
there are both urgent and exceptional circumstances. 

 

19. BAND 3 – MEDIUM PRIORITY  
 
Applicants who fall into this category will be households who need to move 
because of: 

a) Overcrowding by one bedroom 

b) Temporary/insecure housing 

c) Lacking/sharing facilities 

d) Medium Medical Priority or Welfare Grounds 

e) Social housing tenants living in two bedroom flats that have two children 

f) Social housing tenants living in a bedsit/studio for 2 years or over 

g) Armed forces personnel who have retained their original application date 
after moving up from band 4 (see para 21.1). 

h) Owed a Prevention or Relief duty under the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017. 

20. BAND 4 – LOW PRIORITY 

 
Applicants who fall into this category will be households who need to move 
because of: 

a) A low Medical Priority or Welfare Grounds 

38



 

   25 

 

b) Living in tied or Armed Forces accommodation 

c) Wish to be considered for difficult to let properties. This will normally be 
sheltered and/or extra care accommodation. 

d) Applicants who are serving prison sentences and who on release will have a 
housing need or be homeless and have a local connection to the Eastleigh 
Borough. 

21. Determining Priorities under the Scheme of Allocations 

Priority is awarded within each band by the date the application was placed in 
that band. This date is known as the priority date.  

21.1 If an applicant is moved up a band the application will be given a date when the 
increased priority is awarded. This becomes the new priority date.  An exception 
to this is when armed forces members are given notice to leave their tied or 
forces accommodation and are moved up from Band 4 to Band 3.  In this case 
they will be allowed to retain their original priority date. 

21.2 Applicants who are assessed as not in housing need, but are of a household 
type which could be considered for housing which is normally difficult to let and 
they wish to be considered for difficult to let properties, will be placed in Band 4. 

21.3 If an applicant has a serious housing problem that requires urgent consideration 
for rehousing, their application will be reviewed by the Council’s Housing & 
Homelessness Specialist and discussed with the HHC Manager and awarded 
higher priority, if appropriate.  

22. Determining Between Applications 

When determining an allocation or nomination for a vacancy, the Council will 
normally consider allocating according to the following rank orders: 

 

 Suitable applicants within Band 1 the Urgent rehousing band (by date order 
of approval as an agreed critical/urgent case) 

 

 Suitable applicants within Band 2 (by priority date in the band) 

 

 Suitable applicants within Band 3 (by priority date in the band) 

 

 Suitable applicants within Band 4 (by priority date in the band) 

 

22.1 A decision of the “suitability” of a particular applicant will also have reference to 
the appropriate household size and accommodation eligibility criteria and criteria 
set out below in Section.37. 

23. Occupation/Property Eligibility Criteria   

39



 

   26 

 

For vacancies, the following issues will be considered: 

a) Achieving an appropriate balance between the following range of factors: 

 management issues (e.g. child density, sensitive lettings, local lettings 
policies, etc) 

 balancing competing levels of demand between different household types 

 making best use of available stock 

 the particular design, layout and room sizes of the property 

 whether the vacancy is deemed accessible to meet the needs of a 
disabled person  

 Housing Associations’ individual allocations policies 

 An applicant’s ability to maintain a tenancy (particularly when moving on 
from supported housing). 

 

b) Assessing what households are eligible for designated property size.  

  

24. Accommodation for Disabled People with Access Needs 

Properties that have been designed or adapted to meet the needs of disabled 
people) will be prioritised for people who have access needs (or families with a 
disabled member who has access needs). 

Disabled people with access needs (or families with a disabled member who 
has access needs) will be considered for other vacancies by virtue of their 
ranked position on the housing register where it is reasonable and practicable to 
adapt that property. 

25. Direct Match 

In certain circumstances the Council will allocate a property directly to an 
applicant which is known as a direct match. The advert will clearly state that the 
property has already been allocated to an applicant with a specific need. 
Examples of when a direct match may take place are: 

 

 Applicant requires a specifically adapted property  

 Urgent management decant required 

 Applicant is subject to Witness Protection, MAPPA or MARAC and requires 
specific accommodation in a specific area 

26. Properties not included in the scheme 

Whilst most allocations will be managed through the choice based allocation 
process, there will be some circumstances when it is necessary to exclude 
vacancies from the process. 

Examples of lettings which may be excluded are as follows:  

  Decants to allow repairs to be carried out 

40



 

   27 

 

 Temporary accommodation for households who are homeless or may be 
threatened with homelessness  

 Supported housing  

 Extra-care housing 

 Management cases for an existing social tenant. 

 Community safety issues, such as MAPPA or witness protection 

27. The Administration and processes governing the Choice Based Lettings 
Scheme  

27.1 Eastleigh Borough Council operates a choice based lettings scheme in 
partnership with Havant and Test Valley Boroughs, Winchester City and East 
Hampshire District Councils and has agreed a common approach to the 
assessment of applications and the choice based lettings processes for the 
purpose of allocating social housing across the sub region.  

27.2 The choice based lettings processes and administration of the scheme are 
annexed to Eastleigh Borough Council’s Scheme of Allocations.   

28. The Right to Review 

Applicants have the right to request a review of any aspect of their housing 
application assessment made by the council when assessing their application 
for housing, under the Housing Act 1996, Part 6. This includes decisions 
regarding eligibility, qualification, housing need assessments and the suitability 
of offers of accommodation. 

29. The process of Review  

An officer senior to the person making the original decision and who was not 
involved in making the decision will carry out the Review.  

29.1 A request for a Review must be made within 21 days of the decision providing 
the reasons for the Review.  The Council has discretion to extend the time limit if 
it considers this would be reasonable. If further information is needed, the 
applicant will be invited to write or, if unable to do this, make oral representation.  

29.2 The applicant may also appoint someone on his or her behalf to do this. If the 
reviewing officer finds that the original decision did not take relevant information 
into account they will refer the case back for re-consideration. The applicant will 
be notified of the Review decision within 56 days of the request for a Review. 

41



 

   28 

 

30. Complaints Procedure  

30.1 Internal  

If an applicant is dissatisfied with any aspect of their application, other than 
where a review can be made, they should follow the Council’s published 
complaints procedure, available on the Council’s website or on request. 

30.2 The Local Government Ombudsman  
If an applicant is not satisfied with the action taken by the Council and has 
exhausted the complaints procedure available, they can send a written 
complaint to the Ombudsman. The Local Government Ombudsman can be 
contacted at: 

 
Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry CV4 0EH. 
Phone:0300 061 0614 
Fax: 024 7682 0001 Website: www.lgo.org.uk 

Annex – Processes and administration of Choice Based Lettings in Eastleigh 

Section 1 – Processes, Applications and Assessment  

1 Applications and Assessment 
Anyone requiring assistance to complete an application for housing can contact 
the Council who will be able to offer them advice and support in making an 
application for housing.  

1.1 Registration and Priority Date 

New applications will be registered from the date they apply to be registered on 
the Housing Register. For on-line applications this will be the date the on-line 
application is completed. For the purposes of a paper application form, this will 
be the date the application form is received by the Council. This date is known 
as the registration date.  

Under the Scheme of Allocations all applications for housing are assessed and 
placed in one of four bands depending on their housing need. Priority is 
awarded within each band by date the application was placed in the band. This 
date is known as the priority date.  

42

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 

   29 

 

1.2 Household 
 
When applicants join the list, and whenever an application is reviewed, an 
assessment will be made of the make-up of the applicant’s household. This 
assessment will normally be straightforward, but decisions may need to be 
made as to whether individuals included on an application form are accepted by 
the Council as being part of the household who, in the event of re-housing, will 
be accommodated with the applicant. The size and make-up of the household 
will determine the bedroom requirement. (see Appendix 3). 

1.3 Individual Assessments 
 
Once a completed form or on-line application has been received, the relevant 
Housing Team will then undertake an assessment of housing need against this 
Policy. The date of registration, health and welfare needs are taken into account 
in the assessment. If additional information is required, a Health and Welfare 
Assessment form will be sent out to be completed. 

Providing the applicant is eligible and qualifies for the Housing Register and the 
application has been completed fully, it will be registered onto the Hampshire 
Home Choice Housing Register. Through the assessment process, each 
applicants housing needs will be considered and a level of priority awarded by 
placing the applicant in one of four bands.  

A letter will be sent to the applicant within 10 working days of receipt of all 
relevant information, confirming their application reference number, the date the 
application was registered, their banding and their assessed bedroom need. 

As a result of the partnership between the participating Councils, the  five 
registers are effectively merged into the Hampshire Home Choice Register and 
operate under the Allocations Framework. 

1.4 Missing Information and Incomplete Applications 
 
If further verification is required, the applicant will be contacted in writing to 
provide the information necessary to assess their application. Any applicant who 
does not provide the requested information within 28 days will be assumed to no 
longer require housing and their application will be cancelled accordingly. 
 
Paper application forms not completed fully will be returned to be completed. 
On-line applications which are not completed within 28 days will be cancelled. 

1.5 Applicants not eligible and do not qualify 
 
If the applicant is considered to be ineligible or does not qualify for the Housing 
Register, they will be sent a letter confirming this and the reason for this 
decision.  

1.6 Cancelling and Suspending Applications 
 

43



 

   30 

 

If information is obtained that gives reason to believe that an applicant who has 
already been accepted onto the Housing Register is, in fact, ineligible or no 
longer qualifies to be on the Register, or their circumstances may have 
changed, their application may be suspended or cancelled. The applicant will be 
informed in writing and they will be given 28 days to provide the requested 
information. If they do not reply within this period, or if they reply but the Council 
still believes them to be ineligible or no longer qualifying, they will be removed 
from the Housing Register. (see Appendix 5). 

1.7 Change in Circumstances  
 
Applicants who move to a new address or whose circumstances change after 
they have been accepted onto the Housing Register (e.g. - who wish to add or 
remove someone on their application or a change in income or employment, 
etc.) should immediately contact the Council with which their application for 
housing is registered to notify them of the changes and arrange to complete any 
necessary forms.  

Eligibility and qualification for the Register may be reconsidered when there is a 
change in circumstances.   

1.8 Remaining on the Housing Register 
 
Applicants will be required to renew their housing application, on an annual 
basis, on the anniversary of their relevant application date – known as the 
“renewal date”. 

If applicants fail to voluntarily renew their application they will be sent a written 
reminder to do so within 21 days of the renewal date. Any applicant who does 
not renew their application within 28 days of receiving their reminder letter to do 
so will be assumed to no longer require housing and their application will be 
cancelled accordingly. 

If an applicant makes contact within 6 months of their original application being 
cancelled, this application will be reinstated. 

If contact is not made within 6 months and satisfactory evidence is provided of 
an incapacity causing the failure to renew, the application can be reinstated from 
the date of the original application.  

Eligibility and qualification for the list may be reconsidered when an application 
is being reviewed.  

1.9 Confidentiality 
 
Information regarding a person’s application for housing will not be disclosed to 
any third party or member of the public without the applicant’s express consent 
unless the Council is required to do so legally. By signing the housing 
application form, an applicant gives consent for the relevant Council to make 
enquiries with regard to their housing need and their potential ability to manage 

44



 

   31 

 

a future tenancy. The declaration also gives express consent to share such 
information with partner Registered Providers or other social housing providers 
when nominating applicants to be tenants of their properties.  

1.10 False or Misleading information 
 
If an applicant knowingly or recklessly gives false information or knowingly 
withholds information which the Council has reasonably required of him/her, an 
offence is committed. In all such cases the Council will consider a prosecution 
for the offence in which an applicant may be subject to a fine of up to £5,000 
under the Housing Act 1996. If an applicant has accepted a tenancy on the 
basis of using false or withholding information, the landlord may apply to the 
court for possession of the property. 

1.11 Right to Review 

All decisions with regard to the Scheme of Allocations are subject to Review 
should the applicant be dissatisfied with a decision. This right to a Review 
includes decisions regarding eligibility, qualification, housing need assessments 
and the suitability of offers of accommodation.  A request for a Review should 
be made to the Council. An officer senior to the person making the original 
decision and who was not involved in making the decision will carry out the 
Review.  

A request for a Review must be made within 21 days of the decision providing 
the reasons for the Review.  The Council has discretion to extend the time limit if 
it considers this would be reasonable. If further information is needed, the 
applicant will be invited to write or, if unable to do this, make oral representation.  
The applicant may also appoint someone on his or her behalf to do this. If the 
reviewing officer finds that the original decision did not take relevant information 
into account, they will refer the case back for re-consideration, or amend the 
application. The applicant will be notified of the Review decision within 56 days 
of the request for a Review.  

45



 

   32 

 

 

2 Section 2 – Allocations and Lettings 

2.1 Available Properties  
 
100% of social lettings to which the Council has nomination rights will be made 
available through the scheme. The Council may agree some specific 
exceptions.  

2.2 Properties not included in the scheme 
 
Examples of lettings which may be excluded are as follows:  
 

 Temporary accommodation (decants) to allow repairs to be carried out 

 Temporary accommodation for households who are homeless or may be 
threatened with homelessness  

 Supported housing  

 Extra-care housing 

 Management cases for an existing social tenant. 
 
  

2.3 Cross Boundary Moves  
 
A 10% pool of properties across Test Valley, Havant, East Hants and 
Winchester will be available for cross boundary moves. The 10% figure will be 
calculated based on the total number of lettings from the previous year. This 
total will be equally divided between the four local authorities and those 
properties will be advertised as being available for cross boundary moves. 

 
The following properties will be excluded: 

 New-build properties unless specifically agreed  

 Properties that are provided under Rural Exception Site policies and which 
are subject to any specific requirements to meet local housing needs through 
agreements under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

 4+ bedroom properties 

 Sheltered housing.  
 
Eastleigh Borough housing register applicants will not initially be included in the 
arrangements for cross boundary moves.  It is hoped that Eastleigh will be able to offer 
this benefit to applicants at a later date. 

46



 

   33 

 

2.4 Direct Match 
 
In certain circumstances, the Council will allocate a property directly to an 
applicant which is known as a direct match. The advert will clearly state that the 
property has already been allocated to an applicant with a specific need. 
Examples of when a direct match may take place are: 

 

 Applicant requires a specifically adapted property  

 Urgent management decant required 

 Applicant is subject to Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements or Multi-
Agency Risk Assessment Conference and requires specific accommodation 
in a specific area 

 Witness Protection. 

2.5 Advertising Properties 
 
Vacant Social Housing to which the Council has nomination rights will be 
advertised through the Choice Based Lettings scheme. Adverts will be available 
at locations throughout Eastleigh including the Council offices in which free 
internet access is available. Details of available properties will also be placed on 
the Hampshire Home Choice web site at www.hampshirehomechoice.org.uk 

 
The Council and Registered Providers will arrange for each vacancy to be 
advertised and will specify the requirements for each property.  Some properties 
may be labelled by the Council to enable the development of sustainable 
communities.  For new developments this may include Local Lettings Policies.  
Depending on the Council’s strategic needs, the labelling of properties may 
include certain restrictions, e.g. some social housing may only be offered to 
people who have an assessed support need or for transferring tenants.  

 
The advertisement will usually include details such as the following: 

 The Registered Provider (landlord) 

 The weekly rent, including all other service charges 

 Whether property is a social or affordable rent  

 Whether property is let on a fixed term tenancy  

 Properties available for cross boundary moves 

 The anticipated date the property will be ready for occupation  

 The recommended number of permitted occupants 

 Any age limits e.g. for households with children, for sheltered 
accommodation for older/disabled persons or any landlord specific 
requirement 

 Whether the property is restricted by a Planning Obligation under section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 where offers of tenancies 
may only be made to applicants with a strong local connection to a rural 
exception site  

 Village vacancies subject to local connection restrictions 

 Accessible housing e.g. wheelchair adapted. 

 Whether pets are allowed. 

47



 

   34 

 

2.6 Bidding 
 
All eligible and qualifying applicants can make bids for properties advertised by 
telephone or online via the website. Full details of how to bid are set out in the 
Hampshire Home Choice User Guide. This can be found on the Hampshire 
Home Choice website or directly from the Council.   

 
Applicants can only bid for up to three properties for which they are eligible per 
bidding cycle. There is a weekly bidding cycle although this may change at 
times during the year subject to agreement from the  five Councils. 

2.7 Multiple Bidding  
 
For new developments, the same property types will be covered by one advert. 
Applicants only need to place one bid to be considered for all the property type 
covered by the advert.      

2.8 Assisted Bids 
 
All applicants are expected to make bids themselves but in limited 
circumstances those who do not bid for properties may receive a direct bid.  
Since service user participation is a critical part of Choice Based Lettings the 
Council recognise that some vulnerable applicants may require assistance in 
making bids. To ensure that vulnerable households have fair access to the 
scheme applicants with support needs and those who have language difficulties 
will be supported by the Council, or an appointed support provider which may 
include assisted bidding. 

2.9 Assessment of Bids  
 
Priority within the band is decided by the date the application was awarded that 
band.  
 
Registered Providers taking part in the scheme will have access to the shortlist 
of applicants who have made a bid for the property.  The applicant with the 
highest priority and who meets all of the advert and preference criteria and who 
is therefore at the top of the shortlist will be nominated to the Registered 
Provider.  
 
Once a bid is accepted the letting of property will be organised by the 
Registered Provider. 

2.10 Applications for a property when more than one applicant has identical 
preference  
 
Where two or more eligible applicants apply for a property and have the same 
priority band and have the same priority date, the Council will carry out a 
housing needs assessment of the applicant to determine who may have the 
highest housing need for the property. Regard may also be given to which 
household size and family make-up may make best use of the property.  

48



 

   35 

 

 
If an applicant’s housing need, household size and family make-up are similar, 
then the length of residency connection with the district shall be considered with 
the household with the longest residency connection with the Council from 
where the property is being advertised getting priority. 
 
This will also be applied in the event of a property being advertised as available 
for cross boundary moves. 

2.11 Reasons why a Registered Provider may refuse a nomination  
 
If for any reason the Registered Provider wishes to refuse an applicant, the 
Registered Provider is required to notify the Council. The Council will re-
nominate to the next suitable applicant on the shortlist.  

 
If there are no eligible bids or the shortlist has been exhausted the property will 
be re-advertised. For grounds for refusal see Appendix 6. 

2.12 If a Registered Provider refuses a nomination, they must inform the applicant of 
their reasons for refusal and of their Review Process.   

2.13 Verification  
 
The Council will verify all information provided by the applicant that is relevant to 
their eligibility and qualifying for an allocation of accommodation. Further 
verification, which may include inviting the applicant for an interview or 
completing a home visit, will be required at the time an applicant is allocated a 
property and the Council may check information with other sources as allowed 
by the law.  
 
Applicants will be expected to provide documentary evidence that all persons 
included on the application are resident at the address applied from. Applicants 
will also be required to provide any additional proof considered appropriate to 
confirm the applicant’s circumstances. 

 
Registered Providers may carry out their own verification processes and these 
will be in addition to those carried out by the relevant Council’s verification.  

2.14 Offer of Tenancy  
 
Once all verification processes are completed, the Registered Provider makes 
an offer of the vacancy to the successful applicant. 

2.15 Difficult Lets 
 
If there are no eligible bids for a property, it will be re-advertised by HHC. In 
some cases the eligibility criteria may be relaxed. 

 
Once a bid is accepted the letting of property will be organised by the 
Registered Provider.  

49



 

   36 

 

2.16 Refusals 
 
An applicant, who successfully bids, is nominated and is offered suitable 
accommodation by a Registered Provider but subsequently refuses an offer on 
two occasions within a six month period will not be able to bid for further 
properties for six months from the date of the refusal of the second property.  

2.17 Feedback 
 
All successful lettings will be reported on the Hampshire Home Choice website. 
The reports show the number of bids for each property, the band and the priority 
date of the successful applicant. 

2.18 Fair Allocations 
 
The Councils are committed to providing equality of opportunity to all applicants 
who apply for housing. The monitoring of allocations under the scheme will take 
place to ensure that everyone is treated fairly. All applicants applying for social 
housing across the five authorities will be assessed by way of an assessment of 
housing need.  

2.19 Equality 
 
The Council is subject to the general public sector equality duty in the Equality 
Act 2010. The Council and its partner Registered Providers are committed to 
providing equality of opportunity to all individuals who apply for re-housing. 
Monitoring of applications and lettings may take place to ensure that everyone is 
being treated fairly. 

2.20 Changes to the Scheme 
 
The Scheme of Allocations will be reviewed and updated where necessary. This 
will help to ensure that the policy meets legislative and best practice 
requirements. 

2.21 Monitoring 
 
The Council attends a quarterly HHC Board meeting which is attended by 
representatives and members from each of the Councils and representatives 
from the Registered Providers. 

 
The annual review will also ensure that each authority is not disproportionately 
affected as a result of cross boundary migration between Council areas. 

2.22 Complaints 
 
If an applicant is dissatisfied with any aspect of their application, other than 
where a review can be made, they should follow the Council’s published 
complaints procedure, available on the Council’s website or on request. 

 

50



 

   37 

 

www.eastleigh.gov.uk 

2.23 Access to Personal Information  
 
In accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998, & General Data Protection 
Regulations,  people have a right to see what information is kept about them on 
written records. (please note a fee may be charged) As far as possible the 
Council will make this available, subject to certain restrictions. If you wish to 
view your records, please contact the Council:  

 
EastleighBorough Council, 
Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh 
SO50 9YN.  
 
023 8068 8000 
housing@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

2.24 The Local Government Ombudsman 
 
If an applicant is not satisfied with the action taken by the Council or a Housing 
Association and has exhausted the complaints procedure available, they can 
send a written complaint to the Ombudsman. The Local Government 
Ombudsman can be contacted at: 

 
Local Government Ombudsman,  
PO Box 4771, Coventry CV4 0EH. 
Phone:0300 061 0614 
Fax: 024 7682 0001 
Website: www.lgo.org.uk 

 
 
 

51

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/
mailto:housing@eastleigh.gov.uk
http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 

   38 

 

 
 
Appendix 1 – Sensitive Lettings  

 
Purpose 
The purpose of the Sensitive Lettings Policy is to create sustainable and cohesive 
communities in relation to individual lettings where there may be need to redress the 
balance of the community. 
 
Objectives 
In these cases the Registered Provider is departing from the routine allocation process.  
Instead of allocating a property to the applicant at the top of the shortlist with the most 
housing need the landlord considers the suitability of the applicant for the vacancy, on 
the basis of the information they have about the applicant and the knowledge they have 
about the property, its location or the neighbours.  
 
In allocating housing the Registered Provider needs to balance a range of factors: 
 

 the individual's housing need;  

 the suitability of the property for that applicant;   

 to create a community that is sustainable; 

 to ensure current and future tenants feel safe; 

 to protect the public and residents from nuisance and anti-social behaviour; 
 
Preference will be given to applicants who are able to demonstrate that they will be able 
to manage a tenancy successfully and using the following cascading mechanism: 
 
a) Applicant or partner is resident within the local authority area and employed in paid 

work. 
b) Applicant or partner is employed in paid work and has a local connection to the local 

authority area. 
c) Are registered on Hampshire Home Choice.   

 
Exclusions 
Applicants will not be considered for a property advertised as a sensitive let where there 
is evidence of known history or convictions for the following; 
 

 criminal behaviour 

 anti-social behaviour 

 drug abuse 

 drug dealing 

 breaches of any tenancy with any landlord 

 rent arrears. 
 
The landlord may request additional information from other partner agencies such as 
the Police, Probation Service, Primary Care Trust, Drug and Alcohol Services and 
former Landlord in determining suitability for a property subject to the Sensitive Lettings 
Policy.   

52



 

   39 

 

 
Process 
If a landlord wants to advertise a property as a sensitive let they will need to provide 
evidence to the Council and on the reasons why the property is required to be let on a 
sensitive let basis. The Council will have to agree to any property being advertised as a 
sensitive let. 
 
The property advert will clearly state the property is subject to a Sensitive Lettings 
Policy.   
 
Once the shortlist has closed, the Council will nominate in accordance to the preference 
criteria within the Sensitive Lettings Policy.  If for any reason the Registered Provider 
wishes to refuse an applicant the Council can re-nominate.  
 
Right  to Review 
An applicant has the right on request to be informed of any decision about the facts of 
their case which has been taken into account in deciding whether to make an allocation 
of a sensitive let to them.   
 
Equality Impact Statement  
This Sensitive Lettings Policy does not discriminate directly or indirectly and has given 
regard to the Equality Act 2010 to ensure no one is treated unfairly and has equal 
opportunities to access  housing.  
 
The Council is using its powers under the Localism Act 2011 to enable applicants who 
are working to access housing by framing their allocation’s scheme so as to enable 
specific properties to be allocated to those in employment through the use of Local 
Lettings Policies.  
 
Monitoring 
The effectiveness of properties being advertised as sensitive lets will be monitored on a 
regular basis. A property should only be advertised as a sensitive let if this is absolutely 
necessary to address the situation and any housing management issues. 

 

53



 

   40 

 

 
Appendix 2 – Owner Occupiers 
Owner occupiers, who apply to join the Housing Register, would not qualify unless there 
are exceptional circumstances or they wish to be considered for a difficult to let property 
designated for those aged over 55 years.  
 
In considering those exceptional circumstances the Council will need to be satisfied that 
the applicant is in housing need and is unable to resolve their own housing 
circumstances. Applications will be assessed case by case, taking all relevant 
information into account. 
 
In assessing whether an applicant is in housing need the following will be considered: 
 
(a) the suitability of their present accommodation – whether current accommodation is 

adequate for their situation taking into account state of repair, health, employment, 
family support and whether an applicant’s situation is likely to deteriorate. 

 
(b) the applicant’s financial circumstances – whether their income, savings or the equity 

within any property they own is sufficient to secure alternative suitable 
accommodation. The Couincil may take into account the current house prices locally 
in making its decision.  

 
In some cases the Council may consider it reasonable for the applicant to be able to 
secure accommodation in the private sector. However due to a shorthold tenancy 
being only available initially for a limited term this may not always be appropriate. 

 
(c) An applicant must be aged 55 years or over with a housing support need and would 

benefit from sheltered housing. 
 
Sheltered housing is usually designated for those aged over 55 years. In some cases 
the scheme may only be available for those aged over 60 or 65 years of age. In some 
cases the scheme landlord may carry out a needs assessment to assess if an applicant 
is eligible for their scheme.  
 
If an applicant is assessed as qualifying for an allocation this does not guarantee they 
will be allocated a property. An applicant will have to also meet the criteria set by the 
scheme landlord especially in cases where the landlord may have charitable status.  
 
Where an applicant who is an owner occupier has been assessed as a qualifying 
person as a result of having a housing need and a need for sheltered housing, they will 
only qualify for an offer of sheltered housing and will not qualify for an offer of a general 
needs property or a bungalow restricted to older applicants..   
 

54



 

   41 

 

 
Appendix 3 – Definition of a Household  

Any person wishing to be included as part of an applicant’s household must satisfy the 
Council that they are a permanent member of the applicant’s household and show that it 
is reasonable to expect them to reside with the applicant on a continuing basis.  

In the case of a separated household or where residence of children is shared between 
parents, it would not normally be considered reasonable for a child who has a suitable 
home with one parent to be taken into account when considering the housing needs of 
the other parent.   

In all such cases, an assessment will be carried out to decide who should be considered 
to be part of the household and the following factors will be taken into consideration 
along with any other relevant facts:  

 Access of people included on the application to other suitable accommodation 

 Previous living arrangements 

 Actual living arrangements 

 Preferred living arrangements 

 Evidence of longstanding residence and commitment to being part of the 
household 

 Likely longer-term living arrangements 

 Special circumstances 

 Information from Children’s or Adult Services. 

Applicants requiring a Carer 

Where the applicant states that they require a carer to live with them who would not 
normally be considered to be part of the household, then the Council will decide 
whether the carer is part of the household or could reasonably be expected to be part of 
the household. In most cases, care can be provided without the provision of a separate 
bedroom for a carer.  

Each case will be dealt with on its own merits, and the following factors will be taken 
into consideration along with any other relevant facts:  

 Whether there is an established need for live-in 24 hour care 

 Availability of supported or extra-care housing which may meet the applicant’s 
needs 

 Current living and care arrangements 

 Likely future living and care arrangements 

 Special circumstances 

 Information from Adult Services 

Other cases may arise where there are queries about households (e.g. where adult 
sons or daughters return home or where distant relatives or 3 generation families or 
friends are included on the housing application.)  

55



 

   42 

 

 
Appendix 4 – Health and Welfare Assessment  

This policy along with the HHC Allocation Framework and current Scheme of 
Allocations explains how and when a Health or Welfare award can be given to 
applicants and what evidence is needed in order to support additional priority under 
Health or Welfare grounds. 
 
The health and welfare of an applicant or a member of their household will be assessed 
on the basis of the effect of their current property on their condition, and how a different 
property would improve the applicant’s health or welfare. A health or welfare issue in 
this context means a physical or mental illness, disability or incapacity, including 
behavioural syndromes, problems of physical or mental development and disorders 
related to drugs and / or alcohol.  The assessment is based on a holistic approach, 
which takes account of psychological and social factors alongside physical issues. 
  
To qualify for an award the condition must be made worse by your present 
housing and your health or welfare must also be likely to be improved by moving 
to alternative accommodation.  
 

Please note that a health or welfare award does not necessarily mean that your 
application will move into a higher Band. 
 
The following table shows which awards are available and which Band an application 
will be placed into if the award is made: 
 
Health and Welfare Table 
 
Priority 
level  

Definition Priority  
Band 

Urgent There is a critical need to move. The current housing situation is seriously 
detrimental to health and interferes with quality of life to an intolerable 
degree. 

Band 1  

High There is a high medical need to move. The current housing situation is 
detrimental to health and interferes with the quality of life to a high degree. 

Band 2  

Medium There is a moderate medical need to move. The current housing situation  
is detrimental to health and interferes with the quality of life to a moderate 
degree. 

Band 3  

Low There is a slight medical need to move. The current housing situation is 
detrimental to health and interferes with the quality of life to a low degree.  

Band 4  

None There is no medical need to move or a move would offer no improvement. 
The current housing situation is not detrimental to health and does not 
interfere with the quality of life. 

No  
Priority 

 

 

Health and Welfare Assessment Form 
Applicants only need to tell us about problems if they think that their health or welfare is 
being made worse by their housing and that it would improve if they moved.  
 

56



 

   43 

 

Applicants can discuss their situation with the Council. Housing options may be offered 
to assist applicants to resolve any issues they may be experiencing in the first instance. 
 
If an applicant’s condition is made worse by their present housing and their health or 
welfare is also likely to be improved by moving to alternative accommodation they will 
be sent a Health and Welfare Assessment form.  
 

Only one award can be given to a household.  Where more than one household 
member has a health condition an assessment will be made taking into account 
everyone’s health or welfare needs and the highest award applicable will be made.   
 

Health and Welfare Assessment Process 
 

The Health and Welfare Assessment Panel is made up of two members of the Housing 
department who will assess an applicant’s Health or Welfare assessment form against 
the criteria shown within the Health and Welfare table based on all of the information  
provided by the applicant about  themselves and  their household and according to the 
guidelines in the table. 
 
If further information is necessary before a decision can be made, the Housing 
department will write to  the applicant,  their general practitioner or any other agency 
regarding additional information relating to the Health and Welfare application. They 
may also contact an independent medical advisor regarding  the case if this is 
necessary. 
 

The Health and Welfare Assessment Panel will usually meet on a 2 weekly basis, 
although Winchester City Council’s Panel is held on a weekly basis. 
 

Additional Bedrooms 
 

Applicants can apply for an additional bedroom due to their medical needs.  Evidence  
will be required to support any requests for an additional bedroom. Usually the only 
circumstances in which an additional bedroom will be awarded is where an applicant 
requires a full-time live-in carer who is not part of the normal household. 
 

Adapted properties 
 
Applicants who need a home suitable for wheelchair users may need to provide a report 
from an Occupational Therapist before an offer can be considered.  
 
When allocating properties suitable for wheelchair users, or with any other adaptations 
for disabilities, or when allocating ground floor accommodation, priority will be given to 
applicants who have an assessed housing need for these properties and where 
evidence  has been provided. 
 

What to do if you disagree with our decision 
All decisions with regard to the Scheme of Allocations are subject to Review should the 
applicant be dissatisfied with a decision. A request for a Review should be made to the 

57



 

   44 

 

Council. An officer senior to the person making the original decision and who was not 
involved in making the decision will carry out the Review.  
 
Details of the Right to Request a Review  are shown in 28 and 29. 
 
It is important to remember that it is for the Council to make decisions in the 
administration of housing applications. Only the Council will be able to determine priority 
in line with the Scheme of Allocations.  
 
The Council may where necessary take into account medical professional’s information 
about medical conditions and any need for alternative housing as a result of that 
condition and any impact of the current housing on such a condition but the Council will 
make the final decision.  
 

 

58



 

   45 

 

 
 
Appendix 5–Cancelling and Suspending Applications  

1. Reasons for suspending an application: 

 Adequately housed 

 Applicants request 

 Rent arrears – temporary accommodation 

 Awaiting documentation 

 Evicted for rent arrears / nuisance 

 Intentionally homeless  

 No recent contact 

 No response to offer 

 Offer refused 

 Person from abroad 

 Rent arrears 

 Unacceptable behaviour 

 Under investigation 

 Under offer 

2. Reasons for cancelling an application:  

 Applicant became ineligible 

 Applicant gone away / no contact 

 Cancelled at applicants request 

 Data error 

 Deceased 

 Failure to respond within the time limit 

 Housed by Local Authority 

 Housed through shared ownership 

 Housing by social landlord or other 

 Housing Register review 

 Housing review not returned 

 Made own arrangements 

 Mail returned as no longer at that address 

 Moved away 

 No longer wishes to be on list 

 No response to contact letter 

 No response to correspondence 

 Non-qualifying person 

 Unsuitable to be a tenant 
 
 
 
 
 
 

59



 

   46 

 

 
Appendix 6 - Reasons for refusal of a nomination by a Registered Provider  

A Registered Provider may refuse a nomination from the Councils for the following 
reasons:  

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Area unsuitable 

 Change of circumstances 

 Does not meet age criteria 

 Does not meet financial criteria 

 Does not require ground floor 

 Does not meet criteria 

 Does not meet local lettings policy 

 Efficient management of stock 

 Fails to meet accommodation criteria 

 Financially secure 

 Geographic exclusion 

 Health reasons 

 Incomplete agency information 

 Incomplete application 

 Incomplete verification by applicant 

 Management decision 

 Needs supported housing 

 No support package in place 

 No vacant possession guarantee 

 Non-compliance with tenancy conditions 

 Non engagement with services 

 Not ground floor 

 Offered to another shortlist 

 Owner occupier 

 Previously bypassed 

 Previously refused 

 Previously refused by Registered Provider 

 Property unsuitable 

 Rent arrears 

 Rent Deposit Loan Scheme and/or deposit scheme debt to the Councils 

 Requires ground floor 

 Sensitive let 

 Suspected fraudulent application 

 Unable to proceed 

 Other reason – which may not fall within any of the above 
 
 

 

60



 

   47 

 

  

 

61



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)  
 

Title of EqIA: Eastleigh Scheme of Allocations 

Brief description 
of the Proposal: 

As detailed in the Hampshire Home Choice Framework, each local 
authority is required to maintain its own scheme of allocations which 
may contain separate policies to ensure the policy best suites the needs 
of the district. 
A recent review has highlighted areas within the policy that either no 
longer fall in line with government legislation and/or have scope for 
development to efficiently maximise housing opportunities for homeless 
households. 
The key areas for amendment to Eastleigh’s Scheme of Allocations are: 
(1) Award high priority banding (Band 2) to applicants occupying 

homeless temporary accommodation stock for 2 years 

(2) Effect amendments throughout the policy to reflect the legislative 
changes brought about by the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017. 

 

Assessment: 
For all of categories below please consider: 

1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination? 
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?  
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with 
protected characteristics.  

Age: Eligible and qualifying applicants aged 16 plus are allowed on Hampshire Home 
Choice (HHC).  
Applicants aged 16-17 may only be offered subject to an assessment with 
Children Services, the Housing Services, and a suitable guarantor being 
identified.  
Scheme allows applicants over 55 to access sheltered housing, including in 
cases where an applicant is an owner occupier or assessed as having no 
housing need.  
Paper form applications available including in large font size for applicant who 
cannot access the internet or require large font.  
Automatic bidding available for applicants who cannot access the system on a 
weekly basis to place bids on advertised properties. 

  

63



Disability: Scheme recognises and prioritises disability/health conditions.  
All applications which indicate physical disabilities, need for adaptations 
and/or care needs are assessed with the support of our Occupational 
Therapist and/or Housing and Community Advisor. Regular meeting held to 
ensure that any households requiring specific adaptations are matched 
appropriately to properties that already have adaptations in place or have 
the ability to be adapted for a specific purpose. 
When anyone applies to join the Housing Register, 28 days is given to 
provide any requested information. However, this timescale can be 
extended if required. If an application is closed the scheme allows 
applications to be reinstated and in the case of those living with mental 
health issues or who cannot read, the scheme allows sufficient flexibility to 
reinstate applications, for example in instances where a person may have 
been struggling to cope at a time they were asked to provide additional 
information or complete their annual renewal.    
Suspension Policy states behaviour that may result in an application being 
closed. All applications are assessed case by case. In cases where 
someone’s behaviour could be symptomatic of mental illness or addiction or 
where failure not to meet their need would cause hardship, their application 
would not be suspended.   

Gender: NONE 

Gender 
reassignment: 

NONE 

Pregnancy 
and Maternity: 

NONE 

Race: NONE  

Religion or 
belief: 

NONE 

Sexual 
Orientation: 

NONE 

Marriage and 
civil 
partnership: 

NONE 

  

64



Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people 
experiencing social deprivation. 

Social 
deprivation: 

Scheme recognises ‘reasonable preference’ for applications from those who: 
-are homeless or threatened with homelessness 
-are owed a main homelessness duty 
-are occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing 
-are living in unsatisfactory housing conditions 
--need to move on medical or welfare grounds 
--need to move to a particular locality where failure to meet that need would cause 
hardship 
Scheme recognises that additional preference will be awarded to applicants who are 
in a reasonable preference group where their housing needs are serious and urgent.  
Scheme recognises that additional preference may be given to members of the 
Armed and Reserved Forces, widows/widowers of Armed/Reserve Forces 
personnel killed whilst in service and who have an urgent housing need.  
Paper form applications available including in large font size for applicant who 
cannot access the internet or require large font.  
Automatic bidding available for applicants who cannot access the system on a 
weekly basis to place bids on advertised properties. 

 

What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out? 

Engagement with Hampshire Home Choice Manager.  
 

What could reduce 
any adverse impact on 
these groups? 

All applications are assessed based on eligibility, qualification and 
housing need in line with Scheme of Allocation. Any cases where 
adverse impact to any of these groups would be assessed on a case by 
case basis and reasonable preference awarded where relevant.  
 
Applicants’ demographic profile and equality characteristics are recorded 
through the application process. We will commit to reviewing this 
information and consulting with diverse groups in the future to ensure 
the scheme continues to be inclusive.  

Action Plan  

Activity  Outcome Timeframe Person responsible 

Review demographic 
profile and equality 
characteristic periodically.   

Ensure that the 
Scheme continues 
to be inclusive. 

Summer 2021 Housing and 
Homelessness 
Specialists.  

 

Lead Officer: Jenny Cook  

Manager: Janine Pickering 

Corporate Director: Andrew Trayer, 12/11/2020 

Date completed: 11/11/2020 

 
 

65



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel Briefing Note  

23rd November 2020  

 

Biodiversity Strategy Development  

 

This briefing note sets out the scope for the development of an overarching Biodiversity Strategy for 

Eastleigh in order to begin early engagement with the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel. The 

Biodiversity Strategy will reflect commitments within the Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy 

and Action Plan, the Corporate Plan as well as national strategies, policies and priorities to protect and 

enhance biodiversity in Eastleigh. The Strategy will be produced by Ecology Team within existing 

resources allocated in the 20/21 Specialist Service Plan. The Strategy will also set the framework for 

delivery of: 

 An updated Biodiversity Action Plan and Local Nature Recovery Strategy 

 An updated Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document 

 A Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) Supplementary Planning Document 

 

The proposed Biodiversity Strategy is intended to set out the Council’s approach to biodiversity by 

including:  

 A review of National Government and local Eastleigh Borough Council strategies, policies 

and priorities e.g. climate crisis, Environment Bill, Agriculture Bill, A Green Future: Our 25 

Year Environment Plan etc 

 A broad description of the current state of knowledge on local biodiversity and identifying 

national, regional and local trends e.g. on habitat loss and deterioration and species 

population declines and Natural Capital/Ecosystem Services; 

 A review of the critical factors that need to be addressed based on above analysis 

 a review of what Eastleigh Borough Council is currently doing on some of these issues and 

what has been achieved in recent years 

  a list of key aims and objectives for biodiversity conservation and broadly describing how 

and when they will be achieved and by whom 

 A framework for delivery of other associated biodiversity documents 

 

Timescales  

67

Agenda Item 8



 P&P for scoping on 23rd November 2020  

 P&P Environment Sub Working Group engagement December to February 2021 

 Key Stakeholder Consultation March 2021  

 P&P for agreement in May 2021 

 Cabinet for final consideration June 2021 

 

Considerations for Members of the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel  

 Does the proposed scope for the Strategy as set out in this document set the framework for the 

Council’s priorities on biodiversity?  

 Who are our key stakeholders for developing the Biodiversity Strategy?  

 Which members of the panel would wish to be on the working group?  

 

68



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

23 November 2020  

CABINET 

26 November 2020 

RESPONSES TO M27 SCRUTINY INVITATION 

Report of the Strategic Business Planning Lead for Environment 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel:  
 
(1) note the contents of this report and associated letters and make 

recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 

(2) that a Scrutiny session on the Smart Motorway should take place with 
key stakeholders regardless of Highways England representation. 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(3) note the contents of the report and associated letters. 

(4) request that Highways England do not bring the new fourth inside lane 
of the Motorway into operation until Stopped Vehicle Detection 
technology has been installed.  

 

Summary 

The Council has a long history of seeking improvements to the M27 to reduce 
the impact of noise on residents. This report and its associated appendixes 
provides the latest update of this engagement, including a commitment from 
Highways England that sufficient funding will be made available for the road 
to be resurfaced. 

Focus for Scrutiny 

Biodiversity, Health and Wellbeing and Transport issues relating to the M27 

69

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Smart Motorway. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. As the M27 Smart Motorway scheme will impact local transport, 
ecology and the health of residents, this report relates to the 
Council’s corporate objectives around Tackling Congestion, Green 
Infrastructure, Excellent Environment for all and Health and 
Wellbeing.  

Background 

2. On the 19 July 2018 the following motion was passed at Full 
Council setting out the Councils’ position in relation to the M27: 

Council notes that Mike Thornton MP secured funding from 
Highways England in 2014 to achieve low noise resurfacing of the 
M27 between Junction 5 and Junction 7 in 2016, and that this work 
was subsequently delayed to link with the Smart Motorway 
project. Council is concerned that full details of this resurfacing of 
all four lanes has not been included in Highways England’s 
exhibition on Smart Motorways, notes that without quieter 
surfacing noise pollution will increase above the already 
unacceptable levels as traffic volumes grow, and seeks urgent 
reassurance from the Secretary of State for Transport that this 
long-promised project will still go ahead alongside other work. 

3. At that meeting it was resolved that: 
 
That the Government be held to account should Highways England 
fail to comply with a funded commitment agreed in 2014 for low 
noise resurfacing between Junction 5 and Junction 7. 

4. As it became apparent that the M27 scheme would not be 
resurfaced as part of the Smart Motorway scheme, in July 2020 
the Council contacted the Secretary of State for Transport, Chief 
Executive of Highways England (Appendix 1) and asked for 
assistance from the Local MP’s on this matter (Appendix 8).  

70



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

5. Alongside seeking clarity on resurfacing, the July 2020 letter to the 
Secretary of State also highlighted significant issues in relation to: 

 Noise and Ecological Issues during the construction of the 
Smart Motorway 

 Safety of the Motorway once in operation 

 Sought commitment for the road to be resurfaced with a low 
noise material 

 Requested representation at a future scrutiny meeting. 

6. As the Council did not receive a response to the issues raised in its 
July correspondence, follow up letters were sent at the beginning 
of October 2020 to the Secretary of State, Minister for Roads and 
Chief Executive of Highways England (Appendix 2) with associated 
letters also distributed to the Local MP’s (Appendix 7). 

7. On the 22 October 2020 the Council received a response from 
Highways England in relation to the issues raised in the July letter. 
Alongside responses from Highways England the Council also 
received responses from the Minister for Roads (Appendix 3) and 
both the Eastleigh and Winchester & Chandlers Ford MPs 
(Appendix 6). 

8. The October response from Highways England clarified the 
following:  

(a) The approach to ecological management as part of the 
vegetation clearance and confirmed that the scheme would 
be delivered with a Net Gain for Biodiversity. 

(b) Confirmed that the Smart Motorway would be completed 
without Stopped Vehicle Detection (SVD) technology, but 
that this technology would be installed within three years. 

(c) That construction issues are being addressed with controls in 
place. 

(d) Recognition of the benefits from resurfacing the concrete 
section of the M27 and a commitment that sufficient funding 
will be made available to carry out this work in future. 

9. The invitation to attend Policy and Performance Scrutiny was not 
taken forward by the Secretary of State or Highways England, 

71



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

however an offer was made by the latter to attend a meeting to 
provide an update on current progress. 

10. A scrutiny session could still take place without Highways England, 
this may include other interested parties such as the AA. 

11. Whilst clarifying the situation regarding several issues highlighted, 
officers have since continued to seek further clarity from Highways 
England, particularly with regards to: 

(a) clarifying the timescale for resurfacing to be carried out 

(b) whether the soon to commence Smart Motorway works on 
the M3 in the Borough (between junctions 9 - 15) have been 
designed to include SVD from day one of becoming 
operational 

(c) whether the extensions to noise barriers are in addition to 
those originally planned in the scheme 

(d) providing further details regarding the biodiversity net gain 
delivery plan 

(e) agreeing a date to host Highways England outside scrutiny 
to provide an update on the scheme. 

12. In November 2019 the Secretary of State for Transport Grant 
Shapps MP launched an urgent review into the Safety of Smart 
Motorways. Published in March 2020, the review findings and 
action plan set out 18 requirements to improve the safety of Smart 
Motorway schemes. The action plan included the requirement for 
the Stopped Vehicle Detection on the entire Smart Motorway 
network, which we now have confirmation will not be installed as 
part of the current M27 scheme. 

13. Given the safety concerns highlighted in the Government review, 
consideration should be made whether it is appropriate to close the 
new forth inside lane of the Smart Motorway until Stopped Vehicle 
Detection and other measures have been satisfactorily put in 
place. 

Financial Implications 

14. Activities relating to this report are carried out through existing 
resources, therefore there are no financial implications to this 
report 

72



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

As this report highlights risks associated with an externally 
delivered scheme a risk assessment is not necessary.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

The Equality Act is relevant to this report in relation to the scheme, 
however as it is being delivered by an external organisation it is 
considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to 
be addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not 
been carried out. 

 
 

15. Climate and Environmental Implications 

This report is in response to a range of environmental issues 
raised in relation to the M27 Smart Motorway which fall under the 
Council’s Climate and Environmental Emergency programme. 
Whilst the Council is seeking to influence changes which should 
lead to improved environmental outcomes for the area, these are 
issues outside of direct Council control, therefore a more detailed 
assessment is not necessary.  

 
 

Conclusion 

16. Correspondence to date has provided further clarity on Smart 
Motorway schemes. The Council will continue to engage with the 
Highways England to seek further clarity and improvements the 
existing M27 and future M3 schemes. Given the Government 
report into safety, the it may be appropriate for Highways England 
to reframe from opening the new fourth lane of the Motorway until 
Stopped Vehicle Detection technology has been installed. 

 

JASON LIGHT 
STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLANNING LEAD FOR THE ENVIRONMENT 

 
Date: 05 November 2020 
Contact Officer: Jason Light  
Tel No: 023 806077 
e-mail: jason.light@eastleigh.gov.uk 

73



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendices Attached: 7 (Letters Submitted and Received) 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on 
which this report or an important part of it is based and have been relied 
upon to a material extent in the preparation of this report. This list does 
not include any published works or documents which would disclose 
exempt or confidential information. 

None 
 

74



 

 
 
 
Rt Hon Grant Shapps MP 
Department for Transport 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London 
SW1P 4DR 
United Kingdom 
 

Our Ref:         JL/RG/DA/RK - GS 
Contact:         Jason Light 
Direct Dial:     023 8068 8077 
Email: Jason.light@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

 
  
2 July 2020  
  
In January 2019 Eastleigh Borough Council contacted the then Secretary of 
State, Chris Grayling MP, requesting an intervention to ensure that the M27 Smart 
Motorway scheme would be delivered in full as previously promised, 
which would include low noise resurfacing. We now write to you with serious 
concerns that the scheme is further adrift from what was originally 
proposed, requiring us to reaffirm the request for an intervention, particularly 
regarding safety, noise and biodiversity issues.    
  
In addition, we formally request that a representative from Government and 
Highways England attends a session of the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
as soon as possible  to answer questions about the basis for recent decisions, to 
answer our concerns regarding the project, and ensure that lessons are learned 
should the subsequent M3 scheme set for our area proceed.   
  
Biodiversity  
Throughout the scheme, Eastleigh Borough Council officers have regularly 
highlighted issues to the appointed contractors regarding vegetation clearance in 
sensitive locations. Over the last two months, there has been significant 
habitat clearance at night during the critical bird and small mammal nesting 
season. Although we have received assurances that an ecologist has been on 
site throughout these works, clearance during this critical time of year is far 
from good practice and it is unclear why they were not carried out another time. 
Despite attempts from ourselves to facilitate local schemes, we have yet to see 
any information regarding any programme to offset the considerable ecological 
damage and seek assurances that a local offsetting scheme will be delivered to 
ensure the project delivers a Biodiversity Net Gain as per planning requirements.  
  
Safety  
We have serious concerns regarding the safety of the M27 once it has 
reopened. The March 2018 consultation stated that the M27 would feature “Queue 
detection and automatic signalling system, which provides queue protection and 
congestion management”, we are alarmed to see that those measures have been 
removed from the description of the project, and that Highways England now 
describe the scheme as simply including “CCTV cameras and electronic 
information signs and signals on gantries”. We understand from speaking to the  
 

75



 

 
contractors that the M27 will not feature a smart “Stopped Vehicle Detection” 
system.  
  
Our fears for highways safety follow several national reports, most notably that 
of Edmund King, President of the AA, who stated that fatalities have already arisen 
as a result of vehicles stopping in vulnerable positions in live lanes. The AA 
indicates that where “Stopped Vehicle Detection” is not in place it takes an 
average of seventeen minutes to spot a stationary vehicle in a live lane. With a 
further three-minute target to close the lanes, we have serious concerns that 
drivers could be left in a dangerous position for twenty minutes or longer.  
  
Construction Issues   
Throughout the construction phase we have received a large number of 
complaints and have seen evidence of several incidents where construction noise 
has breached acceptable night-time limits. We have requested several times that 
controls are put in place, but unfortunately continue to receive complaints from 
residents who are being adversely affected.  
  
Road Surface and Noise  
Over the last decade Eastleigh residents have frequently been promised that 
the noisy concrete sections would be resurfaced with low noise asphalt, a promise 
that is reflected in Highways England’s own documentation prior to the 
commencement of the scheme. The Habitats Report 
states that the scheme would include “A new low noise surface in the opening year 
for all areas and for the concrete section between junction 5 to 7. A new low noise 
surface will also be laid on lanes 1 and 4 for the rest of the scheme.”  
  
Despite re-surfacing forming the basis of key decision reports (such as Noise, 
Habitats and Environmental Statement), months after the Final Determination by 
Highways England a new Pavement Report was produced reducing the scheme to 
just lanes 1- 4 for re-surfacing. We have since been informed of a further 
degradation to the project such that none of the concrete sections will be 
resurfaced. This significant drift in specification brings into question the validity of 
the decision processes.  
  
Whilst the recent noise assessment indicated that the project may still benefit 
around 879 people, the report that underpinned the decision to proceed indicated 
that resurfacing could have reduce noise levels to “acceptable” for up to five times 
as many residents.  
  
The Council has been informed that resurfacing is not a priority for Highways 
England, and that without Ministers once again specifically ringfencing funding the 
promised works may never be carried out. We would like to understand what has 
happened to the previously allocated funding to resurface this motorway and seek 
your assurances that the funding will once again be allocated to deliver the 
scheme, as promised, at the earliest possible date.  
  
Although noise and ecological mitigation should have featured heavily in the M27 
scheme, the Council has been informed that we will now need to separately bid for  

76



 

 
“Designated Funding” to deal this. We therefore request your support for any 
future bids that the Council may put forward to this fund in order to mitigate some 
of the impacts of the scheme so far.  
  
Finally, with the M3 in the Borough of Eastleigh also set to transition to become a 
“Smart” motorway, we also seek assurances that this subsequent scheme will not 
go ahead unless it features all possible safety technology and will be subject to 
higher standards of noise and ecological damage mitigating than we have 
witnessed on the M27 project.  
  
In summary  
As previously stated, at its June 2020 Scrutiny meeting the Scrutiny Panel agreed 
to hold a special meeting in order to scrutinise this scheme. Please could you 
inform the Borough Council who the representative from Government and 
Highways England will be, so that we can arrange for their attendance at the 
session.  
  
Yours Sincerely,  
  
Signed 
  
 

 
  

 
  
  
Cllr David Airey  
Cabinet Portfolio Member 
for Transport  

Cllr Dr Richard Gomer   
Chair, Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny 
Panel  

Cllr Rupert Kyrle  
Cabinet Portfolio 
Member for 
Environment  
  

      
Also sent to:  
Jim O’ Sullivan - Chief Executive Officer of Highways England 
  
cc:  
Rt Hon George Eustice MP - Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs  
  
Baroness Vere of Norbiton - Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Roads 
and Motoring  
  
Paul Holmes MP for Eastleigh  
Steve Brine MP for Winchester and Chandlers Ford  
  

77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
Rt Hon Grant Shapps MP 
Department for Transport 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London 
SW1P 4DR 
 

Our Ref:           JL/KH- GS2 
Contact:           Jason Light 
Direct Dial:       023 8068 8077 
Email:             Jason.light@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
15 October 2020  
 
Dear Secretary of State 
 
Over three months have passed, and I have yet to receive a single response 
to my July letter (attached) which raised significant concerns regarding the 
M27 and future M3 Smart Motorway schemes.  
 
Despite highlighting these issues, the Council has continued to receive 
complaints from residents regarding vegetation clearance, noise, disruption 
and there is still no clarity regarding the overall safety of the scheme once it is 
in operation.  
 
The Borough Council still intends to hold a scrutiny meeting to seek clarity on 
issues relating to safety, ecology, noise and the decision not to resurface the 
concrete sections of the road. We would certainly welcome representation 
from Government and Highways England at this session. Please can you 
inform us as to who will be representing the government and ensure that 
Highways England provide us with details as to who will be representing them 
at this session. 
 
Yours Sincerely,  
  
  
 

  
  
Cllr Keith House 
Leader of Eastleigh Borough Council 
  
cc:  
Jim O’ Sullivan - Chief Executive Officer of Highways England 
Rt Hon George Eustice MP - Secretary of State for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs 
Baroness Vere of Norbiton - Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for 
Roads and Motoring  
Paul Holmes MP for Eastleigh  
Steve Brine MP for Winchester and Chandlers Ford  

79



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
Councillor Keith House  
Leader of Eastleigh Borough Council 
Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh, Hampshire 
SO50 9YN 
 

 26 October 2020 
 
 
Dear Councillor House, 
 
Thank you for your email of 15 October to the Secretary of State, a follow-up 
to my previous reply of 13 July, about the M27 and future M3 smart motorway 
schemes. I am replying as the Minister responsible for this issue. 
 
Let me begin by extending my sincerest apologies for the delay in responding 
to you. I understand that you received a response from Highways England 
directly on 22 October 2020, which considered the points you raised with 
respect to Biodiversity, Safety, Construction issues and Road Surface and 
Noise. I have enclosed that reply for your reference.  
 
Thank you for your active engagement with this issue on behalf of the people 
of Eastleigh. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BARONESS VERE OF NORBITON 
 

Baroness Vere of Norbiton 
Minister for Roads, Buses and Places 
 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London 
SW1P 4DR 
 
Tel: 0300 330 3000 
E-Mail: baroness.vere@dft.gov.uk 
 
Web site: www.gov.uk/dft 
 
Our Ref: MC/314758 
Your Ref: JL/KH-GS2 
 

81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Registered office Bridge House, 1 Walnut Tree Close, Guildford GU1 4LZ 

Highways England Company Limited registered in England and Wales number 09346363 

 

 
 

 
 

Your ref: JL/KH- GS2 
 
 
Councillor Keith House 
Leader of Eastleigh Borough Council 
Eastleigh Borough Council 
Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh 
Hampshire 
SO50 9YN 
 

David Bray 
Smart Motorway Programme 
Director 
Woodlands 
Manton Lane 
Bedford 
MK41 7LW 
 
www.highwaysengland.co.uk 
 
Highways England Customer 
Contact Centre:  0300 123 5000 
 
 
 22 October 2020 
 

 
Dear Councillor House 
 
Thank you for your letter of 15 October 2020 copied to Jim O’Sullivan, Chief 
Executive of Highways England. As this issue falls within my area of 
responsibility, I have been asked to reply to you personally on this matter. 
Please accept my apologies for the delay in responding. 
 
I’m sorry to hear of the concerns you raise and will cover each of your points 
in turn. 
 

Biodiversity 
The M27 SMP has been granted a number of protected species licenses by 
Natural England including licenses for Hazel Dormice, Great Crested Newt 
and Badger. These licenses dictate strict requirements for both timescales 
and methodology for vegetation clearance works, the Hazel Dormouse 
License in particular states that vegetation clearance in relevant areas may 
only take place during the period between April and October. Ideally, we 
would not wish to carry out vegetation clearance works during the nesting bird 
period but this is unfortunately not an option due to this dictation by our 
protected species licensing.  
 
Clearance works on the M27 are supervised by an independent, third party 
ecologist that holds relevant protected species licenses. Nesting bird checks 
are carried out prior to clearance works starting to ensure no nests are 
present within the clearance area. Fingertip searches are also carried out at 
ground level by the ecologist to ensure no harm to small mammals or reptiles. 
To further promote biodiversity and reduce the impact of clearance works, 
1,000 dormouse boxes have been deployed along the length of the scheme 
and dead hedging has been used extensively to ensure habitat continuity is 
maintained along with regular monitoring of areas with known protected 
species presence.  
 
As per our protected species licences, extensive replanting will take place 
following completion of vegetation removal works, the majority of clearance 

83



 

 Registered office Bridge House, 1 Walnut Tree Close, Guildford GU1 4LZ 

Highways England Company Limited registered in England and Wales number 09346363 

 

works are to facilitate construction and will be replanted once works are 
complete. Current modelling suggests Biodiversity Net Gain after scheme 
completion due to improving many areas of poor habitat within the scheme to 
species rich wildflower grassland and the planting of native tree species.  
 
The M27 team approached Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) in August of 
2019 and met with EBC representatives at Itchen Valley Country Park to 
discuss opportunities for biodiversity enhancement. The proposed 
collaborative schemes offered involved improvement of drainage within on-
site car parking areas and the potential for construction of a BMX park, neither 
of which provided any potential for biodiversity enhancement and so not 
considered further. We have worked with both Eastleigh Borough council and 
Hampshire Country Council Country Parks teams very recently with several 
volunteer litter picking sessions taking place at Lakeside Country Park, River 
Hamble Country Park and Royal Victoria Country Park during September 
2020 with 15 sets of litter picking kits gifted to Hampshire’s Country Park team 
to allow them to facilitate further litter picks with volunteer groups. These 
volunteer events were suggested and organised by the bmJV M27 team and 
all waste collected was disposed of by ourselves. Further biodiversity 
enhancement works are planned alongside the Hampshire Country Parks 
team and we’re more than open to continuing to find opportunities with EBC.  
 
 
Safety 
The technology installed as part of the M27 smart motorway scheme falls in 
line with the scheme’s original brief, as stopped vehicle detection (SVD) was 
not included within the original plans. However, we have a national 
programme going on to install SVD on all schemes within three years. The 
technology as referenced at the early stages of the M27 smart motorway 
scheme was a Motorway Incident Detection and Automatic Signalling system 
which will be a part of the scheme as planned.  
 
On 12 March 2020, the Department for Transport (DfT) published its response 
to the evidence stock take requested by the Secretary of State last October. 
You can view the report on the gov.uk website.  We are working with DfT to 
implement an action plan. This will include: 

• rolling out stopped vehicle detection on all smart motorways within 3 

years so stopped vehicles are typically detected in 20 seconds. It will 

be standard on smart motorways completing design in 2020. 

• launching a large-scale trial on new technology which analyses CCTV 

images to detect stopped vehicles. 

• converting dynamic hard shoulder smart motorways to all-lane running 

to end the confusion over different types of smart motorway. 

• ensuring all new schemes starting from March 2020 have a maximum 

distance between places to stop in an emergency of one mile 

(replacing 1.5 mile average), meaning a driver travelling at 60mph will 

get to one within 60 seconds. 

84

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/strategic-roads-update-smart-motorways-evidence-stocktake


 

 Registered office Bridge House, 1 Walnut Tree Close, Guildford GU1 4LZ 

Highways England Company Limited registered in England and Wales number 09346363 

 

• continuing to make emergency areas more visible, including continued 

roll-out of bright orange surfacing, dotted lines on the surfacing 

showing where to stop and better, more frequent signs on approach to 

emergency areas. 

• committing to review the width of existing emergency areas where they 

are less than the current standard and, if feasible and appropriate, we 

will widen to the current standard. 

• increasing the number of traffic officer patrols on smart motorways 

where the distance between places to stop in an emergency are more 

than a mile apart, reducing the average attendance time from 17 to 10 

minutes. 

• continuing to work with car manufacturers on an eCall or 'SOS' button, 

which will automatically send location and vehicle information to the 

emergency services. When a vehicle fitted with eCall is involved in an 

incident: such as an airbag deploying or by pressing a button inside the 

vehicle, signs can then be set warning of an obstruction.  

• displaying 'report of obstruction' messages – starting with a trial which 

has already begun on the M25 junctions 23-27 and then on the M25 

junctions 5-7 and the M3 junctions 2-4. 

• investing in a wide-reaching public information campaign. 

• committing to closer working with the recovery industry on improving 

training and procedures. This builds on the work already done to 

develop and test operational processes to ensure the safe recovery of 

broken-down vehicles on smart motorways. 

Every incident that takes place on our network is one too many. We continue 
our work to achieve the target of no-one being killed or seriously injured on 
our roads by 2040.   
 
Construction issues 
We endeavour to notify all stakeholders and local residents of potentially 
disruptive activities. Residents within 500m regularly receive letters informing 
them of upcoming activity, with clear information advising why it has the work 
is required and when it will take place.  
 
We endeavour to keep both our night and daytime activity below permitted 
noise levels. There are occasions when we need to undertake a specific 
activity that may go above the thresholds. We are working hard to avoid any 
exceedance although the guidance permits this as long as we do not exceed 
either one for 10 consecutive days within a 14-day period. I can confirm this is 
the case  
 
Noise and vibration monitoring equipment is regularly deployed, and output 
reviewed daily with results being shared with concerned stakeholders. This is 
part of compliance with noise and vibration obligations as per the 

85



 

 Registered office Bridge House, 1 Walnut Tree Close, Guildford GU1 4LZ 

Highways England Company Limited registered in England and Wales number 09346363 

 

Environmental Assessment Report (EAR) for the scheme. Noise and vibration 
monitoring limits and measures in this report are determined by British 
Standards BS5228-1 & BS5228-2 as provided by the British Standards 
Institute. Working under this recognised standard was agreed with Eastleigh 
Borough Council at several meetings and it was agreed that a Section 61 
application under the Control of Pollution Act 1974 would not be necessary 
and bmJV was able to demonstrate best practice was always in place. We 
take all complaints seriously and have a robust system to investigate and 
respond to all complaints within 10 working days but often do so within 24 
hours.  
 
Road Surface and Noise 
I can give assurance that sufficient funding will be made available to resurface 
the M27 between Junctions 5 and 7 after the smart motorway scheme is 
finished.  
 
We recognise there are benefits to resurfacing this concrete section. In 
December 2018, we committed to replacing it with a low noise surface in the 
future and are working to find the best way to deliver this, once the smart 
motorway scheme has been completed. We are now working on a new plan 
to do this and will announce definite dates for the delivery for the resurfacing 
scheme, when that plan is complete. 
In the meantime, and as part of the smart motorway scheme, we are planning 
to extend and enhance the noise barriers along the westbound section of the 
M27 near Allington Lane, and Quob Lane, which will reduce the impact from 
motorway noise. 
 
I thank you for your invitation to your scrutiny panel. However, it is not usual 
for Highways England to attended local scrutiny committees as our 
governance is to DfT and parliamentary scrutiny although we would be very 
happy to arrange a meeting to update you on our current progress. I do hope 
this information is helpful. If your office would like more information we would 
be pleased to hear from you. We can be contacted at 
smartmotorways@highwaysengland.co.uk or please contact me directly. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
David Bray 
Director of Smart Motorways 

86

mailto:smartmotorways@highwaysengland.co.uk


 
 

 
 
 
Steve Brine MP  
House of Commons 
London 
SW1A 0AA 
 
 

   26 October 2020 
 
Dear Steve, 
 
Thank you for your email of 22 October to the Secretary of State, on behalf of 
Councillor Keith House, Leader of Eastleigh Borough Council, about the M27 
and future M3 smart motorway schemes. I am replying as the Minister 
responsible for this issue. 
 
Let me begin by reaffirming my apologies for the delay in responding to Cllr 
House. He received a comprehensive reply from Highways England on 22 
October 2020, which considered the concerns he raised with respect to 
Biodiversity, Safety, Construction issues and Road Surface and Noise. I have 
enclosed that reply for your reference. 
 
Thank for your engagement with this issue on behalf of the Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BARONESS VERE OF NORBITON 

Baroness Vere of Norbiton 
Minister for Roads, Buses and Places 
 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London 
SW1P 4DR 
 
Tel: 0300 330 3000 
E-Mail: baroness.vere@dft.gov.uk 
 
Web site: www.gov.uk/dft 
 
Our Ref: MC/315291 
 

87

http://www.gov/


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6 - Responses from the Eastleigh Borough MPs 
 
 

Dear Jason,  
 
I have been instructed to reply to you. 
 
Thank you for your email and I do apologise for the delay in our response. Steve 
wasn’t clear you wanted one and it wasn’t just for information. 
 
Steve appreciates that you have raised hugely worrying concerns regarding the M27 
Smart Motorway.  
 
He have written to the Rt Hon Grant Shapps MP, Secretary of State at the 
Department for Transport to raise this and also request representatives from the 
Government and Highways England attend a session of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel.  
 
Steve will be in touch as soon as he has a response.  

Kind regards, 

Alice Hammond 
Caseworker to Steve Brine MP 

Steve Brine MP                                                             
Working hard for Winchester & Chandler’s Ford 
 
---------------- 
 
Dear Keith, 
 
Your comments have been noted. 
 
Paul 
 

89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
Steve Brine MP  
House of Commons 
London 
SW1A 0AA 
 

Our Ref:           JL/KH- SB2 
Contact:           Jason Light 
Direct Dial:       023 8068 8077 
Email:             Jason.light@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
15 October 2020  
 
Dear Steve, 
 
Over three months have passed, and I am disappointed that I have yet to 
receive a response to my July letter (attached) drawing to your attention 
significant issues effecting your constituents due to the M27 and future M3 
Smart Motorway schemes.  
 
Despite highlighting these issues, the Council has continued to receive 
complaints from residents in relation to vegetation clearance, noise, disruption 
and there is still no clarity regarding the overall safety of the scheme once it is 
in operation.  
 
The Borough Council still intends to hold a scrutiny meeting to seek clarity on 
issues relating to safety, ecology, noise and the decision not to resurface the 
concrete sections of the road. We would certainly welcome representation 
from Government and Highways England at this session.  
 
Once again, I ask for your support in raising these matters with the Secretary 
of State so that they can be urgently dealt with and ensure that there can be 
some much needed transparency through the local scrutiny process.   
 
  
Yours Sincerely,  
  
  
 

  
  
Cllr Keith House 
Leader of Eastleigh Borough Council 
  
 
cc:  Paul Holmes MP for Eastleigh 
 
 

91



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
Steve Brine MP  
House of Commons 
London 
SW1A 0AA 
 

Our Ref:           JL/KH- SB 
Contact:           Jason Light 
Direct Dial:       023 8068 8077 
Email:              
Jason.light@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
2 July 2020  
  
I welcome your support relating to issues raised in the attached letter to the 
Secretary of State for Transport Rt Hon Grant Shapps regarding serious 
concerns with the current M27 and future M3 Smart Motorway schemes.  
 
The Borough Council is planning to hold a scrutiny meeting to seek clarity on 
issues relating to safety, ecology, noise and the decision not to resurface the 
concrete sections of the road. In the past Government funding has been 
specifically allocated to resurface this stretch of motorway, we have been 
informed by Highways England that without further ministerial intervention the 
scheme may never be delivered. 
 
  
Yours Sincerely,  
  
  
 

  
  
Cllr Keith House 
Leader of Eastleigh Borough Council 
  
 
  
cc:  
Paul Holmes MP for Eastleigh  
  
 

93



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUITINY PANEL  

Monday, 23 November 2020  

CABINET 

Thursday, 26 November 2020 

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING 

Report of the Corporate Director Support Services – Chief Financial 
Officer 

 

Recommendation(s) 

For Policy and Performance:  
 
 
(1) It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel note the 

performance of the Council for the first half of the year and the financial position of 
the Council (including the forecast for the year) making any necessary 
recommendations to Cabinet based on this data and information.  
 

For Cabinet:  
 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 

(2) note the performance of the Council for the first half of the year and the Council’s 
financial position including the forecast for the year and consider any 
recommendations from Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel; 

(3) note the likely Sales, Fees and Charges compensation from central government 
due to Eastleigh Borough Council initially estimated at £2.1m; 

(4) note the allocation of £180,000 to Parish and Town Councils to compensate for 
losses incurred due to COVID-19; 

(5) note the performance of the Capital Investment Programme, and financial outlook in 
Appendix C; 

(6) Recommend to Council to approve the changes to the Prudential Indicators in 
Appendix D; 

(7) note the performance of treasury management, and financial outlook in Appendix E; 

95

Agenda Item 10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(8) approve expenditure of £1,300,000 in 2020/21 and 2021/22 for the disabled 
Facilities Grant Programme to be funded from government grant and housing 
capital receipts; 

(9) note the Key Financial Risks Register as detailed Appendix F. 

 

Summary 
 
This report presents the Council’s financial and performance position up to the second 
quarter (Q2) of 2020/21 and highlights significant and emerging financial and performance 
issues. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for service areas are outlined in Appendix A of 
the report.  

Capital expenditure for the first half of the financial year of 2020/21 was £21.3m compared 
to the rolling budget for the year of £132m 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Sections 41 and 42 Local Government Act 
1972, Section 151 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Regular monitoring and management of the Council’s performance, including 
financial performance is key to ensuring delivery against strategic objectives 
set out in the Council’s corporate plan 2015-2025, and contributes to the 
management of corporate risk. The report details budget variances compared 
to the Budget agreed in February 2020. The report also details key 
performance indicators which allows monitoring of performance trends. The 
financial and service performance impact of COVID-19 pandemic is reflected 
throughout the report. Individual variances are being actively managed by 
service managers with the support of the finance team and the overall position 
reflects a positive position for the Council despite the global pandemic. 

Introduction 

2. This report includes information and analysis on the Council’s financial 
performance and use of resources for the first half of the financial year 
2020/21, in comparison to the budget set by Council on 20 February 2020.  

3. The revenue position for the first half of 2020/21 includes the in-year costs of 
COVID-19 as well as “business as usual” variances, however it should be 
noted that the report was written before the announcement of the new 
lockdown measures announced at the end of October. Due to the current 
levels of uncertainty across the Country, both operationally and financially the 
variances in this report are subject to a reasonable degree of uncertainty, 
however the forecast position reflects a high level financial review, and 

96



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

therefore if lockdown ends as planned on the 2nd December 2020, the 
forecasts should not be materially impacted.  

4. The report contains, in the Appendices, details of the following: 

Appendix  Description 

A Revenue Monitoring variances 

B Council Strategy Scorecard Summary 

C Community Investment Programme Monitoring 

D Prudential Indicators 

E Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 

F Risk Assessment 

G MTFP 
 

Revenue Monitoring 

5. The table below shows the summarised General Fund Monitoring statement 
by Portfolio. Details of the revenue forecast variances are shown at Appendix 
A. 

Portfolio Name Original Rolling Forecast Forecast 

  Budget Budget Outturn Variance 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 
£’000 

 

  
   

 
(adverse)/ 
favourable 

Area Committees 1,139 1,205 1,205 0 

Skills & Business 22 199 833 (634) 

Environment 5,214 5,659 6,033 (374) 

Health 1,812 2,020 2,920 (900) 

Planning & Property (3,772) (4,292) (5,085) 793 

Social Policy 235 368 623 (255) 

Transport (1,161) (1,140) 126 (1,266) 

     Position on Services 3,489 4,019 6,655 (2,636) 

     Non-Service-Related 
Items (3,442) (3,712) (2,930) (782) 

Government funding     (3,681) 3,681 

     Net Position 47 307 44 263 

97



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

  

 

Government Grants to Support COVID-19 Recovery 

6. During the pandemic the Council has received additional grant funds to 
support the recovery efforts and to support services. There have been a 
number of specific grants as such as Town Centre Recovery (£118,000), 
Community Support Fund (£84,000), COVID Marshall Fund (£48,000), 
Furlough Funding (£140,000), Track and Trace new burden (£26,000). In 
addition to this there are two further grants as detailed below: 

7. COVID Support Grant (£1.6M) – This is a non-ring-fenced grant used to 
mitigate increased costs and non-fees and charges income losses. 

8. Sales, Fees and Charges Fund (£2.1M) – A specific fund to support services 
where income has been reduced as a result of the pandemic. The services 
eligible for this funding have to meet certain criteria and a quarterly claim must 
be made. The material services being claimed for are Car Parking, Arts and 
Places Leisure Eastleigh with the claim for the first 4 months totalling 
approximately £990,000 (not as yet received). As losses have to be directly 
attributable to the service being closed or restricted by COVID it is anticipated 
the level claimed will reduce throughout the year, but it is important to note 
that this is a very movable figure and has been estimated prudently. 

9. The £3.7M general grants have been included in the forecast outturn for the 
year as a general amount rather than allocated to any one particular service 
as this enables the Council to more efficiently monitor losses and costs across 
the services. 

10. The Council has been working with Parish and Town councils to ensure that 
all tiers of local government are supported by Central Government grants 
which have been allocated.  The Leader wrote to Parish and Town Councils to 
determine what level of losses and direct costs were being incurred.  The 
Secretary of State requested that funding was passported on to the Parish 
and Town Councils which Eastleigh is honouring.  This has resulted in a grant 
of approximately £180,000 being paid to Parish and Town Councils to enable 
them to continue to provide vital services to the community.  This equates to 
65% of losses incurred which is the same level of compensation Eastleigh has 
been afforded by Central Government to the end of October 2020. The 
Council believes it is the only council in Hampshire supporting Parish Councils 
in this way.  

 

Performance Monitoring 

11. Performance monitoring covers the first 6 months of financial year running 
from April 2020 to September 2020. Appendix B shows a balance scorecard 
for Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs are organised into five 

98



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

strategic themes: Environment; Economy; Health and wellbeing; Housing and 
development; and Organisation.  Overall the performance is strong, with 
robust delivery of services in most areas.  However, COVID 19 has 
understandably had an impact on some performance.  On the environment 
side waste services have been affected, food waste could not be collected as 
our collection method was not COVID safe, and there has been an increase in 
residual waste as a result of the closures and subsequent limited opening of 
the Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs).  The food waste collection 
service is recommencing in November and at the time of writing the report 
Hampshire County Council have stated that the  HWRCs will remain open 
during the second lockdown so our performance in this area should continue 
to go up again.   

12. Within the Economy area there has been a significant drop in the collection of 
Non-Domestic Rates due to the impact of COVID measures on businesses. 
This has also affected occupancy at the Business Centre (Wessex House).  
The economic situation is likely to worsen significantly and therefore an 
improvement in these areas is not anticipated for some time.  The Economy 
and Business service are working to support businesses to minimise the 
impact as far as possible, including administering Government business 
grants. 

13. Performance on the Health and Wellbeing side has also been affected by 
COVID 19, particularly in relation to participation levels due to the closure of 
venues and wellbeing activities such as the theatres, Places Leisure Eastleigh 
and the Health Works programme.   The completion of Disabled Facilities 
Grants has also been directly affected by COVID as a result of a freeze on all 
building works between mid-April and May.  

14. Work had commenced to increase participation where possible to do so in a 
COVID safe way.  The team at The Point have run outdoor activities in 
Eastleigh Town Centre and Places Leisure had re-opened with visitor 
numbers increasing month on month.  However, the second lockdown has 
meant that the leisure centre has had to close again.  In regard to the delivery 
of Disabled Facilities Grants, whilst the rules of the second lockdown allow for 
construction work to continue, as well as enabling necessary work inside 
private homes this needs to be done in line with COVID safety measures 
which significantly limits the work that can be done, therefore we expect to 
see performance in this area remain low.  

15. The Point staff are organising a COVID safe Christmas event, which adheres 
to social distancing and other COVID safety requirements.  This will be able to 
go ahead in December subject to the lifting of the second lockdown and the 
rules returning to what they were pre-lockdown.  

 

Efficiency & Improvement 

16. There will be a need to refresh efficiency and improvement plans in light of 
COVID-19. The current savings in the approved Medium-Term Financial Plan 

99



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

are unlikely to be delivered and the impact of this is shown in full in the 
recommended position for review. As part of the annual cycle, services will be 
developing robust delivery plans which will put forward alternative deliverable 
savings in preparation for the efficiency programme to restart. The efficiency 
and improvement programme is proposed to formally re-start 2023/24. 

 

Medium Term Financial Plan 

17. In February 2020 the Council set a Revenue Budget with a net draw on the 
General Fund of £167,000, in line with the approved Medium-Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP).  

18. However, since the Budget was set, the emergence of COVID-19 has 
fundamentally changed the financial position for the foreseeable future. During 
this financial year, the Council has forecast approximately £1.5M of additional 
expenditure for the financial year and has forecast income to fall by 
approximately £4.2M for the year, where services such as leisure and parking 
were closed. A gradual return of most income streams is anticipated, although 
it is unlikely that usage levels will return to those previously budgeted for, 
particularly for the Car Parking Service, in this financial year. The full details of 
all variances can be found at Appendix A 

19. Details of all the forecast variances for 2020/21 and the impacts going forward 
across the life of the plan are included in the updated MTFP shown at 
Appendix G. This continues to show a balanced position with prudent and 
healthy levels of reserves; however, the ongoing position will continue to be 
closely monitored particularly around Property and Borrowing. 

 

General Fund and Reserves 

20. Appendix G details the MTFP position and demonstrates that the General 
Fund balance is maintained at the minimum balance of 10% of Net Cost of 
Services for the life of the plan taking account of all estimates relating to 
COVID-19. In addition, other earmarked reserve balances remain healthy as 
detailed below: 

100



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Community Investment Programme 

21. The Community Investment Programme (CIP) has a rolling budget of £132m 
for 2020/21. The budget has increased since originally set by £62m since 
originally set which is primarily due to new schemes being approved by 
Cabinet in year.  Scheme budgets have been re-profiled as more information 
has come forward from project managers to better align expenditure with 
delivery timescales.  

22. As at 22nd October, £21m has been spent, representing 28% of the original 
budget and only 16% of the rolling budget.  It is forecast that expenditure will 
increase in line with the rolling budget as the year progresses, due to large 
schemes completing before the end of the financial year.  The progress of CIP 
schemes is reported to relevant boards regularly as part of the highlight 
reports completed by Project Managers for each scheme.  As with Service 
Managers, Project Managers are asked to identify forecast spend for the year 
in order that total CIP budgets can be monitored effectively and also profiled 
into the most appropriate financial year.  This is an iterative process, with 
adjustments to budgets between financial years being made as and when 
reported to the relevant boards. 

23. Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council to approve the changes to the 
Prudential Indicators Appendix D.  CIPFAs prudential frameworks main 
objectives is to ensure that capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable and sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are 
taken in accordance with good financial practice. Prudential indicators are set 
by the council to ensure these objectives can be met.   

 

Property, 3,487 

Capital, 3,423 

Local Areas, 588 

Services, 4,391 

Interest, 9,369 

General Fund, 1,026 

Reserves Estimate 2020/21 (£'000s) 

101



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Community Investment Approval DFG Programme 

24. The Disabled Facility Grant (DFG) works are funded primarily through the 
Better Care Fund (BCF) programme which aims to improve the lives of some 
of our most vulnerable residents, giving them a better quality of life. The 
projects undertaken through the DFG programme play a vital role in the 
prevention of hospital admissions and tackling bed-blocking through the 
adaptions within their own homes. 

25. Each year since the BCF programme started the Council has topped up the 
BCF amount to the region of £150k due to the importance of the work the 
DFG programme delivers helping to achieve Corporate Objectives. The BCF 
amount has increased year on year and as such the contribution the Council 
has had to top up has reduced.  

26. The Council received £1,163,139 in Better Care Fund Grant in 2019/20 and 
spent an additional £128,409 from Housing Capital Receipts.  

27. The Council have received the same amount of £1,163,139 in Better Care 
Fund Grant in 2020/21, and budget a further £136,861 to be funded from 
Housing Capital Receipts. It is anticipated a similar amount will be received in 
2021/22. 

28. Cabinet are asked to approve expenditure on the DFG Programme of 
£1,300,000 in both 2020/21 and 2021/22 to be financed from the Better Care 
Fund Grant and Housing Capital Receipts. 

29. Cabinet is also asked to recommend to Council to approve the changes to the 
Prudential Indicators Appendix G. 

 

Treasury Management mid-year report 

30. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the CIPFA Code) 
requires the Authority to approve treasury management semi-annual and 
annual reports. 

31. Appendix D provides the Treasury Management Half Yearly Report on the 
performance of Treasury Management for the first 6 months of 2020/21. 

 

Chief Financial Officer’s statement 

32. As the Council’s Statutory Finance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer is 
required to advise the Council on all pertinent financial matters including the 
level of balances and to alert Councillors to any concerns she may have 
regarding the financial well-being of the Council. 

102



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

33. The financial monitoring process is a very important element of the Council’s 
financial arrangement as it assesses how effective the day to day 
management of budgets is been throughout the year. Any unforeseen 
overspends and underspends can distort the Council’s financial position and 
financial planning process. 

34. The COVID-19 pandemic has brought into sharp focus the need for accurate 
and detailed financial planning.  The success of the Council’s approach to 
financial management has enabled the identification and reporting of financial 
pressures and also the early identification of potential savings.  Undoubtedly 
this is a testing time for the economy and that includes local government, 
although Eastleigh Borough Council is well placed to sustainably manage 
financially into the future.   

35. A key element of the financial process is accurate budgeting and forecasting. 
Historically there are underspends in revenue budgets, and it is important that 
these are identified by service managers as soon as they are foreseen. This is 
particularly important now that there are additional budgetary pressures and 
also as the nature of some services change due to the impacts of COVID-19.  
There are continued efforts to improve identification of budget variances and 
ensure these are reflected within the rolling budget. The aim is to ensure 
greater accountability of budget holders and therefore improved financial 
management. As explained in the financial summary, training and additional 
support is being rolled out across the Service Leads and Senior Managers to 
improve financial controls and to assist with more accurate forecasting. 

36. The revenue monitoring report shows a forecast outturn position highlighting a 
forecast favourable net position £263,000. 

 

Risk Assessment 

37. The purpose of the financial monitoring process is to give Members the 
assurance that the Council’s finances are performing broadly in line with the 
Budget. This report is integral to the risk management process in respect of 
the Council’s finances. A full risk assessment in respect of the Council’s 
current and future financial position is included within the Provisional Outturn, 
Medium Term Budget Strategy and Budget reports that are submitted to 
Cabinet and Council. Appendix E contains the Risk Assessment. 

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

38. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because the 
decision does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. Therefore, it 
is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

103



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

39. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

There is no direct impact, positive or negative, to climate change or the 
environment. However, effective financial monitoring enables the delivery of 
the Council’s Strategic Objectives of which include supporting the Climate 
Change Programme. 
 
 

Conclusion 

40. The Corporate Financial Monitoring Statement, as well as providing a 
comprehensive snapshot of the Council’s finances, provides the opportunity to 
advise Councillors of significant financial issues that may impact on the 
Council’s finances. The overall revenue position at 30 September 2020 shows 
a forecast favourable position of £263,000. 

41. The significant performance areas outlined within this report, together with the 
overview of service KPIs, give Councillors an opportunity to understand 
current performance and risks impacting the delivery of services to customers. 
Whilst the organisation is continuing to deliver a dynamic range of services 
there are some performance areas needing attention and rectification of these 
issues is important in ensuring the Council is continuing to meet customer 
need. 

SARAH KING 
Corporate Director Support Services – Chief Financial Officer 

 
 

Date: 20th October 2020 
Contact Officer: Emma Pearce   
e-mail: emma.pearce@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 8 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 

104



Appendix A 

 

 

1.        The Council is projecting net favourable variances of £263,000.  The table 
below gives a summary of variances by service, with reasons for these 
variances detailed in paragraphs 2 - 43.  It should be noted that explanations 
for variances were written prior to the announcement of the new lockdown 
measures announced at the end of October. 

 

 

Skills & Business 

Variance 
£000’s 

() = unfavourable 

Eastleigh Business Centre - para 2  (433) 

Economic Development para – 3 24 

Council Tax – para 4 (158) 

NNDR – para 5 (19) 

Open Air Markets – para 6  (11) 

Business Regulation - para 7 (37) 

  

  Environment 
 Countryside Management – para 8 (55) 

Countryside Land Management – para 9 (25) 

Streetscene – para 10 (91) 

Trade Refuse – para 11 (181) 

Trade Waste – para 12 (161) 

Green Garden Waste – para 13 142 

Recycling – para 14 (53) 

Cemeteries – para 15 (11) 

Combined Heat and Power – para 16 36 

Renewable Energy – para 17 27 

Other (2) 

  Health 
 Health and Wellbeing – para 18 22 

Places Leisure – para 19 (554) 

Arts and Culture – para 20 (372) 

Other 4 

  Planning and Property 
 Development Management – para 21 (171) 

Land Charges – para 22 (129) 

Building Control – para 23 70 

105



Appendix A 

Elections – para 24 103 

Housing Delivery – para 25 866 

Service Delivery Case Management – para 26 (87) 

Civic Events – para 27 21 

Corporation Estates para 28 (1,000) 

Local Plan – para 29 400 

Accommodation – para 30 101 

Internal Services – para 31 581 

Local area services – para 32 115 

Service Delivery Specialist Team – para 33 (118) 

Direct Services – para 34 29 

Communications – para 35 13 

  Social Policy 
 Customer Services – para 36 47 

Housing Benefit – para 37 (431) 

Housing Advice – para 38 134 

Other (5) 

  Transport 
 Transport Policy – para 39 60 

Car Parks – para 40 (975) 

Decrim Parking – para 41 (282) 

Technical Services – para 42 (79) 

Other 9 

  Non-Service-Related Items – para 43 (782) 

Government Funding (COVID-19) 3,681 

  Net Position 263 

 

2.  Eastleigh Business Centre is forecasting a net £433,000 adverse variance 
largely due to lower than budgeted income levels. The building was closed 
between 30th March - 31st August which impacted rents.  The office space is 
now re-open and operating at an occupancy rate of 69%.  The income 
forecast is based on current occupancy rates as with COVID-19 safe working 
restrictions in place the maximum occupancy rate is around 70%. 

3.  Economic Development is forecasting a saving of £24,000. The Recreate 
Project (the affordable workspace for businesses in the creative sector) is 
forecast a £22,000 adverse variance partly relating to under recovery of 
income due to the closure of the building from April – July as well as a 
decrease in the number of artists using the service. In addition to this there 
has been an increase in costs of cleaning the premises since the space has 
reopened. This loss of income is offset by a saving of £46,000 reduction in 
spend for the business conference due to COVID-19.  

106



Appendix A 

4.  Council Tax is forecasting a £159,000 adverse variance. This is largely 
reflective of the court cost income which will be under recovered in 2020/21 
due to fewer court cases, although this is partly offset by a reduction in court 
expenditure.  

5.  NNDR is reporting a £19,000 adverse variance due to court cost income that, 
similar to Council Tax, will be under recovered in 2020/21 due to fewer court 
cases. 

6.  Open Air Markets are reporting a £11,000 under recovery of income as 
Eastleigh Town Centre Market and Car Boot sale has remained closed for this 
financial year due to COVID-19. 

7.  Business Regulation is forecasting a £37,000 overspend. This is due to the 
Health and Safety budget which includes estimated costs to fund new 
equipment to support employees who are primarily working at home due to 
COVID-19. 

8.  Countryside management is forecasting a £55,000 unfavourable variance.  
Itchen Valley County Park (IVCP) café is forecasting a net loss of £29,000 
due to being closed during lock down. In addition to this, the park has incurred 
additional costs of £29,000 for security which allowed the park to be fully 
accessible for the public to enjoy despite the lockdown restrictions.  Lakeside 
is forecasting a loss of income due to reduced conference room hire.  Both 
sites have incurred additional costs of £9,000 due to additional cleaning 
required to ensure compliance with the new rules. This is offset by additional 
car parking income of £14,000 predicted at IVCP.  

9.  Countryside Land Management is forecasting additional expenditure of 
£25,000. £10,000 relates to contractor expenditure being incurred as a result 
of not being able to use volunteers to undertake maintenance work at sites 
due to COVID-19.  The remaining £15,000 relates to additional expenditure 
on sites that are being funded from the grant reserves.  

10.  Streetscene is reporting a £91,000 overspend. There is a forecast loss of 
income of £42,000 in relation to income generating events being cancelled 
this financial year due to COVID-19 which are usually supported by the 
Streetscene team. The remaining £49,000 is forecast spend due to the 
delayed Fly Tipping project that was approved in 2019/20 MTFP. 

11.  Refuse collection is forecasting a £181,000 adverse variance. The Council’s 
food waste collection service was stopped in April of this year, in order to 
ensure residual waste, mixed dry recyclables (DMR), glass and garden waste 
could continue as normal, and to ensure the safety of staff in response to the 
spread of Covid -19. The Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in many more 
residents working from home resulting in an 11% increase in the residual 
waste (including food) collected since April 2020.  In accordance with Waste 
Industrial Safety and Health (WISH) Forum guidance, the service has 
implemented social distancing and operates with only two crew members in 
the cab at any one time with the third meeting out on site. The re-start of food 
waste collection is forecast to incur additional costs of £82,000 due to 
additional hire costs and temporary staff. The hire vehicles only require two 

107



Appendix A 

crew members (driver and loader) and allow better social distancing to be 
maintained.  This method of collection will be implemented as part of the pilot 
scheme which commenced on the 9th November. In order to deliver the new 
Ways with waste programme, project costs of £77,000 will be incurred and 
fully funded from the recycling reserve. In addition, there have been costs for 
staffing for one off payments equating to £20,000. 

12.     Trade Waste is forecasting £161,000 under recovery of income. This is a 
worse-case scenario based upon the evolving impact COVID-19 is having on 
business’s needs.  It is worth noting that disposal costs could increase based 
on historic trends and fees increasing from Hampshire County Council (HCC).  
Future financial monitoring will identify any growth in disposal costs. 

13.     The Garden Waste service is forecasting a net £142,000 favourable variance. 
Additional income of £162,000 has been achieved due to increased customer 
demand. This is offset by £20,000 additional staffing costs needed to provide 
the service to the increase in customers. £54,000 of the additional income will 
be transferred to capital budgets to fund additional garden waste Bins.  

14.  Recycling is forecasting an adverse variance of £53,000. There has been a 
reduction in the value of recycling items to the sum of £71,000 due to 
recycling income from HCC, which will be funded by the Project integra 
reserves. This is offset by a saving of £19,000 due to the recycling of glass 
which has shown a steep increase due to bottle banks being closed and the 
resulting increase in kerbside collection. 

15.  The Cemeteries service has seen a reduction in Memorials resulting in a net 
loss of £11,000. 

16.  The Combined Heat and Power (CHP) service is forecasting a saving of 
£36,000 based on September 2020 usage which generates a net return to the 
Council.  These income levels could change significantly should the leisure 
centre have to close in the future. 

17.  Renewable Energy is forecasting a net favourable variance of £27,000.  
Additional income of £43,000 due to favourable Feed In Tariff income is offset 
by additional spend on maintenance of £16,000 to ensure the solar panels 
continue to perform at maximum efficiency. 

18.  Health and Wellbeing is reporting a £22,000 favourable variance. The service 
has realised a £6,000 saving due to reducing non-essential spend and a 
number of initiatives unable to run due to COVID-19. In addition, there are the 
following transfers in/(out) of reserves for grant funded schemes as shown in 
the table below: 

Initiative 

Transfer 
In/(out) 

£ 

Sport Funding 1,547 

Mum & Baby Cycling 
Scheme 6,000 

Friday Night Football 6,354 

108



Appendix A 

Park Sport 8,834 

Health Works (6,989) 

  Total 12,652 

19.  Places Leisure Eastleigh is reporting a £554,000 adverse variance. There is a 
£109,000 saving on annual maintenance, however these funds are allocated 
to reserves for future major repair projects. There is an estimated loss of 
£713,000 in income as Places Leisure was closed due to Government 
restrictions.  Included within this forecast is an estimated contribution to the 
Management fees from Places Leisure of £268,000 and the annual average 
income adjustment of £33,000. There is a £50,000 saving in contracted 
services costs offsetting this cost and it is forecast that £663,000 will be 
claimed back from Government as part of the Fees & Charges 
reimbursement. 

20.  Arts & Culture is forecasting a net £372,000 adverse variance. The Point was 
closed until mid-September and The Berry theatre remains closed, therefore a 
significant reduction in income is currently projected (£632,000). This is partly 
offset by a decrease in programme spend of £183,000 and a further £81,000 
funding following a successful Arts Council England (ACE) funding bid.  
Programmes are now starting to run, and the bar has re-opened.  Along with 
this there is funding expected from the COVID-19 fees and charges loss of 
income grant from Central Government and the Furlough scheme which will 
offset a substantial amount of the losses. It is to be noted that service is 
currently undergoing a budget review to recognise the challenges the 
business is facing/reflect future of the service. 

21.  Development Management is reporting a £171,000 adverse variance. There is 
a forecast overspend on appeals of £86,000 of which £68,000 will be funded 
from BHH LAC and £18,000 will be funded from the Development 
Management Reserve. The remaining estimated shortfall on income in 
2020/21 of £95,000 is due to reduced applications received during the 
COVID-19 lockdown period.  This is partially offset by a saving of £10,000 in 
postage and advertising costs.  It is anticipated that some of the remaining 
income shortfall will be met from the Fees and Charges COVID-19 claim. 

22.  Land Charges is reporting a £129,000 adverse variance due to reduced fee 
generating activity following COVID-19. It is anticipated that some of the 
shortfall will be met from the Fees and Charges COVID-19 claim. Any 
overspend on this service at the end of the financial year will be funded by a 
ring-fenced reserve. 

23.      Elections is forecasting a saving of £103,000. This is due to no Borough 
Council elections taking place in the current financial year. The elections have 
been postponed due to the current pandemic and they are expected to take 
place in May 2021. 

24.  Building control is forecasting a £70,000 favourable variance. The service is 
delivered through a partnership arrangement with Southampton City Council 
and latest forecast figures show an increased demand, though these figures 

109



Appendix A 

are yet to be confirmed. The forecast savings of £70,000 will be transferred to 
the Building Control reserve as this is a ring-fenced service. 

25.  Housing Delivery is reporting £866,000 underspent. £930,000 saving from 
New Homes Bonus income transferred into reserve is offset by an overall 
estimated shortfall on Housing Grant income of £62,000. This predominantly 
relates to a shortfall at Stoneham due to timing of properties being completed 
and lettings taking longer than initially estimated. This is offset by improved 
performance at The Willows - Hatch Farm. This shortfall is funded from the 
Housing Reserve. 

26.  Service Delivery Case Management is forecasting a net £87,000 overspend. 
£14,000 of this overspend is due to extra work carried out on the business 
grants work due to Covid-19.  The remainder is due to increased activity for 
council tax adjustments and Land Charges (due to reduced stamp duty). This 
increase in activity has meant that agency workers have had to continue to 
avoid a back log. 
 

27.  Civic Events is reporting a £21,000 forecast underspend due a reduction in 
events this year because of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

28.     Local plan is forecasting £400,000 non recurrent saving in 2020/21. The Local 
Plan budget provision for 20/21 was based on the demands of preceding 
years where a significant amount of technical work was required, and the 
possibility of legal challenge. A budget revision is now possible based on the 
outcome of the examination hearings that completed in January 2020 and 
were detailed in the Planning Inspector’s letters since April this year, and the 
residual technical and legal work therefore required by the Planning Inspector 
ahead of submission of modifications which has now been completed 
(October 2020). 
 

29.  Corporation Estates is reporting an unfavourable variance of £1m. This is due 
to a predicted increase in bad debt provision for rental properties. This is to 
recognise the uncertainty on the rental market.  An exempt report on the 
performance of the Councils property portfolio is on the agenda for the Audit 
and Resources committee in November 2020. 

 

30.  Accommodation is reporting a £101,000 favourable variance.  Additional costs 
of £22,000 have been forecast in relation to the HC3S contract for the 
Eastleigh House cafe where HCC are charging additional contributions for 
losses incurred due to COVID-19. There are savings on electricity costs due 
to a contract review alongside savings on other utilities as a result of fewer 
employees being in the office. There is also an increase in rental income 
compared to the budget from external tenants within Eastleigh House of 
£123,000. 
 

31.  Internal Services is reporting a £581,000 underspend which is the result of 
savings of £1.4M on pension costs netted against budgets which are held in 
this area with the actual savings being realised across the services.  These 
central budgets include a budget for staff turnover and the 2020/21 budget for 

110



Appendix A 

efficiency targets. This is offset by a further £144,000 for Programme Project 
Team being unable to allocate the full cost of their time to capital projects due 
to the requirement to support revenue projects. This funding issue will be 
addressed in the upcoming budget process. 
 

32.  The Local Area Services team are reporting a £115,000 underspend. This is 
primarily due to vacant posts in 2020/21 although a recruitment process is 
underway with two posts expected to be filled by January 2021. There is also 
a reduction on administration costs of £11,000 due to a hold being placed on 
non-essential expenditure. 

 
33.  The Service Delivery staffing budget forecasting an overspend of £118,000. 

Additional staffing costs of £133,000 are forecast due to agency posts being 
over established from continuing high levels of demand and work on Horton 
Heath. In addition to this, income is forecast to be under recovered by £7,000 
due to a reduction in capital recharges from the Engineering team due to 
reduced activity.  This is offset by a favourable variance of £22,000 due to a 
reduction in non-essential expenditure. 
 

34.  Direct Services staffing costs are forecasting a £29,000 saving due to a delay 
in appointing vacant posts. 
 

35.  Communications is forecasting a £13,000 net underspend. £8,000 relates to 
staffing underspends due to some staff working reduced hours at present. 
The remaining £5,000 underspend is due to a reduction in non-essential 
spend. 
 

36.  The Customer Services Centre is reporting a £47,000 underspend primarily 
due to a number of vacancies this year contributing to £41,000 of the 
variance.  In addition, a saving of £6,000 has been achieved through 
reductions in non-essential spend. 
 

37.  The Housing Benefit service is reporting a £431,000 unfavourable variance to 
budget. The "overspend" against budget reflects the increasing impact of 
Universal Credit and increased demand due to COVID-19. This budget can 
vary significantly with small changes in demand and as a result will be 
monitored monthly and addressed in the upcoming budget process. 
 

38.  The Housing Advice service is forecasting a £134,000 saving. There is a 
£10,000 saving on general Housing Advice administration costs as activity 
and spend has been limited to priority work only.  However, this is offset by 
£23,000 increased bad debt provision for the Tenancy Start Up scheme to 
recognise historic trends and the current market. This net loss is entirely 
mitigated by a transfer of £37,000 from a historic revenue reserve no longer 
required creating a net positive revenue position of £24,000. In addition, the 
£147,000 unspent Homelessness Grant is being taken to the Homelessness 
Grant reserve to fund future initiatives. 
 

111



Appendix A 

39.  Transport policy is projecting a £60,000 favourable variance. As previously 
reported, there is a recurring underspend of £51,000 on the bus services 
subsidy budget however, it is anticipated that due to lower demand and poor 
bus services due to COVID-19 that additional funding will be required to 
support bus routes and therefore this underspend will be transferred to the 
grants and earmarked reserves. In addition to this, there has been a reduction 
in spend for the medical transport service of £9,000, and a further £10,000 
underspend on various transport schemes. 2020/21 has seen additional 
expenditure of £10,000 due to implementation of Traffic Regulation Order 
schemes is to be funded from reserves. 
 

40.  Car parks are forecasting an adverse variance of £975,000 due to lower 
income across the service. Corporately it was decided that car parks would be 
free to use between April 20 - June 20 to help the community during the 
lockdown period. Since car parks have re-opened activity has remained lower 
than budgeted and activity is expected to remain lower for the remainder of 
the financial year. 
 

41.  Decriminalised parking is forecasting a loss of £282,000. This is due in part to 
lower income from penalty charge notices as HCC advised to use warning 
notices instead of issuing fines up to August 2020.  Use of off street parking 
has also declined as Market Street and High Street will remain closed until 
April 2021. There has been a reduction in usage for Chestnut Avenue due to 
college students changing the way they learn, and in addition to this Stroudley 
Way parking is not being utilised.  This shortfall is partly offset by 
underspends within the Civil Enforcement Team of £115,000 highlighted in 
paragraph 32. It is anticipated that some of the remaining income shortfall will 
be met from the Fees and Charges COVID-19 claim. 
 

42.  Technical services are reporting a £79,000 adverse variance due to the 
following: 

 

 MOTs are reporting a loss of £37,000. The service was paused from 

April to mid-August due to COVID-19 which impacted the income target 

by £29,000. In addition to this, to enable staff to undertake MOT's and 

ensure the safety of members of the public extra PPE has been required 

which has resulted in a forecast overspend of £3,000. Due to a staff 

vacancy there is staffing saving for transport of £5,000.  

 The Pest Control service was suspended for 2 weeks due to the Pest 

Control Officer being unable to safely enter properties. This has resulted 

in a shortfall in income of £12,000. 

 Construction is reporting a net loss of £30,000. Additional staffing 

resources of £47,000 have been required to undertake the work 

allocated to the team. Material costs have risen by £83,000 in order to 

undertake the work. This is partly offset by additional forecast income. 

112



Appendix A 

43.  Non-Service-Related Items is reporting a net adverse position of £782,000 
consisting of: 

 Net transfers to reserves of £1,042,000 which are detailed throughout 

the service variances in pervious paragraphs.  

 A forecast saving on interest payable of £282,000 compared to the 

original budget due to the Bank of England reducing interest rates due 

to the COVID-19.  This has resulted in the Council’s short-term variable 

borrowing requirement being funded at a much lower rate than 

originally forecast. 

 Interest and investment income shortfall of £52,000 compared to the 

original budget.  This is due to the Council’s investment in the CCLA 

property fund returning a lower dividend as income to the fund has 

been reduced during lockdown.  The investment in the fund is still 

returning positive investment income of circa 3%.  

 Minimum Revenue Provision is forecasting a saving of £30,000 since 

the budget was originally set.  This is due to a reduced level of capital 

expenditure in 2019/20 than forecast, resulting in a delay in the 

repayment of debt linked to this expenditure. 

 

113



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

1 
 

Service Performance Report: April to September 
2020 

This report covers the period from April to September 2020 and provides data charts 
and commentary on the Council’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), which are its 
most strategic performance indicators. The KPIs are organised into five strategic 
themes: Environment; Economy; Health and wellbeing; Housing and development; 
and Organisation.  

The first section of the report provides a summary of the KPI performance data for 
each quarter of the financial year and assigns a RAG status (where Red = worse 
than target; Amber = slightly worse than target; Green = equal to or better than 
target; and ‘N/A’ means that the relevant data is not available yet) based on the 
average for the 3 months falling within each quarter. 

The second section of the report provides 47 charts showing the KPI figures for each 
month of the financial year, with a RAG status assigned to each monthly figure. Brief 
commentary on the performance of each KPI is provided under the relevant chart 
and is mainly focussed on those KPIs showing a Red or Amber status. 

A. Council Strategy Quarterly Scorecard Summary 

In the following tables, those KPIs that were negatively affected by Covid-19 in a 
direct way (e.g. due to venues being shut) are indicated in the following tables by an 
asterisk in the RAG status column. A double asterisk shows where the RAG status is 
based on provisional or unconfirmed KPI figures. 

 
Environment KPIs Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.1 Collected domestic waste recycled A** R**   

1.2 Collected domestic residual waste R** R**   

1.3.1 Missed bins A A   

1.3.2 Repeat missed bins within same month G A   

1.4 Land Audit Management System (LAMS) score G G   

1.5 Clearing of fly-tipping completed on time A R   

1.6 
NO2 concentration at monitoring site with highest 
level in Borough 

G G   

1.7 Noise nuisance requests responded to on time A A   

115



Appendix B 

2 
 

 
Economy KPIs Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2.1.1 Businesses supported G G   

2.1.2 
Businesses registered to pay rates (target 
undecided) 

    

2.2.1 Council Tax collected G A   

2.2.2 
Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business rates) 
collected 

R R   

2.3 Occupancy rate at Eastleigh Business Centre R* R*   

2.4 
Council Tax - Customers with outstanding 
account queries older than 15 days 

G R   

2.5 Council Tax - Work items completed vs. received G G   

 

 
Health & wellbeing KPIs Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

3.1.1 Attendance at The Point & Berry Theatres R* R*   

3.1.2 Participation in Arts and Culture activities G G   

3.2 Visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park R* G   

3.3.1 Attendance at HealthWorks sessions R* R*   

3.3.2 Attendance at SportWorks sessions R* G*   

3.4 Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh R* R*   

3.5 Households on housing register (no target)     

3.6 Average waiting time for band 2 and 3 properties G G   

3.7 
Homeless cases prevented through intervention 
of housing advice (no target) 

    

3.8.1 
New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit) 
claims received (no target) 

    

3.8.2 Time to process new benefit claims A A   

3.9 Time to process benefit change events G G   

3.10 Complex DFGs completed within 300 days R* R   

 

116



Appendix B 

3 
 

 
Housing & development KPIs Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

4.1 Net additional homes delivered R N/A   

4.2 
Affordable units funded by New Home Bonus 
(target undecided) 

N/A N/A   

4.3.1 
Major planning applications processed within 
statutory timeframe 

R G   

4.3.2 
Minor planning applications processed within 
statutory timeframe 

G R   

4.3.3 
Other planning applications processed within 
statutory timeframe 

G G   

4.4 
Planning appeals allowed as a proportion of all 
planning application decisions 

G G   

 

 
 Organisation KPIs Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

5.1 Customer complaints (no target)     

5.2 Corporate complaints outside SLA R R   

5.3 CSC - Calls handled (no target)     

5.4 CSC - Calls answered vs. offered G A   

5.5 
CSC - Customer interactions resolved at first 
point of contact 

G G   

5.6 Corporate sickness A R   

5.7 Staff turnover (for rolling 12-month period) G G   

5.8 FOI / EIR requests responded to within SLA G G   

5.9 Invoices paid within 10 days G R   

5.10.1 Cases raised across all service areas N/A G   

5.10.2 
Average case duration for cases raised across 
all service areas 

G R   

5.11.1 Cases raised via the Members' Hub N/A G   

5.11.2 
Average case duration for cases raised via the 
Members' Hub (target undecided) 

N/A N/A   

 

  

117



Appendix B 

4 
 

B. Corporate KPIs 

1 Environment 

 
*Apr-19 to Mar-20 = confirmed quarterly figures; April-20 onwards = unconfirmed monthly figures.  

During the course of the pandemic glass, mixed dry recyclables and garden waste 
have all seen an increase in recycling levels. However, the suspension of food waste 
recycling has resulted in food waste being disposed of via the residual waste stream 
in the black bin. This has added to an already increasing amount of residual waste 
being disposed of and as this PI is measured by weight, the inclusion of food waste 
in the residual waste stream has contributed to the % of residual weight increasing 
more than the increase in recycling. Restarting food waste collections on 9th 
November should see an upturn in recycling performance, although it will take time 
to change behaviours and encourage residents to re-engage with the separate 
recycling of food waste. A recycling pilot will trial a new method of collecting waste 
for recycling between November to January and if subsequently extended to the rest 
of the Borough, this will further increase recycling rates, particularly by making food 
waste recycling available to residents who live in flats. 

4
1
.3

%
 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

4
2
.6

%
 

4
1
.1

%
 

3
9
.0

%
 

4
1
.9

%
 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

1.1 Collected domestic waste recycled (%)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 45% or 

more 
Red = less than 

42.4% 

118



Appendix B 

5 
 

 
*Apr-19 to Mar-20 = confirmed quarterly figures; Apr-20 onwards = unconfirmed monthly figures 

It should be noted that this is perhaps the most important of all of the waste-related 
indicators as it relates to non-recycled waste and is an area in which Eastleigh has 
long been the best performer in Hampshire. However, during the pandemic, the 
amount of collected residual (i.e. non-recycled) waste has increased significantly. 
The average monthly figure for the 2019/20 financial year was 36.3 Kg per 
household, while the average for 2020/21 is currently 5.1 Kg higher at 41.4 Kg. This 
increase can be attributed to a number of pandemic-related factors: residents 
confined to, or working from home have produced significantly more waste, access 
to recycling centres has been restricted and the suspension of food waste recycling  
has resulted in it being placed in their household waste bins. Whilst recycling has 
also increased, it has not done so as much as much as the levels of residual waste.  

 

See commentary under next chart. 

4
3
.9

 

4
0
.3

 

4
0
.4

 

4
2
.5

 

3
7
.2

 

4
4
.0

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

1.2 Collected domestic residual waste 
(Kg per household per month)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 
than 35.5 Kg 

Red = 36.7 Kg 
or more 

4
9
4
 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

2
6
8
 

3
0
6
 

2
9
8
 

4
2
3
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

1.3.1 Customer-reported missed bins (number) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 

than 300 
Red = 350 or 

more 

119



Appendix B 

6 
 

 
*Figures only began being collected in April 2020. 

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2020/21 55 16 24 33 40 43       

 

After seeing a significant reduction in the number of missed bins in May and June 
the number rose again in July and August. During the lockdown period many staff 
were self-isolating, agency staff were unavailable and there was a reluctance to take, 
or even encourage the taking of leave due to concerns over continuity of service. 
This obviously resulted in a large backlog and as restrictions were lifted, more staff 
wished to take leave and were encouraged to do so. However, the period in which 
leave could be taken was significantly constrained, meaning higher-than-normal 
levels of agency cover during these periods. This reduction in local knowledge 
resulted in a commensurate drop in performance, which was further compounded by 
by higher than average levels of staff sickness. A number of staff also continue to 
self-isolate or ‘shield’ at home which needs careful management to balance service 
needs, staff welfare and the need to encourage the taking of annual leave. The 
number of repeat missed bins also remained high, compounded by access issues as 
people continue to work from home which are being managed with the Engineering 
and Local Areas teams. In-cab technology is also being used to help tackle the 
problem of repeat missed bins. 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

6
.0

%
 

9
.0

%
 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

1
0
.2

%
 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

1.3.2 Repeat missed bins within month (%)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Amber 

Previous month 
= Amber 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 

than 10% 
Red = 15% or 

more 

120



Appendix B 

7 
 

 
*LAMS is an inspection-based system that monitors the quality of grounds maintenance, street 
cleansing, cemetery and crematorium services. 

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 5/81 6/94 6/81 6/71 1/75 1/63 0/82 0/64 0/50 2/48* 2/50 0/39* 

2020/21 2/64 1/11* 0/44 0/26* 0/34* 0/74       

*Number of inspections below the minimum monthly requirement of 50. 

The number of inspections dropped significantly as the pandemic required staff 
resources to be diverted to help with waste and recycling services. Further pressure 
from Covid-19 restrictions meant that seasonal staff normally employed in Spring 
could not be recruited. The number of inspections also dropped below the minimal 
monthly requirement in July and August, but it is planned to increase these during 
the rest of the financial year, so that the Council’s APSE ratings for StreetScene 
activities are not negatively impacted.  

 
Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 53 52 38 63 42 49 53 39 47 60 47 31 

2020/21 48 66 109 76 95 103       

 

3
.1

%
 

9
.1

%
 

0
.0

%
 

0
.0

%
 

0
.0

%
 

0
.0

%
 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

1.4 Land Audit Management System (LAMS) score* 
(% of non-acceptable rated inspections) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 5% or 

less 
Red = more 

than 5% 

1
0
0
%

 

9
7
%

 

7
6
%

 

8
6
%

 

7
5
%

 

7
0
%

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

1.5 Clearing of fly-tipping completed on time (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 95% or 

more 
Red = less than 

90% 

121



Appendix B 

8 
 

A significant increase in fly-tipping incidents has been observed since the start of the 
Covid-19 lockdown (the number in September 2020 was more than twice that for 
September 2019). Temporary closures followed by tighter operating restrictions of 
using Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC’s) have coincided with significant 
increases in fly-tipping of both domestic and commercial waste. This together with 
reduced resources due to Covid- related pressures (support to the Waste service, 
reduction in Agency staff) impacted negatively on performance. The StreetScene 
team continue to ensure the increase in incidents is being reported to the relevant 
agencies and it should be noted that revised protocols for investigating and 
responding to reports of fly-tipping have been introduced within the Pollution Team, 
resulting in a corresponding increase in proactive engagement and enforcement 
activity.   

 
*The figures shown are for the highest annual average concentration of NO2 recorded at any of the 
various monitoring sites around the Borough during the 12 months prior to the month shown. Due 
to an instrument fault no data is available for September 2020. 

Overall, nitrogen dioxide levels have gradually reduced from a peak of 38.2 µgm-3 in 
December 2019, although there was a slight rise in August 2020.The main reason 
for the reduction has been the impact of the Covid-19 lockdown and pandemic on 
road traffic levels (particularly Southampton Road). However, as the figures are 
based on an annual rolling period, they are also likely to have been reduced by the 
effect of a mild Winter (in colder Winters airflows tend to be more stationary and 
these allow pollution levels to build up). 

3
0
.8

 

2
8
.5

 

2
6
.8

 

2
5
.3

 

2
5
.4

 

N
o

 d
a

ta
 a

v
a

il
a

b
le

 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

1.6 NO2 concentration at monitoring site with highest level 
in Borough* (average for year to date in ugm-3) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 

40µgm-3 or less 
Red = more 

than 45µgm-3 

122



Appendix B 

9 
 

 
Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 36/39 37/49 43/49 79/91 55/65 41/51 24/40 21/24 23/28 24/27 29/34 32/41 

2020/21 90/96 43/70 69/95 66/79 59/67 49/52       

 

Due to the Covid-19 lockdown and periods of good weather, there has been a 
significant increase in the number of noise complaints received in the first half of 
2020/21 compared to the same period in 2019/20 (except for a spike in complaints in 
July 2019). Despite the increase in complaints, a high percentage of timely 
responses was achieved in April 2020. However, reduced resources in the Case 
Management Officer (CMO) team (due to staff leaving for other Council posts) and a 
delay in adopting revised protocols meant that performance dropped significantly in 
May 2020. However, performance has improved significantly due to revised working 
arrangements, process improvements and performance monitoring.  

9
4
%

 

6
1
%

 

7
3
%

 

8
4
%

 

8
9
%

 

9
4
%

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

1.7 Noise nuisance requests responded to on time (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Amber 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 90% or 

more 
Red = less than 

75% 

123



Appendix B 

10 
 

2 Economy 

 
*Figures only began being collected in May 2019. Figures for April onwards include 
businesses given Covid-19 support. 

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 - 6 39 2 6 4 63 9 8 22 17 

2020/21 1,240 168 249 65+ 158 49       

 

Due to the need to provide Covid-19 support to businesses, including the provision 
of numerous central government-funded business grants, the number of businesses 
supported this year has reached a level that is already 10 times higher than the total 
of 176 achieved for the whole of the financial year 2019/20. This KPI includes 
businesses given Covid-19 support as it is difficult to separate Covid-related 
business queries from normal business support, as virtually every query received 
since the lockdown relates to some operational challenge generated by the 
pandemic. 

 
*Figures only began being collected in November 2019. Methodology was changed for October 
2020 onwards to account for those businesses that have multiple premises. 

1
,2

4
0
 

1
,4

0
8
 

1
,4

8
4
 

1
,5

5
6
 

1
,7

1
4
 

1
,7

6
3
 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2.1.1 Businesses supported (cumulative YTD)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 1,000 
or more for year 
Red = less than 
1,000 for year 

 3
,2

4
5

  

 3
,2

4
5

  

 3
,2

4
5

  

 3
,2

4
5
  

 3
,2

4
5

  

 3
,2

4
5

  

2
,4

6
7
 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2.1.2 Businesses registered to pay rates (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
No target yet 

Previous month 
= No target yet 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = To be 

decided 
Red = To be 

decided 

124



Appendix B 

11 
 

The figures for this KPI remained the same between April and August 2020, but 
dropped by 778 in September, due to a change in the methodology for counting 
businesses, which adjusted the figures to take account of those businesses with 
multiple premises. The original figure was based on the number of hereditaments 
(that is, rate-paying premises), but the application of a filter to the recording system 
meant that businesses with multiple premises could be identified and their additional 
premises removed from the count. However, the original figure of 3,245 
hereditaments has dropped slightly to 3,239 and is likely to drop further as the 
economy worsens. 

 
Comparison Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Drop from last 
year’s figures 

0.6% 1.6% 1.0% 0.9% 0.8% 1.3%       

 
Due to the impact of the lockdown on the income of a small proportion of residents in 
May 2020, the collection figures dipped by 1.6% compared to the same time last 
year. However, collection rates later picked up as the lockdown eased, so that by 
August the gap was down to 0.8%, however September 2020 saw the gap increase. 
to 1.3%. Looking forward, the gap is expected to grow significantly as the furlough 
scheme winds down and more residents lose their jobs. In addition, although tax 
recovery has resumed, the enforcement courts are likely to remain closed until next 
year. For these reasons, a red status is anticipated for the November figure. 

9
.0

%
 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

2
6
.9

%
 

3
6
.0

%
 

4
5
.1

%
 

5
4
.2

%
 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2.2.1 Council Tax collected (cumulative %) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Amber 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = within 
1% of last year 
Red = over 2% 
below last year 

125



Appendix B 

12 
 

 
Comparison Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Drop from last 
year’s figures 

1.8% 6.8% 5.7% 6.9% 7.1% 8.0%       

 
The pandemic has had a significant impact on the collection of business rates. In 
common with Council Tax, the gap between the collection rate for May this year 
compared to last year saw a notable rise. Due to many businesses experiencing 
significant financial challenges as a result of the lockdown, the recovery of tax was 
deliberately delayed for 6 months and only commenced again in October 2020. The 
gap between this year’s and last year’s figures dropped slightly in June as the 
lockdown eased, but then grew again and had widened to 8.0% by September. 
Unfortunately, it is unlikely that the trend for the gap to widen will be reversed, or 
even stabilised, in the next quarter. 

 
*Occupancy rate is calculated on the basis of the space occupied. The Business centre was 
closed in April and May 2020 due to Covid-19 lockdown measures. 

In line with government social-distancing guidelines the Eastleigh Business Centre 
was closed from the end of March to mid-June 2020. Five businesses returned when 
the Centre partially re-opened in mid-June, while a further seven returned during July 
and three more during August. Although the Centre was fully re-opened on 1 

7
.6

%
 

1
3
.2

%
 

2
3
.0

%
 

3
0
.9

%
 

3
9
.4

%
 

4
7
.2

%
 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2.2.2 Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business rates) 
collected (cumulative %) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = within 
1% of last year 
Red = over 2% 
below last year 

0
%

 

0
%

 9
%

 

1
2
%

 

6
0
%

 

6
8
%

 

6
9
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2.3 Occupancy rate at Eastleigh Business Centre (%)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 84% or 

more 
Red = less than 

80% 

126



Appendix B 

13 
 

September 2020, 6 businesses decided not to return when the licence charges were 
re-applied as they preferred to work from home and / or suffered cashflow problems. 
With current COVID-19 restrictions on safe distancing in lifts, stairwells and 
passages, the maximum occupancy rate for Wessex House is around 70%. This 
means that the 69% figure achieved for October 2020 is unlikely to be exceeded and 
therefore it makes sense to consider adjustments to the target thresholds. Currently, 
51 businesses are based at Wessex House. 

 
*Figures only began being collected in June 2019. The KPI definition was changed in April 
2020 from 5 days to 15 days. 

The large number and volatility of Council Tax work items received each month 
means that the number of outstanding Council Tax queries needs to be continually 
monitored to prevent the build-up of a significant backlog. Although the KPI for 
outstanding queries maintained a green status for the 6 months leading up to 
August, it moved slightly above the red threshold in August. This rise was attributed 
to temporary factors, including staff annual leave, the restart of tax recovery, and the 
release of a contractor, whose role was filled by less experienced permanent staff. 
Unfortunately, a further and significant rise in the backlog occurred in September and 
this was attributed to a significant increase in the volume of customer requests, 
COVID-related account changes and the performance of statutory reviews. However, 
all but 9 customers received a response within 4 weeks, and all received a response 
within 5 weeks. Daily monitoring continues to monitor performance and current, 
measures include selective overtime, the postponement of the planned release of 
the two remaining contractors and the implementation of process improvements.  

15 3 7 4 37 
206 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2.4 Council Tax - Customers with outstanding account 
queries older than 15 days (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 

than 20 
Red = 30 or 

more 

127



Appendix B 

14 
 

 
*Figures only began being collected in July 2019.  

Actuals  
(completed/ 

received) 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 - - - 
9,498/
8,241 

10,503
/9,099 

10,071 
/9,041 

10,657 
/9,499 

8,062 
/7,431 

7,615/
6,662 

10,112
/9,065 

9,099/
7,580 

10,085
/7,195 

2020/21 
9,860/
9,339 

7,368/
5,640 

8,289/
8,093 

9,360/
9,260 

7,980/
7,689 

8,975/
8,716 

      

 
The figures for the percentage of Council Tax work items completed versus those 
received each month has maintained a positive balance since records began in July 
2019, when significant progress was being made in reducing the large Council Tax 
work backlog. It should be noted that the work items recorded for this KPI do not 
take into account essential project work that is currently being prioritised by the Case 
Management team and that, for the time being, is adding to the time required to 
action Council Tax queries. 

3 Health and wellbeing 

 
*Theatres were closed from mid-March 2020 onwards due to the Covid-19 lockdown and the 
subsequent social-distancing measures imposed by the government.  

1
0
6
%

 

1
3
0
%

 

1
0
2
%

 

1
0
1
%

 

1
0
4
%

 

1
0
3
%

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

160%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2.5 Council Tax - Work items completed vs. received (%)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 100% 

or more 
Red = less than 

90% 

0
%

 

0
%

 

0
%

 

0
%

 

0
%

 

3
5
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.1.1 Attendance at The Point & Berry Theatres, 
including café (%)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 50% or 

more 
Red = less than 

40% 

128



Appendix B 

15 
 

See commentary under next chart. 

 
 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

% of monthly 
target achieved 

118% 125% 52% 19% 40% 316%       

Cumulative 
figure 

2,961 6,074 7,368 7,841 8,832 16,737       

 
Following the closure of the theatre venues in mid-March 2020 as a result of the 
pandemic, the focus of the Council’s arts and culture activities was shifted towards 
increased online participation. It therefore made sense for a participation KPI to be 
added to the one for venue attendance. Although the monthly figure for participation 
will vary significantly depending on the online activities that have been scheduled, 
the total figure is currently on target to meet the 30,000 target that has been set for 
the end of the financial year. In mid-September 2020, the first steps were taken 
towards the re-opening of The Point with the relaunch of its Café Bar and customers 
to the café are responsible for the venue attendance figures shown for September 
2020. 

 
*Variable monthly target set on basis of annual target and previous year’s monthly figures. 

 2
,9

6
1

  

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

 1
,2

9
4

  

 4
7
3
  

 9
9
1
  

 7
,9

0
5

  
0

1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000
6,000
7,000
8,000
9,000

10,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.1.2 Participation in Arts and Culture 
activities (number) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 2,500 

or more 
Red = less than 

2,250 

7
,1

2
0
 1

6
,1

1
0
 

1
8
,5

7
0

 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

2
9
,9

1
8
 

2
5
,6

4
0
 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.2 Visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park (number)* 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 90% or 
more of target 

Red = less than 
70% of target 

129



Appendix B 

16 
 

  Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Target 
2019/20 23,000 20,700 20,700 23,000 29,900 20,700 23,000 13,800 11,500 13,800 16,100 13,800 

2020/21 28,800 24,000 18,570 26,400 31,200 21,600 21,600 14,400 16,800 9,600 12,000 12,000 

% of 
target 

achieved 

2019/20 110% 108% 92% 106% 97% 118% 79% 93% 148% 99% 67% 77% 

2020/21 25% 67% 86% 112%  96% 119%       

 

Unsurprisingly, IVCP visitor numbers dropped considerably following the imposition 
of the COVID-19 lockdown in mid-March 2020. Although the lockdown rules were 
relaxed during June 2020, key services at IVCP, such as toilets, café, play areas and 
programming, remained closed. Despite this, the positive figures achieved in June 
indicated the likelihood of a speedy return to pre-lockdown levels over the Summer. 
This was confirmed by the July and August figures which, boosted by the re-opening 
(in accordance with government guidance on social distancing) of toilets, café, play 
areas and visitor activities - were the highest recorded in the last 28 months. The 
September figure also maintained a green status and was above that achieved in 
either September 2019 or September 2018. Measures to reduce the spread of 
Covid-19 will, however, continue to impose restrictions on large gatherings, events, 
the café, and room hire, which are all operating at reduced or modified capacity in 
accordance with the government’s social distancing guidance. 

 
*Session venues were closed from March to July 2020 due to Covid-19 lockdown measures. 

The requirement for social distancing due to the pandemic meant that all 
HealthWorks sessions were cancelled between March and July 2020. Because 
HealthWorks caters for a high-risk group, particular care is required to protect 
participants from exposure to Covid-19. However, some suitable outdoor and online 
activities are being planned, while HealthWalks was re-started in August 2020 using 
a booking system to ensure a maximum of five walkers to a walking leader. 

0 0 0 0 38 
154 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.3.1 Attendance at HealthWorks sessions (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = more 

than 1,488 
Red = 1,138 or 

less 

130



Appendix B 

17 
 

 
*Sessions were cancelled from February to July 2020 due to Covid-19 lockdown measures. 
Figures in August increase due to the holding of ParkSports. 

Due to the requirement for social distancing, all SportsWorks sessions were 
cancelled between February and July 2020. However, from August onwards, 
programmes started being delivered virtually, as well as on the basis of social 
distancing guidelines issued by the National Governing Bodies (NGBs) for sports. 
ParkSport was run in August with a focus on the use of parks and open spaces, 
although the restrictions imposed by Covid-19 meant that the number of sessions 
(1,493) was around 40% of the number in August 2019 (3,970). Online engagement 
with Park Sport’s Virtual Challenges continued beyond August, although numbers 
have since dropped. While Friday Night Football is due to restart (in line with 
government guidance) at the beginning of November, most SportsWorks activities 
will have to move online for the foreseeable future. 

 
*PLE was closed from April to July 2020 due to Covid-19 lockdown measures. Because PLE 
staff were placed on furlough, figures are not available for March 2020.  

Places Leisure Eastleigh (PLE) was closed between April and July 2020 because of 
the requirement for social distancing. PLE subsequently re-opened on the 3rd of 
August 2020, but on a pre-booking basis only and with restricted capacity on all 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

1
2
2
 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.3.2 Attendance at SportWorks sessions (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = more 

than 508 
Red = 388 or 

less 

F
ig

u
re

s
 u

n
a

v
a

il
a

b
le

 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

2
2
,6

8
8

 

3
4
,3

3
1
 

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.4 Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 91,166 

or more 
Red = less than 

80,000 

131



Appendix B 

18 
 

activities in accordance with government guidelines. Due to the restrictions, the 
number of visits to PLE in September 2020 (34,331) was 43% of the number 
recorded in September 2019 (79,585). Visitor numbers are being carefully monitored 
against the PLE’s capacity under the conditions imposed by the pandemic, however 
the priority is to ensure the PLE is running safely as a Covid-secure facility. 

 

Strictly speaking, this is not a KPI, but a workload indicator. The number of 
households on the register moved up by 100 between January and June 2020, and 
then rose by 39 between July and August, before dropping back by 36 in September. 
The current average for 2020/21 is 1,874, which is 100 (or around 6%) more than the 
2019/20 average of 1,774. 

 
*From July 2020 onwards waiting time data is collated on a quarterly basis. Hampshire 
HomeChoice uses bands to prioritise housing applications: band 1 = urgent, band 2 = high, 
band 3 = medium and band 4 = low. There are few band 1 and 4 applications and their average 
waiting times vary greatly between months, so the most reliable measure of overall waiting 
time is the combined average waiting time for bands 2 and 3. 

This KPI showed a steady decrease in the average waiting time between April 2018 
(41.2 months) and June 2020 (23.3 months). This positive trend reflected the impact 

1
,8

3
8
 

1
,8

7
5

 

1
,8

8
4
 

1
,8

6
8
 

1
,9

0
7
 

1
,8

7
1
 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.5 Households on housing register (number) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 

No target as 
dependent on 
applications, 
eligibility etc. 
Average for 

2019/20 was 
1,774 

2
4
.2

 

2
4
.4

 

2
3
.3

 

2
5
.5

 

2
5
.5

 

2
5
.5

 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.6 Average waiting time for 
band 2 and 3 properties (months)* 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest quarter = 
Green 

Previous 
quarter = Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 36.7 or 

less 
Red = more 

than 36.7 

132



Appendix B 

19 
 

of a relatively high level of house building in the Borough. More recently, the collation 
of waiting list data shifted to a quarterly basis and the latest quarter showed a slight 
rise in the average waiting time of just over 2 months, which reflects a small 
reduction in the housing supply, particularly of Housing Association lettings. 

 

Strictly speaking, this is not a KPI as its level depends to a significant extent on the 
number of individuals that become vulnerable due to homelessness. The current 
average figure for 2020/21 (10.5 cases) is significantly below the monthly average 
for 2019/20 (17.5 cases), and concerns were raised that this financial year’s figures 
were being significantly under-reported as a result of workload pressures that limited 
the time Housing Case Management Officers (CMOs) had to deal with the requisite 
paperwork. However, the recent addition of 2 newly trained Housing CMOs means 
that the number of Housing CMOs is now at the full establishment number of 6, 
which should ensure the under-reporting concerns are fully addressed. 

 
*Figures only began being collected in January 2020. 

See commentary under next chart. 

10 10 

14 
12 

10 
7 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.7 Homeless cases prevented through 
intervention of housing advice (number) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
None 

 
No target as 

dependent on 
applications, 
eligibility etc. 
Average for 
2019/20 was 

17.5 

159 

274 

202 
181 

161 
182 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.8.1 New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit) 
claims received (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
None 

 
No target set 

(workload 
indicator) 

133



Appendix B 

20 
 

 

Following the lockdown in March 2020, the time taken to process new benefit claims 
moved from a green to an amber status as a result of the increased number of 
benefit claims submitted by residents who had lost their jobs. The number of new 
claims reached a peak of 274 in May, but has since dropped to 182 in September, 
although it remains significantly above that in January and February, when it was 
less than 100. Despite the relatively high number of new claims, September also saw 
the processing time shift back to a green status, with the lowest figure seen since 
November 2019 (17.9). This is a positive achievement and was helped by the return 
of a member of staff from sick leave and the implementation of an additional, 
efficiency-improving IT module. Looking forwards, it seems likely that there will be an 
increase in benefit claims as the furlough scheme winds down, so the situation is 
being carefully monitored. 

 

This KPI, like the previous one, saw an increase during April and May, although it 
remained under the green threshold. The processing time did reduce in June, but at 
7.5 in September it remained above the 2019/20 average of 7.2. 

2
2
.9

 

2
3
.4

 

2
5
.6

 

2
3
.5

 

2
4
.8

 

1
9
.8

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.8.2 Time to process new benefit claims (days) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Amber 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 
than 22 days 

Red = 26 days 
or more 

7.2 
8.2 

7.5 7.2 7.4 7.5 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.9 Time to process benefit 
change events (days) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 
than 9 days 

Red = 11 days 
or more 

134



Appendix B 

21 
 

 
*Due to Covid-10 social distancing measures, contractors were not working on site in April 
and May 2020. 

Complex 
DFGs as % of 

all DFGs 
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2020/21 N/A N/A 33% 50% 40% 40%       

 

Due to the lockdown, no site visits or building works occurred between mid-March 
2020 and May 2020. However, these recommenced in June and all complex 
Disability Facility Grants (DFG) projects were completed within the Service Level 
Agreement (SLA) in June and July. Nevertheless, the pandemic is having a delaying 
effect on the commencement of building work and this is impacting completion times. 
Other factors outside the control of the DFG service, also added delays to the 
projects undertaken in August and September, resulting in the assigned red status. 
In August, the completion figure dropped to 50% as one of the two complex DFG 
projects due for completion had further adaptations added twice when completion 
was near. In September, the figure dropped again to 25%, although two of the four 
complex DFGs due to be completed were only just over the SLA. A third project was 
delayed by the need for consultations with a wide range of stakeholders before 
approval was granted. The service is closely monitoring the project timescales and is 
working to ensure the factors within its control are progressed in a timely manner. 

0
%

 

0
%

 

1
0
0
%

 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

5
0
%

 

2
5
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

3.10 Complex DFGs completed within 300 days (%)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 85% or 

more 
Red = less than 

80% 

135



Appendix B 

22 
 

4 Housing and development 

 
*Figures are only available on a quarterly basis. The target threshold is based on the 5-year 
land supply targets and the annual housing requirement for the period April 2019 to March 
2024. The Q1 2020 figure is an interim one only. 

The number of net additional homes delivered rose during the course of the 2019/20 
financial year to reach a peak of 443 in the last quarter. Only a provisional figure for 
the first quarter of 2020/21 is currently available until the National House-Building 
Council (NHBC) certificates have been submitted, although the confirmed figure is 
expected to be a little higher. Either way, the first quarter figure will be a lot lower 
than last year as a result of the COVID-19 lockdown, which meant that construction 
work ceased for a significant period of time. It is currently too early to say what 
impact the pandemic will have on housing delivery going forward, although the state 
of the economy will undoubtedly play a significant role. The Housing Board are 
carefully monitoring the situation in order to respond appropriately. 

 
*Figures only began being collected in July 2019. 

237 248 
295 

443 

45 
N

o
t 

a
v
a
il

a
b

le
 y

e
t 

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

4.1 Net additional homes delivered (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest quarter = 
Not available 

Previous 
quarter = Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 189 or 

more 
Red = less than 

189 

0 0 0 0 0 0 
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

4.2 Affordable units funded by 
New Home Bonus (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
No target set 

Previous month 
= No target set 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
To be decided 

136



Appendix B 

23 
 

No affordable units were funded from the New Homes Bonus (NHB) during the 
2019/20 financial year, and none have so far been funded for 2020/21. This was due 
to the timing and completion of affordable units, as well as the efficient use of other 
funds, such as developers' contributions. In March 2020 the Housing Programme 
was reorganised and two sites were identified for in-house delivery, which will 
include spend of NHB if feasible. A project with Development Management was also 
launched to identify developers’ sites for NHB spend. 

 
Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 1/1 0/0 1/2 1/2 0/0 2/2 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/3 1/1 3/3 
2020/21 0/0 0/1 0/0 2/2 5/5 2/2       

 
See commentary beneath chart 4.3.3. 

 
Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 13/15 9/11 8/8 14/19 9/13 8/13 11/19 6/11 10/14 5/6 5/8 6/11 
2020/21 7/10  9/12 7/8 5/10 5/6 1/2       

 
See commentary beneath chart 4.3.3. 

N
o

 a
p

p
li

c
a
ti

o
n

s
 

N
o

 a
p

p
li

c
a
ti

o
n

s
 

N
o

 a
p

p
li

c
a
ti

o
n

s
 

0
%

 

N
o

 a
p

p
li

c
a
ti

o
n

s
 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

1
0
0
%

 

1
0
0
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

4.3.1 Major planning applications 
processed within statutory timeframe (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 60% or 

more 
Red = less than 

60% 

7
0
%

 

7
5
%

 

8
7
%

 

5
0
%

 

8
3
%

 

5
0
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

4.3.2 Minor planning applications 
processed within statutory timeframe (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 65% or 

more 
Red = less than 

65% 

137



Appendix B 

24 
 

 
Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 52/59 56/57 49/51 52/59 56/60 37/41 52/55 41/46 45/48 39/42 26/27 51/56 
2020/21 37/39 43/48 34/40 44/49 37/38 56/60       

 
Apart from the May figure for Major applications and the July and September figures 
for Minor applications, all the monthly figures for the processing of planning 
applications have, so far, been above target for the 2020/21 financial year. The 
missed targets were attributed to Covid-19 restrictions or to extra time needed for 
publicity or for negotiating with the applicant, so remedial action has not been 
required. Given the significant challenges posed by the pandemic to the performance 
of planning activities, the low number of targets missed represents a positive 
achievement. 

 
Actuals 

(allowed of 
all appeals 
/decisions) 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 
2 of 6 
/131 

2 of 3 
/113 

0 of 3 
/61 

0 of 0 
/87 

2 of 9 
/73 

1 of 4 
/56 

0 of 4 
/79 

0 of 0 
/63 

3 of 4 
/66 

0 of 3 
/51 

2 of 3 
/32 

1 of 3 
/136 

2020/21 
0 of 0 
/114 

0 of 0 
/112 

0 of 2 
/85 

0 of 0 
/110 

1 of 5 
/93 

1 of 2 
/132 

      

 

9
5
%

 

8
9
%

 

8
5
%

 

9
0
%

 

9
7
%

 

9
2
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

4.3.3 Other planning applications 
processed within statutory timeframe (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 80% or 

more 
Red = less than 

80% 

0
%

 

0
%

 

0
%

 

0
%

 1
.1

%
 

0
.8

%
 

0%
1%
2%
3%
4%
5%
6%
7%
8%
9%

10%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

4.4 Planning appeals allowed as a proportion 
of all planning application decisions (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 

than 10% 
Red = 10% or 

more 

138



Appendix B 

25 
 

This KPI has maintained a green status from April 2019 until now. No appeals were 
received in July and November 2019 or in April, May and July 2020. 

5 Organisation 

 

See commentary beneath the next chart. 

 
Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 - - - - - 71/92 36/60 20/28   19/44 17/53 15/51 14/30 
2020/21 12/28 8/31 16/39 15/61 26/69 34/86       

 

The PA Team have been overseeing the complaints process including monitoring 
figures closely to ascertain the reason why some complaints are still not being 
closed within the time set by the Service Level Agreement (SLA). As a result, the 
backlog has been cleared, performance has started to improve and responsibility for 
oversight of this work has now been passed to the Service Delivery Case 
Management Team. 

28 
31 

43 
40 

46 

36 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.1 Customer complaints (number) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
No target set 

Previous month 
= No target set 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
No target 

4
3
%

 

2
6
%

 4
1
%

 

2
5
%

 

3
8
%

 

4
0
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.2 Corporate complaints outside SLA (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 

than 25% 
Red = 25% or 

more 

139



Appendix B 

26 
 

  
*The number of calls ‘handled’ refers to the number of calls answered by the switchboard 

Strictly speaking, this is not a KPI as its level depends on the number of individuals 
who decide to ring the Customer Service Centre (CSC). However, it has been 
retained as it provides useful information for management purposes. Currently, the 
average number of calls for this financial year is 418 per working day, which is 
significantly lower than the average of 520 for 2019/20. The removal of the Council 
Tax backlog (and its associated failure demand) is likely to have contributed to the 
fall in call numbers. 

 
*The number of calls ‘offered’ refers to the number of calls received, and not all of these will 
have been answered or ‘handled’. 

Green 
target 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 80% 85% 85% 85% 90% 90% 85% 85% 85% 85% 90% 90% 
2020/21 80% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85%       

 
A reduction in sickness absence between April and July 2020 had a positive impact 
on performance, although performance dropped to amber in August and September 

4
1
9
 

3
9
7
 

4
4
3
 

4
2
3
 

4
1
5
 

4
1
3
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.3 CSC - Calls handled* 
(average number per working day) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
None 

 
No target set 

(workload 
indicator) 

8
7
%

 

9
0
%

 

8
7
%

 

8
7
%

 

8
3
%

 

8
1
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.4 CSC - Calls answered vs. offered (%)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Amber 

Previous month 
= Amber 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = varies 

(see table) 
Red = less than 

80% 

140



Appendix B 

27 
 

2020 as a result of limited availability of trained staff. This was due to a combination 
of vacant posts and new recruits, with 1 full-time equivalent (FTE) vacant post and 
1.5 FTE staff members commencing employment (and therefore requiring training) in 
September. 

 

This KPI has so far remained above target throughout the 2020/1 financial year, 
while the average percentage achieved (63.2%) is very close to that for the 2019/20 
financial year (63.6%). 

 

Corporate sickness has risen from a low of 5.5 days in January 2020 to 8.0 days 
in September. Apart from an increase in sickness absence in the StreetScene 
team, the main reason for the rise has been a small number of long-term 
sickness cases, which encompass chronic conditions, injury and stress. The 
pandemic has also resulted in some staff not being able to easily access the 
treatment they require, and this has delayed their return. 

6
6
%

 

6
5
%

 

6
3
%

 

6
1
%

 

6
3
%

 

6
1
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.5 CSC - Customer interactions 
resolved at first point of contact (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 60% or 

more 
Red = less than 

50% 

7.2 7.4 7.5 7.5 7.5 
8.0 

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.6 Corporate sickness 
(average number of days lost per person) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = less 
than 7.5 days 

Red = 7.5 days 
or more 

141



Appendix B 

28 
 

 

The definition and calculation of this KPI has been adjusted to exclude staff moving 
posts within the organisation, since such changes usually represent a positive 
change, rather than a resource loss to the organisation. Measured over a rolling 12-
month period, staff turnover has gradually fallen from 13% in May 2020 to 9% in 
August 2020. Although the figure rose slightly to 10% in September, this remains 
significantly lower than the peak of 16% that was reached in April 2019 

 
*FOI = Freedom of Information. EIR = Environmental Information Regulations. Both types of 
requests are regulated by the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO).  

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2019/20 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 53/53 64/70 64/67 39/41 74/70 66/79 
2020/21 40/46 30/33 33/34 54/56 36/38 52/56       

 
The status of this KPI has remained green since May. The ICO temporarily relaxed 
the Service Level Agreement (SLA) for FOI and EIR requests in March 2020, so 
strictly speaking this KPI could also have been granted a green status for April 2020. 
The average figure for this financial year so far is 93%, which is 6% higher than the 
average for 2019/20. 

1
3
%

 

1
3
%

 

1
2
%

 

1
0
%

 

9
%

 

1
0
%

 

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.7 Staff turnover (% of people voluntarily resigning 
cf. total headcount for rolling 12 month period) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 15% or 

less 
Red = more 
than 18% 

8
7
%

 

9
1
%

 

9
7
%

 

9
6
%

 

9
5
%

 

9
3
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.8 FOI / EIR* requests responded to within SLA (%) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Green 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = more 

than 90% 
Red = 85% or 

less 

142



Appendix B 

29 
 

 

This KPI dropped significantly between June (75%) and September 2020 (54%) 
2020. Although some processing errors (now fixed) by payment officers added a few 
delays, most delays were caused by invoices arriving late to Finance in the approval 
process. The number of late arrivals was probably higher than normal because more 
of the staff responsible for authorising payments were on holiday leave. Action is 
being planned to encourage quicker authorisation. 

 
*Cancelled cases were removed from the figures for September 2020 onwards.  

See commentary beneath next chart. 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

[V
A

L
U

E
] 

7
5
%

 

6
6
%

 

6
5
%

 

5
4
%

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.9 Invoices paid within 10 days (%)  

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Red 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 75% or 

more 
Red = less than 

70% 

 3
,4

8
8

  

 3
,0

3
9

  

 4
,2

6
8
  

 4
,4

6
7

  

 6
,6

5
6

  

 4
,3

5
8

  

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.10.1 Cases raised across all 
service areas (number)* 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
No specific 

target, but aim 
for month on 

month increase 

143



Appendix B 

30 
 

 
*Cancelled cases were removed from the figures for September 2020 onwards.  

The number of cases raised by staff more than doubled between May and August 
2020. However, the September figures fell sharply after it became possible to filter 
out all the cancelled cases and remove them from the statistics. The filtration 
process will now be applied to all future statistics, so that the level of cases recorded 
in September is likely to become the ‘new normal’. Because most of the cases 
removed were of short duration, this would explain why the case duration figure for 
September increased. Areas within Support Services are working to funnel more 
activities into the Case Management System and thereby support the corporate drive 
towards greater reliance on the use of the case management methodology. 

 

See commentary beneath next chart. 

 12  
 15  

 17  
15 15 

18 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.10.2 Average case duration for cases raised 
across all service areas (working days)*  

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
Green = 15 
days or less 
Red = more 
than 15 days 

 9   10  

 30   33  
39 

18 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.11.1 Cases raised via Members' Hub (number) 

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↑ 

 
RAG status: 

Latest month = 
Red 

Previous month 
= Green 

 
RAG 

thresholds: 
No specific 

target, but aim 
for month on 

month increase 

144



Appendix B 

31 
 

 

The number of cases raised via the Members’ Hub dropped in September 2020. It is 
likely that this occurred because more requests from Councillors were sent in via 
email, rather than as cases. Activities will therefore be undertaken to help promote 
and support the adoption of the Members’ Hub by councillors. 

83 

42 44 

8 

40 

24 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

5.11.2 Average case duration for cases raised via 
Members' Hub (working days)   

2019/20 2020/21

Polarity: 
Better = ↓ 

 
No target 

currently set 

145



This page is intentionally left blank



Original Rolling Actual Budget

Budget Budget Sep-20 Remaining

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

PROGRAMME BOARD £ £ £ £

Climate & Environmental Emergency -                          24,959,000 25,900 24,933,100

Housing 57,312,250             66,662,000 17,795,000 48,867,000

Infrastructure 331,090                  21,786,000 484,700 21,301,300

Investment Property -                          -                      -                      0

IT 350,000                  741,000 461,150 279,850

Leisure * -                          221,000 -140,000 361,000

Regeneration 16,445,100             7,546,000 1,508,000 6,038,000

LAC - Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath 1,000,000               1,651,000 81,600 1,569,400

LAC - Bursledon, Hamble & Hound -                          333,000 7,800 325,200

LAC - Chandler's Ford & Hiltingbury 107,500                  385,000 34,200                350,800

LAC - Eastleigh -                          3,838,000 443,960 3,394,040

LAC - Hedge End, West End & Botley -                          4,450,000 626,000 3,824,000

75,545,940 132,572,000 21,328,310 111,243,690

* Negative values are in respect of the Council's policy on funding retentions in advance of payment, once

Retentions have been settled, these will balance to zero

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

QUARTER 2 - 2020/21
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 C

147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Total Annual Capital Expenditure 36,903 132,580 62,365 32,115 51,744

% % % %

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 72.2 69.6 90.0 104.5
Percentage that Interest & Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is of 
the net annual budget.

Net borrowing requirement £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       Brought forward 1 April 446,871 484,748 589,765 637,484 655,710
       Carried forward 31 March 484,748 589,765 637,484 655,710 703,726
       In year borrowing requirement 37,877 105,017 47,719 18,226 48,016

Capital financing requirement as at 31 March 494,333 599,350 647,069 665,295 713,311 Total value of capital spend financed from borrowing.

Annual change in capital financing requirement (CFR) 15,001 105,017 47,719 18,226 48,016
Net impact that capital spend less MRP has on the CFR. When MRP 
exceeds the spend this will be negative.

Net debt and the capital financing requirement
Net debt as at 31st March 484,748 589,765 637,484 655,710 703,726 Estimated total funds borrowed.

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £ p £ p £ p £ p £ p
on the Council Tax

       Cumulative impact of all decisions taken at Full Council (236.73) (240.12) (216.53) (195.82) (186.36)
This is an indicator of the annual impact of the Community Investment 
Programme on Council Tax. ( ) indicate a benefit.

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Authorised limit for external debt £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       Borrowing 493,333 598,350 646,069 664,295 712,310
       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,001
       Total 494,333 599,350 647,069 665,295 713,311

Operational boundary for external debt
       Borrowing 472,333 577,350 625,069 643,295 691,309
       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,001
       Total 473,333 578,350 626,069 644,295 692,310

% % % % %
Upper limit for fixed rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100 100

% % % % %
Upper limit for variable rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100 100

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Upper limit for total principal sums invested >364 days 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing Upper
Limit

%
       under 12 months 100 Note - the Council has no Housing Revenue
       12 months and within 24 months 100 Account (HRA) and therefore all indicators
       24 months and within 5 years 100 refer to non-HRA amounts
       5 years and within 10 years 100
       10 years and above 100

Based on the Authority's estimate of most likely requirement for 
external debt.

This section of indicators reflect the limits attributed to long term 
borrowing with a fixed Interest rate. The Council keep these limits at 
100% to ensure that an instant change can be made to long term 
borrowing when approved by the Treasury Management Group.

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS Notes

Annual actual borrowing estimates.

The affordable borrowing limit determined in compliance with the 
Local Government Act 2003. This sum can not exceed the CFR.

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS SEPTEMBER 2020

149



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E 

 

Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 

 
 
Introduction   

 
The Authority has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 

Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the CIPFA Code) which requires the 

Authority to approve treasury management semi-annual and annual reports. 

The Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2020/21 was approved by full Council in February 

2020. The Authority has borrowed substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial 

risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The 

successful identification, monitoring and control of risk remains central to the Authority’s treasury 

management strategy. 

The 2017 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to provide a Capital Strategy, 

a summary document approved by full Council covering capital expenditure and financing, treasury 

management and non-treasury investments. The Authority’s Capital Strategy, complying with 

CIPFA’s requirement, was also approved by full Council in February 2020. 

External Context 

 
Economic background: The spread of the coronavirus pandemic dominated during the period as 

countries around the world tried to manage the delicate balancing act of containing transmission of 

the virus while easing lockdown measures and getting their populations and economies working 

again. After a relatively quiet few months of Brexit news it was back in the headlines towards the 

end of the period as agreement between the UK and EU on a trade deal was looking difficult. 

The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.1% and its Quantitative Easing programme 

at £745 billion. The potential use of negative interest rates was not ruled in or out by BoE 

policymakers, but then a comment in the September Monetary Policy Committee meeting minutes 

that the central bank was having a harder look at its potential impact than was previously suggested 

took financial markets by surprise. 

Government initiatives continued to support the economy, with the furlough (Coronavirus Job 

Retention) scheme keeping almost 10 million workers in jobs, grants and loans to businesses and 

100 million discounted meals being claimed during the ‘Eat Out to Help Out’ (EOHO) offer.  

GDP growth contracted by 19.8% (revised from first estimate -20.4%) in Q2 2020 (Apr-Jun) 

according to the Office for National Statistics, pushing the annual growth rate down to -21.5% (first 

estimate -21.7%). Construction output fell by 35% over the quarter, services output by almost 20% 

and production by 16%. Recent monthly estimates of GDP have shown growth recovering, with the 

latest rise of almost 7% in July, but even with the two previous monthly gains this still only makes up 

half of the lost output. 

The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) fell to 0.2% year/year in August, further 

below the Bank of England’s 2% target, with the largest downward contribution coming from 

restaurants and hotels influenced by the EOHO scheme.  The Office for National Statistics’ 

preferred measure of CPIH which includes owner-occupied housing was 0.5% y/y. 

 
In the three months to July, labour market data showed the unemployment rate increased from 

3.9% to 4.1% while wages fell 1% for total pay in nominal terms (0.2% regular pay) and was down 

151



 

  2 

1.8% in real terms (-0.7% regular pay).  The BoE has forecast unemployment could hit a peak of 

between 8% and 9%. 

The US economy contracted at an annualised rate of 31.7% in Q2 2020 (Apr-Jun). The Federal 

Reserve maintained the Fed Funds rate at between 0% and 0.25% but announced a change to its 

inflation targeting regime. The move is to a more flexible form of average targeting which will allow 

the central bank to maintain interest rates at low levels for an extended period to support the 

economy even when inflation is ‘moderately’ above the 2% average target, particularly given it has 

been below target for most of the last decade. 

The European Central Bank maintained its base rate at 0% and deposit rate at -0.5%. 

Financial markets: Equity markets continued their recovery, with the Dow Jones climbing to not far 

off its pre-crisis peak. The FTSE 100 and 250 have made up around half of their losses at the height 

of the pandemic in March. Central bank and government stimulus packages continue to support 

asset prices, but volatility remains. 

Ultra-low interest rates and the flight to quality continued, keeping gilts yields low but volatile over 

the period with the yield on some short-dated UK government bonds remaining negative. The 5-year 

UK benchmark gilt yield started and ended the June–September period at -0.06% (with much 

volatility in between).  

Credit review:  

There continues to remain much uncertainty around the extent of the losses banks and building 

societies will suffer due to the impact from the coronavirus pandemic and for the UK institutions 

there is the added complication of the end of the Brexit transition period on 31
st
 December and what 

a trade deal may or may not look like.  

 

Local Context 

 
On 31

st
 March 2020, the Authority had net borrowing of £436m arising from its revenue and capital 

income and expenditure. The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are the underlying 

resources available for investment. These factors are summarised in Table 1 below. 

 
Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary 

 

 

Lower official interest rates have lowered the cost of short-term, temporary loans and investment 

returns from cash assets that can be used in lieu of borrowing. The Authority pursued its strategy of 

keeping borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, sometimes known as internal 

borrowing, in order to reduce risk.  

 

The treasury management position on 30
th
 September 2020 and the change over the six months is 

shown in Table 2 below. 

 

 
31.3.20 
Balance 

£’000 

General Fund CFR 494,333 

Total Borrowing 484,748 

Internal Borrowing 9,585 

152



 

  3 

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary 

 
31.3.20 
Balance 

£’000 

Movement 
£m 

30.9.20 
Balance 

£m 

30.9.20 
Rate 

% 

Long-term borrowing 

Short-term borrowing  

350,000 

134,748 

0 

-17,248 

350,000 

117,500 

1.92% 

0.07% 

Total borrowing 484,748 -17,248 467,500 1.46% 

Long-term investments 

Short-term investments 

Cash and cash equivalents 

9,219 

32,500 

4,254 

0 

-12,500 

-2122 

9,219 

20,000 

2,132 

3.00% 

0.08% 

0.01% 

Total investments 45,973 -14,622 31,351 0.93% 

Net borrowing 438,775 -2,626 436,149 1.43% 

 

Net borrowing has decreased since the 31st March, predominantly due to income received from the 

Government for COVID payments and fluctuations in the authorities working capital requirements 

over the period. This has been used to offset borrowing until such time it is needed.  This is a 

prudent way to manage funds, reducing refinancing risk, and reducing interest costs to the Council. 

 

Borrowing Update 
 
On 9

th
 October 2019 the PWLB raised the cost of certainty rate borrowing to 1.8% above UK gilt 

yields making it more expensive.  

 

The Chancellor’s March 2020 Budget statement included significant changes to Public Works Loan 

Board (PWLB) policy and launched a wide-ranging consultation on the PWLB’s future direction. 

Announcements included a reduction in the margin on new Housing Revenue Account (HRA) loans 

to 0.80% above equivalent gilt yields. £1.15bn of additional “infrastructure rate” funding at gilt yields 

plus 0.60% has been made available to support specific local authority infrastructure projects for 

England, Scotland and Wales for which there is a bidding process.   

 

The consultation titled “Future Lending Terms” allows stakeholders to contribute to developing a 

system whereby PWLB loans can be made available at improved margins to support qualifying 

projects. It contains proposals to allow authorities that are not involved in “debt for yield” activity to 

borrow at lower rates as well as stopping local authorities using PWLB loans to buy commercial 

assets primarily for yield. The consultation also broaches the possibility of slowing, or stopping, 

individual authorities from borrowing large sums in specific circumstances. 

The consultation closed on 31
st
 July 2020 with the announcement and implementation of the revised 

lending terms expected in the latter part of this calendar year or early next year.  

Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA): The MBA revised its standard loan terms and framework 

agreement. Guarantees for the debt of other borrowers are now proportional and limited and a 

requirement to make contribution loans in the event of a default by a borrower has been introduced. 

The agency has issued 5-year floating rate and 40-year fixed rate bonds in 2020, in both instances 

Lancashire County Council is the sole borrower and guarantor.  

 
Borrowing Strategy during the period 
 
At 30

th
 September 2020 the Authority held £467.5m of loans, a decrease of £17.2m compared to 

31st March 2020, as part of its strategy for funding previous and current years’ capital programmes.  

This reduction is predominantly due to the reduction in investments over the period, therefore 

153



 

  4 

reducing the need to borrow. Outstanding loans on 30
th
 September are summarised in Table 3 

below. 

 

Table 3: Borrowing Position 

 

 

The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately low risk balance 

between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are 

required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term plans change being a 

secondary objective.  

 

 

Treasury Investment Activity  
 

The Authority holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of expenditure plus 

balances and reserves held.  During the year, the Authority’s investment balances ranged between 

£83m and £28m due to timing differences between income and expenditure. The investment 

position is shown in table 4 below. 

 

Table 4: Treasury Investment Position 

 

Investment Limits 
31.3.20 Balance 

£’000 

Net 
Movement 

£’000 

30.9.20 
Balance 

£’000 

30.9.20 
Income 

Return % 

Banks 4,254 -2122 2,132 0.01% 

Money Market Funds 32,500 -12,500 20,000 0.08% 

CCLA Property Fund 9,219 0 9,219 3.00% 

Total Investments 45,973 -14,622 31,351 0.93% 

 

 

In the light of the pandemic crisis and the likelihood of unexpected calls on cash flow, the Authority 

kept more cash available at very short notice than is normal. Liquid cash was diversified over 

several counterparties and Money Market Funds to manage both credit and liquidity risks.  

 

 

Externally Managed Pooled Funds:  

 

The Authority is invested in the CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund. The falls in the capital values 

of the underlying assets due to COVID 19, were reflected in the 31
st
 March 2020 fund valuations 

with the fund registering negative capital returns over a 12-month period.   

 

 
31.3.20 
Balance 

£’000 

Net 
Movement 

£’000 

30.9.20 
Balance 

£’000 

30.9.20 
Average 

Rate 
% 

Public Works Loan Board 351,000 -500 350,500 1.92% 

Local authorities 133,748 -16,748 117,000 0.07% 

Total Borrowing 484,748 -17,248 467,500 1.46% 

154



 

  5 

Like many other property funds, dealing (i.e. buying or selling units) in the CCLA Local Authorities 

Property Fund was suspended by the fund in March 2020.  The relative infrequency of property 

transactions in March as the pandemic intensified meant that it was not possible for valuers to be 

confident that their valuations correctly reflected prevailing conditions. To avoid material risk of 

disadvantage to buyers, sellers and holders of units in the property fund, the management company 

was obliged to suspend transactions until the required level of certainty is re-established. The 

dealing suspension was lifted in September 2020.  There has also been a change to redemption 

terms for the CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund; from September 2020 investors are required to 

give at least 90 calendar days’ notice for redemptions.  

 

Because the Authority’s externally managed funds have no defined maturity date, but are available 

for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the 

Authority’s investment objectives are regularly reviewed. Strategic fund investments are made in the 

knowledge that capital values will move both up and down on months, quarters and even years; but 

with the confidence that over a three- to five-year period total returns will exceed cash interest rates.  

 

In 2020/21 the Authority expects to receive significantly lower income from its cash and short-dated 

money market investments and from its externally managed funds than it did in 2019/20 and earlier 

years.  Dividends and income paid will ultimately depend on many factors including but not limited to 

the duration of COVID-19 and the extent of its economic impact and the funds sectoral investments. 

 

 

Compliance  

 

The Chief Financial Officer must report that treasury management activities undertaken during the 

first half of 2020/21 did not fully comply with the Authority’s approved Treasury Management 

Strategy. 

 

The limit on specified investments being a maximum of £10m with any single organisation was 

breached during April and into early May to ensure liquidity of funds during the initial COVID 19 

lockdown.  Please see table 5 below for more information 

 

Table 5: Investment Limits 

 

Q2 

Maximum 

£’000 

30.9.20 

Actual 

£’000 

2020/21 

Limit 

£’000 

Complied? 

 

Any single organisation, except the UK 
Government 

25,046 2,132 10,000 No 

Money Market Funds 10,000 10,000 10,000 Yes 

CCLA Property Fund 9,219 9,219 14,500 Yes 

 

Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is demonstrated in 

table 6 below.  Neither the Operational Boundary, not Authorised Limit were breached during the 

first half of 2020/21 

 

Table 6: Debt Limits 

 

2020.21 

Maximum 

£’000 

30.9.20 

Actual 
£’000 

2020/21 
Operational 
Boundary 

£’000 

2020/21 
Authorised 

Limit 

Complied? 

 

155



 

  6 

Borrowing 497,000 467,000 578,350 599,350 Yes 

 
Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not significant if the 

operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in cash flow, and this is not 

counted as a compliance failure.  

 

Treasury Management Indicators 

 

The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using the 

following indicators. 

 

Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 

monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.   

 

 
30.9.20 
Actual 

2020.21 
Target 

Complied
? 

Portfolio average credit score A A  

 

Liquidity: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by 

monitoring the amount it can borrow each quarter without giving prior notice. 

 

 
30.9.20 
Actual 

2020.21 
Target 

Complied 

Total sum borrowed in past 3 months without prior notice £0m £0m  

 
 
Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate 
risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the 
proportion of net principal borrowed was: 
 

 
30.9.20 
Actual 

2020.21 
Limit 

Complied
? 

Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure 75% 100%  

Upper limit on variable interest rate exposure 25% 100%  

 
Fixed rate investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is fixed for at least 12 

months, measured from the start of the financial year or the transaction date if later.  All other 

instruments are classed as variable rate. 

 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to 

refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of all borrowing were: 

 

 
30.9.20 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

Complied
? 

Under 12 months 25% 100% 0%  

12 months and within 24 months 0% 100% 0%  

24 months and within 5 years 0% 100% 0%  

5 years and within 10 years 29% 100% 0%  

10 years and above 46% 100% 0%  

 

156



 

  7 

 

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 365 days: The purpose of this indicator is to 

control the Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its 

investments.  The limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period 

end were: 

 

 
2018.19 

£’000 

2019.20 
£’000 

2020.21 
£’000 

Actual principal invested beyond year end 0 0 0 

Limit on principal invested beyond year end £14.5m £14.5m £14.5m 

 

 

Arlingclose’s Outlook for the remainder of 2020/21  

 

 
 
The medium-term global economic outlook is weak. While the strict initial lockdown restrictions have 

eased, coronavirus has not been supressed and second waves have prompted more restrictive 

measures on a regional and national basis. This ebb and flow of restrictions on normal activity will 

continue for the foreseeable future, at least until an effective vaccine is produced and importantly, 

distributed. 

The global central bank and government responses have been significant and are in many cases 

on-going, maintaining more stable financial, economic and social conditions than otherwise. This 

has supported a sizeable economic recovery in Q3. 

However, the scale of the economic shock to demand, on-going social distancing measures, 

regional lock downs and reduced fiscal support will mean that the subsequent pace of recovery is 

limited. Early signs of this are already evident in UK monthly GDP and PMI data, even before the 

latest restrictions. 

This situation will result in central banks maintaining low interest rates for the medium term. In the 

UK, Brexit is a further complication.  Bank Rate is therefore likely to remain at low levels for a very 

long time, with a distinct possibility of being cut to zero. Money markets have priced in a chance of 

negative Bank Rate. 

Longer-term yields will also remain depressed, anchored by low central bank policy rates, 

expectations for potentially even lower rates and insipid inflation expectations. There is a chance 

yields may follow a slightly different path in the medium term, depending on investor perceptions of 

growth and inflation, or if the UK leaves the EU without a deal.   

Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to remain at the current 0.10% level and additional monetary 

loosening in the future most likely through further financial asset purchases (QE).  While 

Arlingclose’s central case for Bank Rate is no change from the current level of 0.10%, further cuts to 

Bank Rate to zero or even into negative territory cannot be completely ruled out. 

Gilt yields are expected to remain very low in the medium term. Shorter-term gilt yields are currently 

negative and will remain around zero or below until either the Bank of England expressly rules out 

negative Bank Rate or growth/inflation prospects improve. 

Downside risks remain in the near term, as the government dials down its fiscal support measures, 

reacts to the risk of a further escalation in infection rates and the Brexit transition period comes to 

an end. 

157



 

  8 

 

 

 
 

158



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

1 Risk that financial sustainability will be 

impacted if the Council are not able to 

deliver/restore financial control. 

Impact of Covid-19 Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes.
Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

2 Failure to deliver strategic priorities due 

to inaccurate financial forecasting

Service and corporate 

expenditure varying from 

plans set by need to fulfil 

strategic priorities

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes linked to 

strategic objectives requirements
Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

3 Key financial strategies set on the basis 

of inaccurate assessment of the 

Councils overall position

Poor budget preparation 

and poor financial 

monitoring

Sound and effective financial 

systems, Budget holders sign off 

budgets and monitoring 

information.  Central support 

provided to managers from 

Support Services - Financial 

Services Unit

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2020/21- Risk Assessment

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 F

159



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2020/21- Risk Assessment

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 F

4 Interest Rate Pressure Potential for rising interest 

rates above that 

anticipated as part of the 

budget

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes. Interest rate 

reserve. Engagement of external 

advisor, Arlingclose, to provide 

advice on how the Council can 

manage its investment and 

borrowing portfolio.

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

5 Additional Borrowing exceeding 

affordable levels

Additional borrowing will 

place pressure on the 

revenue budget particularly 

if interest rates rise

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes and treasury 

management strategy. Use of 

robust business cases factoring in 

returns based on long term interest 

rate projections.

Significant Unlikely 3 2 6

6 Minimum General Fund balance falls 

below minimum level

Poor control of income and 

expenditure budgets

Budget monitoring systems and 

clear accountabilities for financial 

performance

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

Impact ratings: (I) Likelihood ratings: (L)

Minor 1 Very unlikely 1

Moderate 2 Unlikely 2

Significant 3 Possible 3

Serious 4 Likely 4

Major 5 Very likely 5

The risk total is achieved by multiplying the impact score by the likelihood score. 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 F

160



APPENDIX G

Budget Summary Budget Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

2019/20 to 2022/23 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Net continuing services 3,490 2,974 5,026 4,374 4,062 3,966

Other:

External Interest Payable 5,531 5,249 4,595 4,603 4,784 6,095

External Interest Receivable (3,271) (3,219) (1,742) (443) (291) (337)

Contribs to / (from) Reserves 3,918 4,634 391 (401) (471) (1,451)

Capital Financing from Revenue 0 54 25 0 0 0

Minimum Revenue Provision 5,143 5,113 5,459 5,647 5,866 5,951

Depreciation (4,506) (4,506) (4,506) (4,506) (4,506) (4,506)

Statutory Accounting Adjustments 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL COST 10,305 10,299 9,248 9,274 9,443 9,717

Transfer To/(From) General Fund (48) (41) (113) 14 16 28

Total Budget Requirement 10,257 10,257 9,134 9,287 9,459 9,745

AVAILABLE FINANCE:

Aggregate External Finance

RSG 0 0 0 0 0 0

NDR (4,147) (4,147) (2,662) (2,715) (2,759) (2,845)

(4,147) (4,147) (2,662) (2,715) (2,759) (2,845)

Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit (72) (72) (72) (72) 0 0

Council Tax - Base (6,038) (6,038) (6,400) (6,500) (6,700) (6,900)

Financed Budget Requirement (10,257) (10,257) (9,134) (9,287) (9,459) (9,745)

BUDGET DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) 0 0 0 0 0 0

 

GENERAL FUND BALANCES 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Balance at 1st April (1,067) (1,067) (1,026) (914) (929) (946)

Appropriations (to)/from Reserve 48 41 113 (14) (16) (28)

(Surplus)/'Deficit in Year 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 31st March (1,019) (1,026) (914) (929) (946) (975)

10% Target (1,026) (1,026) (913) (929) (946) (975)

(Surplus)/Deficit 6 (0) (0) 0 0 (0)

Interest Reserve - B861000300000 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

6,175 6,175 9,369 9,035 7,909 6,713

3,097 3,194 (334) (1,126) (1,196) (2,176)

9,272 9,369 9,035 7,909 6,713 4,537

UPDATED COVID-19 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN  2020/21 - 2024/25

SEPTEMBER 2020

161



This page is intentionally left blank



 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

 23 November 2020  

CABINET 

26 November 2020 

FIRST STAGE COVID RECOVERY PLANS 

Report of the Corporate Director (Strategy)  

 

Recommendation to Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel: 

It is recommended that  
(1) the Panel consider the actions and proposals to support recovery from COVID 19, 

both as an organisation and in respect of supporting local communities, and make 
recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 

Recommendations to Cabinet 

(2) It is recommended that Cabinet consider the report alongside any recommendations 
from Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel. 

 

Summary 
 
This report provides an update on the work on COVID 19 recovery to date.  As this is an 
emerging situation the report and the appendices show proposed actions and a direction 
of travel that may be subject to change as circumstances evolve.   

Statutory Powers 
 
Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Coronavirus Act 2020 and miscellaneous legislation relevant 
to COVID 19 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report supports all the objectives in the Corporate Plan as it is a recovery 
plan for all communities within the Borough.  There are workstreams in 
support of both Health and Wellbeing and Prosperous Place, with work 
underway with residents, voluntary community and businesses to identify the 
needs and opportunities both now and in the future.  We have embedded the 
environment within all workstreams, and in addition are looking at the impact 

163

Agenda Item 11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

of COVID 19 on our Environmental priorities, including our Climate and 
Environmental Emergency Action Plan.  

Introduction 

2. The Council’s response to COVID 19 is being managed in accordance with 
emergency planning protocols.  At the current time the COVID 19 incident is 
still in a ‘response’ phase with significant work taking place to ensure our 
services continue to be delivered, and particularly vulnerable residents are 
supported through the borough’s Local Response Centre (LRC).  However, it 
is good practice to start to consider recovery whilst still focusing on the 
incident to ensure that there is no delay in beginning to move forward.  With 
the COVID 19 incident this is even more important and significant due to the 
length of the incident.  Most emergency response incidents are very short, 
ranging from a few hours to a week.  Whilst there have been some longer-
term incidents in recent years (such as the significant flooding that hit 
Hampshire in 2014 and led to many Councils having to run their response 
centres for a few weeks) this type of incident is totally unprecedented.  

3. The Council has been working on COVID 19 recovery for a few months now, 
but alongside responding to day-to-day COVID 19 issues as the Council is still 
managing a major live incident, as well as delivering business as normal.  This 
has made it a slower process than ideally liked and has meant that at this 
stage many of the actions proposed in this report and supporting appendices 
are still at an early stage.  In addition, we do not know what the future looks 
like and are responding to a continually changing situation.  At the time of 
writing this report (first week of November 2020) numbers of cases have 
significantly increased and a second lockdown has just been imposed.  This 
will inevitably direct resources away from recovery to ensuring services can 
continue to be provided.  Further changes are anticipated making it hard to 
plan further at this time. In light of this the proposals in the appendices to this 
report may still be subject to change and in many cases show a direction of 
travel rather than confirmed deliverables. 

Approach to Recovery 

4. The Council is working on COVID 19 recovery at two different levels.  A sub-
regional level based on county borders, plus the Isle of Wight, and locally at a 
Borough level. 

5. At the sub-regional level the Council is part of the Local Resilience Forum 
(LRF) a formal partnership of agencies that manages an emergency response 
at a county level (geography-based not administration-based, which includes 
the cities and the Isle of Wight as well as Hampshire County Council and the 
11 Districts). The LRF also includes other key partners such as Hampshire 
Constabulary, Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service, Public Health England the 
wider NHS (GPs, Hospitals), the military, and transport providers.  

6. As well as managing the response to COVID 19 the LRF has a recovery 
workstream that the Council is part of, represented by the Corporate Director 
(Strategy) who is the Council’s strategic lead for COVID 19, and the Chief 

164



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Executive who leads the LRF Finance Recovery Group. The issues managed 
at an LRF level are related to major infrastructure and issues that affect the 
wider area.  In addition to the Financial Sub-Group, there are also sub-groups 
for Education, Communications, Health and Social Care, Business and 
Economy, Environment and Infrastructure and Community. 

7. At a Borough level the Council has split recovery into four parts: 

(a) Restart – the essential and other key services we have re-introduced in 
a COVID safe way 

(b) Internal recovery – how the organisation has been impacted by the 
pandemic and what needs to happen to enable it to fully function and 
adapt to an emerging ‘new’ future 

(c) External recovery – how the community has been affected by COVID 
19, including residents, businesses and partners 

(d) Response and Resilience, and Remember – how we have managed 
the response to the pandemic itself, what we can learn and improve, 
and how we can remember those people who have been impacted by 
the virus, or who have gone above and beyond to help during the 
incident.  

Restart 

8. Since the easing of the first lockdown over the summer the Restart Group has 
been meeting in order to re-introduce services in a safe and sustainable 
manner.  However, following the introduction of a second lockdown from the 5 
November 2020 some of these services have been suspended again.   

9. The legislation is not as strict this time and we now have revised risk 
assessments and safe systems of work in place which have enabled us to 
deliver services in a COVID-secure manner. Therefore, we are confident that 
the vast majority of our services can continue to be provided.  Whilst the 
second lockdown does not require play parks to close, it does require the 
closure of outside games areas. As a result, the Multi Use Games Area 
(MUGA) at The Hub and others under the Council’s management have been 
closed in line with national guidance.  Home visits can still be undertaken for 
essential services, where COVID 19 safety measures can be adhered to.   

10. The restarting of food waste collections on 9th November will not be affected 
by the second lockdown as the new method is COVID safe. 

11. Work to date has been based around prioritising essential services and those 
which have a significant financial impact on the Council and resuming these 
services will be our priorities once the second lockdown has been lifted.  
Restarting these services will be easier in second time round due to COVID 
19-secure risk assessments, safe systems of work and working practices 
already being in place. 

165



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Internal Recovery 

12. The internal recovery group was originally comprised of 11 workstreams. 
Many of these workstreams were cross cutting and part of our day-to-day 
work, such as financial recovery, corporate strategy and the Climate and 
Environmental Programme. Therefore, the actions from these workstreams 
are largely contained within the relevant corporate plans such as the Medium-
Term Financial Plan or the Corporate Action Plan. 

13. As result the focus of the internal recovery group is now focused on the health 
and wellbeing of staff and new ways of working. 

14. Two staff surveys have been undertaken to-date. The results of these are 
shown in Appendix A (Wellbeing Survey) and Appendix B (Ways of Working 
Survey). The health and wellbeing survey was the first to be carried out and 
this revealed that most staff were coping well. The Head of HR and Head of 
Communications worked jointly on well-being campaigns. These involved top 
tips for maintaining good mental health including support from the Council’s 
Mental Health Champions, learning and development programmes and 
signposting staff to specialist support if required.   

15. The ways of working survey built upon the results of the health and wellbeing 
survey. This survey looked at the impact of working at home and asked about 
productivity and other issues to build a picture of the pros and cons of this 
approach, versus working full time in the office.  Again, the results of this 
survey were largely positive. A draft action plan has been developed which 
has picked up the emerging issues from the survey shown at Appendix C. 

16. It is intended that both surveys will be repeated around Christmas 2020.  

External Recovery 

17. The purpose of the external recovery team was to co-ordinate a recovery 
programme in the community to aid recovery from the effects of COVID-19 on 
the people who live and work in the borough. The programme aimed to 
consider the impact on our residents, businesses, community groups, 
community infrastructure, charities and health (mental and physical).  

18. The objective was to aid the recovery of the wider borough such as non-
council run services, and those factors that have affected the day-to-day lives 
of residents following the effects of COVID19.  

19. The scope is far reaching and includes things that the Borough Council have 
little influence over; however, where the Council cannot directly affect such 
external factors, it flags them, lobbies for them at the relevant level and 
provides co-ordination if appropriate.  

Workstream Overview:  

166



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

20. The workstreams included in the External Recovery programme include 
Economy, Transport, Health and Wellbeing, the Voluntary and Community 
sector, and Town/Parish Councils.  

21. Each workstream had a differing and very varied set of deliverables however, 
the starting point for every workstream was to define what recovery looked 
like to them. This included understanding what each area looked like pre-
COVID 19, what has happened throughout COVID 19, and an estimation of 
how the landscape will be post COVID 19. It would be naïve to think that 
recovery for all areas will simply mean a return to exactly the same as pre- 
COVID 19 as something of this scale leaves permanent changes in society.  

22. Appendix D details each of the workstreams and their objectives and aims, 
with a summary of the some of the key issues and themes which have 
emerged. 

23. Each month the workstream lead produces a monthly highlight report updating 
on issues, achievements and changes either locally or nationally that may be 
impacting. The next piece of work for the workstream leads is to revisit the 
initial aims and objectives and update these against the latest impacts of the 
pandemic.  

24. The Council has limited direct influence on many of the external recovery 
workstreams. Its purpose so far has been to monitor and log the issues to 
identify any gaps or problems where they exist.  A lot of the external recovery 
effort to date has been focused on supporting town centres which have been 
particularly affected by the pandemic and is something we are set up to 
support through the Economic Development Team and Local Area 
Committees.  In Eastleigh Town Centre, High Street and Market Street have 
been temporarily pedestrianised to allow for safer queuing and encourage 
footfall, and The Point have redirected resources that would normally be 
focused inside the Theatre, to organise activities encourage people to both 
come into town and stay for longer.  In addition to the activities in Eastleigh, a 
new market has been set up in Hedge End, increasing footfall and vibrancy in 
the town centre.  

Response and Resilience, and Remember 

25. The Response and Resilience workstream has so far conducted two reviews 
looking at how the Council managed its response to the pandemic. The first 
one reviewed the strategic and tactical response whilst the second examined 
the business continuity response across the services.   

26. The aims were to  

 To understand and review the engagement and involvement of the 
Council within the wider Local Resilience Forum 

 To evaluate the effectiveness of that engagement and highlight areas 

where this could be improved in future incidents. 

167



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 To review and evaluate the response phase to the incident internally 

through examination of the plans, business continuity, management 

structures and decision-making processes 

 To identify lessons learnt and training needs to improve the knowledge, 

understanding and skills of resilience functions across the Council in 

order to improve effective response in the future. 

27. An action plan is being developed to implement the identified 
recommendations contained in the review reports to ensure that the Council is 
better placed to respond to any subsequent emergencies. 

28. The Remember phase has just commenced its work through a small working 
group involving the Mayor and Deputy Mayor, staff and the Chief Executive of 
One Community.  The group’s objectives are;  

 To explore and identify opportunities to celebrate the contributions of 
citizens of the Borough who went above and beyond to help 

 To identify appropriate ways of commemorating those Eastleigh 
citizens who have lost their lives as a result of the pandemic 

29. The group recently met for the first time and explored ideas of how these 
objectives could be met. Initially it has been agreed to ask for nominations 
from the public to help identify Local Heroes in the Borough. An article to that 
effect will be in the next edition of the Borough News. The group will now meet 
monthly and will present proposals to the Recovery Coordinating Group in due 
course. 

COVID 19 and Environmental factors 

30. The Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan was updated in June, 
the plan reflected several changes due to the implications of COVID 19. One 
area significantly affected has been the Community Engagement Programme 
launched in February this year, which is now on hold as it is felt messaging 
would not resonate with the community at this time. 

31. The Council has moved forward with several initiatives, such as electrification 
of Streetscene equipment and EV Charging. 

32. Staff travel, commuting and working at home is included within the Council’s 
Carbon Foot-printing, efforts are being made to ensure the that the 20/21 
Carbon report is able to reflect the wider impact of COVID 19 on Council 
emissions.   

33. Waste has been particularly affected by the pandemic, with the temporary 
suspension of Food Waste Collections and significant increase in residual 
waste, likely due to the reduction in HWRC availability and people spending 
more time at home.  The last six months up untill October has seen a 3.4% 
reduction in the rate of recycling compared to the same period from the 
previous year. 

168



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

34. Since 23 March, restrictions imposed due to the Covid19 outbreak caused a 
significant fall in traffic flow in the Borough.  This would be expected to result 
in a corresponding drop in air pollution, but there are many factors which 
impact on measured concentrations making it difficult to attribute changes 
seen to a specific source.  The hourly data collected does not show a 
significant fall in concentrations at this time, but it is thought this may have 
been masked by unusual weather conditions including strong winds in 
February and a high proportion of easterly winds in the second half of March 
and April.  When looking at monthly averages there is evidence of a reduction 
in nitrogen dioxide levels compared to the same time period in previous years, 
with measured concentrations from March to May 2020 on average 30-40% 
lower in 2020 when compared to 2016-2019.  It should be noted that all 2020 
data is provisional until it has been ratified at the end of the calendar year. 
 

Financial Implications 
 

35. There are no direct Financial Implications to this report itself however the 
impact of COVID has impacted all services. The Council maintains a balanced 
budget for the medium term and full details can be found elsewhere on the 
agenda. It should however be noted that further lockdown periods and the 
future recovery of the economy could have a significant impact on the 
Council’s finances. 

Risk Assessment 

36. Whilst the fact that plans are not specific at this stage makes planning for the 
future more difficult, there is a risk to forming a detailed and final plan at this 
time as the future is so uncertain.  However, to not to start to plan for recovery 
would mean that the Council is unprepared both in terms of its own needs but 
also in respect of how to support local communities.  

37. Whilst not specific to recovery itself (although recovery risks are included) the 
Council has a specific COVID 19 risk register which is revisited approximately 
every six weeks, this ensures at any risks associated with COVID 19 are 
managed effectively. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

The Equality Act is not relevant to this report as it is not seeking a decision 
and therefore an Equality Impact Assessment has not been carried out.  The 
individual actions in the appendices will be assessed separately if and when 
they are implemented.  
 

Climate and Environmental Implications 

38. The full and partial closure of operational sites during lockdown has led to a 
reduction in the Council’s fuel consumption which is likely to lead to a lower 
overall Carbon footprint for 20/21.   

169



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

39. In addition, as detailed above, restrictions imposed due to the COVID19 
outbreak caused a significant fall in traffic flow in the Borough.  When looking 
at monthly averages there is evidence of a reduction in nitrogen dioxide levels 
compared to the same time period in previous years, with measured 
concentrations from March to May 2020 on average 30-40% lower in 2020 
when compared to 2016-2019.  However, it should be noted that all 2020 data 
is provisional until it has been ratified at the end of the calendar year. 

Conclusion 

40. COVID 19 has challenged the Council and our community in many ways, a lot 
of which we had been able to plan for as a result of our Business Continuity 
work and through our Emergency Planning. However, some of it has been 
totally unprecedented and has led to the organisation having to work in totally 
new ways to deliver services and support our residents.  It is anticipated that 
recovery will take years, and it is just the start of this process, in addition 
changes in circumstances such as the introduction of a second national 
lockdown on 5 November 2020 mean that recovery work will need to take a 
back seat.  In this instance recovery is not a linear process and we anticipate 
that we will continue to move forward and back a few times.   

41. The Panel are asked to consider the progress and proposed actions in the 
report and to make recommendations for specific areas they would like to see 
in the emerging recovery action plans.   

NATALIE WIGMAN 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR  

 
Date: 29 October 2020 
Contact Officer: Natalie Wigman  
E-mail: natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices: 4 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 

170



HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING 
SURVEY  
- JULY 2020 RESULTS

171



Background 
In July, a short survey was circulated to give us a better 
understanding of the wellbeing of #TeamEBC staff - particularly in 
the context of the coronavirus pandemic and with large numbers 
of staff working from home and frontline staff continuing to work 
during the pandemic. Thanks to everyone who took part –  
we had 178 completed responses.

The results are designed to give us a snapshot of how staff were 
feeling at that point in time, and to help us plan future support. 
We aim to run these surveys at regular intervals so we can 
monitor and track staff wellbeing over time and provide help and 
support as appropriate.

Summary and overview  
of results
In terms of how staff are feeling – and how you rate your 
wellbeing and the support you are receiving - the survey results 
are generally encouraging and largely positive, especially 
given the extreme circumstances we had all worked under in the 
previous three months.  

There were nine questions asked - and the following is a 
summary of the results against the specific questions:

172



How you responded to the question:

Question 1 –  
I feel supported to manage 
my work remotely

This is a positive response, indicating that the majority of  
staff who responded felt supported to work remotely.

Strongly Agree  
/ Agree

Neither disagree/
agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

103

14
10

0

173



How you responded to the question:

Question 2 –  
I feel supported in 
balancing work, home, care 
and schooling commitments

This is also an encouraging result: most people who responded to the survey 
feel supported in balancing work with home/caring responsibilities.

Strongly Agree  
/ Agree

Neither disagree/agree

Strongly disagree/ 
Disagree

115

15
7

174



How you responded to the question:

Question 3 –  
My manager is checking  
in with me regularly

Most staff feel that their manager is checking in regularly with them, but we 
need to continue to prioritise maintaining regular contact within teams.

Strongly Agree  
/ Agree

Neither disagree/
agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

142

19
17

0

175



How you responded to the question:

Question 4 –  
I feel part of my team

Even with remote working on the scale we have experienced,  
it is pleasing that the majority of those who responded still  

feel connected with their team colleagues. 

Strongly Agree  
/ Agree

Neither disagree/agree

149

21
7Strongly disagree/ 

Disagree

176



How you responded to the question:

Question 5 – I have had 
clear work direction 

A positive result with people generally feeling that  
they are clear on their work direction.  

Strongly Agree  
/ Agree

Neither disagree/agree

141

26
10

Strongly disagree/ 
Disagree

177



How you responded to the question:

Question 6 – I am able to 
switch off from work

Although the majority of staff felt they were able to switch off,  
almost half that number disagreed or strongly disagreed. This suggests  
that we should focus on providing our staff with strategies and tools  
– through EBCLearn and communications channels - to help them  

stop their work intruding on their leisure and family time.

Strongly Agree  
/ Agree

Neither disagree/
agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

97
36

39

3

178



How you responded to the question:

Question 7 – I know where 
to access help and support

It is good to know that the large majority of employees are aware  
of where they can go to get the help and support they need.

Strongly Agree  
/ Agree

Neither disagree/
agree

Disagree
Strongly disagree

165

1
7
5

179



How you responded to the question:

Question 8 –  
How anxious do you feel?

The spread of responses to this question is not wholly unexpected,  
although it is not clear from the question whether work is causing  

anxiety, or other factors outside of work – or a combination of both.  
A general level of anxiety is to be expected given that we are facing  
a world pandemic, and any future survey question may be reworded  

to ask how anxious staff feel about work specifically.

Slightly

Very 

Extremely

Moderately 52

2

65

Not at all 37

18

180



How you responded to the question:

Question 9 – on average in 
the past seven days how 
happy have you felt?

Moderately 95

Extremely 5

Slightly 28

Not at all 10

Very 39

181



This page is intentionally left blank



WAY OF 
WORKING 
SURVEY  
RESULTS

183



Background 
In July and early August, members of #TeamEBC were invited 
to complete a survey on our Ways of Working across Eastleigh 
Borough Council. Its aim was to give us a better understanding 
of how the different ways we have had to carry out our duties 
during the coronavirus and lockdown have impacted on staff.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on all of us. 
This latest assessment of how staff feel followed on from the 
Wellbeing Survey, the results of which were published recently.  
It has provided feedback on the changes we have already made 
as a result of the pandemic, including the support you feel you 
are receiving, remote meetings and the changes to our green 
footprint. 

One of the key aims of the Ways of Working survey was to 
gauge what changes and improvements #TeamEBC members 
would like to see in the future – particularly as being based at 
home will be the ‘new normal’ for the majority of staff, at least for 
the foreseeable future. 

We had 208 completed responses, so thank you 
to everyone who took part. Our next steps are to do 
some detailed analysis which will be used to shape our Ways of 
Working in the future. 

Responses about working from home have been varied with 
some of #TeamEBC relishing the opportunity to work, and others 
finding it much tougher. This has provided a good opportunity 
to review the guidance on the Staff Hub on looking after your 
mental and physical wellbeing while working from home. 

184



How you responded to the question:

Question 1 –  
What effect has working at 
home had on your energy 
levels? 

higher energy 
levels

about the same

lower energy 
levels

17%

24%

59%

185



How you responded to the question:

Question 2 –  
How have your sleep 
patterns been affected? 

better

slightly better

about the same

slightly worse

worse 7%

22%

18%

43%

10%

186



How you responded to the question:

Question 3 –  
How effective have you 
found Microsoft Teams 
calls/videos?   

poor
satisfactory

good

very good

1%
9%

31%

59%

187



How you responded to the question:

Question 4 –  
How effective have you felt 
working from home?  

more effective

less effective

no difference 24%

23%

53%

188



How you responded to the question:

Question 5 –  
How informed do you feel 
about the Council?

more informed

about the same

less informed 7%

37%

56%

189



What you told us
What worked well?

• Saving time/money on travel
• Less interruption 
• Flexibility of hours 
• Productive lunch break (household chores!) 
• Seeing family more 
• Being able to dress casually (one set of clothes!) 
• No hot desk worries

What’s frustrating?

• Feeling disconnected 
• Lack of face-to-face/human contact 
• No separation between work and home
• Broadband issues 
• Video meeting fatigue! 
• Unsuitable space to work 
• Children and homeworking/schooling
• Working later without realising

Next steps
A full analysis of results is under way – including identifying 
trends in certain areas.

An action plan is being put in place outlining what can we do 
to address the issues raised by the survey. This is likely to cover 
multiple areas, including Facilities, HR, IT and Sustainable Travel).

We aim to publish the Action Plan in October 2020

190



Support available 
Don’t forget to check out our Health and Wellbeing information 
on the Staff Hub. It contains everything from advice on 
maintaining mental health and building resilience, to reducing 
stress and getting better sleep. There are also links to financial 
help - and dealing with the feelings of loneliness and isolation 
that working from home can bring. 

https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Staying-well-during-
Coronavirus-crisis 

Employee Support Line
You may have greater worries or anxiety at this time.  
Please be aware of our confidential Employee Support Line: 
https://my-eap.com 

The login is “EBCwell”.

EMPLOYEE
SUPPORT
MINE

191

https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Staying-well-during-Coronavirus-crisis
https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Staying-well-during-Coronavirus-crisis
https://my-eap.com


This page is intentionally left blank



Issue Area Issue Detail Recommendations/Actions Risks if not addressed Started Completed 

EBC Induction completed within one month of employee starting
Sep-20 Ongoing

Provide role specific inductions over first 6/12 weeks of starting Sep-20 Ongoing

Provide a designated "buddy" for each new employee

Sep-20 Ongoing

Communications Difficulties in people knowing who to contact and which team operates which service

Creation of pages on staff hub that would show team 

members, who is in the team, process notes and contacts

New staff unsure who to contact about 

specific issues.  However risk is low as Case 

management System is the main process for 

activities therefore details of indivduals not 

needed

Not started yet

Systems Printing issues for those who have no facility, ordering printing 

Currently cases can be raised for printing to be collected also 

we have set up coffee shop for printing and collection of 

ordered printing. This supports environment by moving us to 

paperless organisation  

Very low risk - systems in place to deal with 

this 

23/03/2020

Systems Case Management Review

Etiquette on using CMS to be included in WOW training 

agreed by Management Team . Promotion of the Videos of 

how to use case management- make into an EBC learn 

compulsory course

Case management is not being used as 

efficiently as it could and therefore not 

being adopted by all as confidence in it is 

not high. 

22/10- training starts 2/11

Oct 2020 - promotion of 

info on the HUB.  WOW 

training starts in 

November 2020 

Ask individuals if they have any IT/equipment issues

How do we know people are set up in the 

right way to work from home, are we 

meeting our duties of care to our 

employees

22/10- support services CMO team 

contacting our people that responded to 

our questionnaire about their setup, 3 open 

days in the office planned for furniture and 

equipment to be collected. Plans for FM to 

buy furniture for those who office furniture 

is not suitable. 

20/10/2020

Offer office space availability to those struggling as a priority
Further restrictions could affect ability to do 

this 

EBC Home working policy to be introduced
22/10- HR looking at this and rewriting  

20/10/2020

Interpretations of results across 

service areas 

How do we deal with service specific comments on wellbeing and way of working  

survey

Updating future survey questions to suit service areas such as 

the Depot, where their working practices have had less 

changes 

Aim for next survey in 

December 2020 

Continue encouragement to block out times for concentration/review Meeting free time trial until end of Dec in place. 01/09/2020

Encourage different meeting timescales to be booked e.g. 45 minute meetings 

instead of one hour

Produce an EBC etiquette guide to remote meetings to include keeping meetings to 

time, holding shorter more focused meetings and allowing break times if meeting is 

for a longer time. 

Recruitment 

Monthly Council induction- more governance around the 

induction booklet and Manager inductions 

Individuals may feel unsupported, not 

achieve objectives and ultimatley staff 

retention may suffer 

22/10-Inductions now held every 2 weeks, 

new induction books created by HR and 

sent out with a welcome email by HR CMO 

team

Home working 

DSE email sent to all- responses coordinated through SS CMO, 

pictures of desk set up to be sent in. Basic kit supplied. Ideas 

for tips to help individuals with their home set up- perhaps a 

comments feed on staff hub

09/01/2020

Mental wellbeing issues and physical issues 

of not taking breaks or having time out 

Ways of Working  

Shirley has written guidance, now with Comms before 

publishing. Internal Recovery Group to review as well.

193



Team Members to be encouraged to plan their diaries to include work time as well as 

meeting time

Not started yet

Not started yet

Not started yet

Future working arrangements
Can part of Eastleigh House be released for renting so that the Council has a smaller 

office footprint?

Unknown at this time.  Need to understand more about the 

impact of COVID on the way we we will work longer term. For 

example may need more space for less people?  Too much of 

an unknown at this time.  

Not started yet

Ensure we have the right kit in our meeting rooms to support virtual meetings.

TV screens, good audio, sound proofing

Not started yet

Train meeting Chairs  ensure that remote attendees are included and can participate 

in meetings

produce etiquette guides to ensure that remote attendees- 

may be able to use items from current guide written by Shirley
Not started yet

Ensure that meeting invites provide an option to attend in person or via Teams

This can already be done and is used will wait on further 

feedback to see if still and issue and one to watch moving 

forward 04/01/2020 10/01/2020

Training sessions via EBC Learning or other for Microsoft teams to maximise benefits 

including how to store files, share files, set up teams within Teams etc.

Microsoft sessions already online and available just need link 

to these either via EBC learn or staff hub

Need to ensure consistence with the way of 

working or could lead to issues with finding 

and working on information in the future
Oct-20

Further training for Councillors as required for those less used to digital 

communications to ensure we are inclusive 

Democratic services have provided training- will look at 

further feedback on this and see what needs to be done 

04/01/2020

Consider what new skills will be required by the workforce
Not started yet

Continuing to survey and monitor 

Ways of working
Ensure we know how our workforce feel/effect on their performance 

How do we know if someone is struggling- comms for what is 

available and advertise EAP and HR services. Role for 

managers to raise with staff
On-going part of 

employee 1-2-1 process 

Environmental Gain/Loss Calculate the effect of home working on carbon footprint Looking at how we can accurately measure this Not started yet

How do we manage our people In a virtual environment 

Move from presence management to results based 

management- review and tailor T&A system, management 

training to support any new method of working- encouraging 

a more responsible and accountable workforce, in turn more 

innovation as people are managing their own performance 

more

Need to empower and show our staff how 

much they are valued, working now on 

trusted output so this should be reflected in 

how they manage their time 

Not started yet

How do we motivate our people in a virtual environment 

Promotion of virtual awards in January- nominations start 

Nov. Send Xmas cards/gifts to employees

Importance of staff feeling motivated, 

especially during dark winter months, when 

we know mental wellbeing suffers 
10/01/2020

Performance Management

Future working arrangements
What does a combination of home and office working scenario look like. What office 

space will be needed longer term.

09/01/2020

Mental wellbeing issues and physical issues 

of not taking breaks or having time out 

Office based roles vs home based- Map roles to create a 

home/office job family- support diverse recruitment. Review 

roles and look at right people In the right roles. How do we 

cover further resourcing needs in service areas either due to 

COVID or seasonal fluctuations - creation of a more agile 

workforce- especially within customer care

Training 

Digital Meetings 

Risk is we do not use this opportunity to 

create a more agile workforce, which has 

economic, social and environmental gains. 

We open ourselves to be more diverse by 

employing those who maybe cannot travel 

or would usually be outside of "catchment". 

New ways of working can make us more 

accessible to all and increase workforce at 

the lower levels

Ways of Working  

Shirley has written guidance, now with Comms before 

publishing. Internal Recovery Group to review as well.194



How do we show our people we Value them as individuals 

WOW training proposal- covers long term work covered in 

previous to lockdown sessions and an extra module 

"supporting teams and individuals positively" which covers 

our journey over the next 12-18 months - see proposal GM 

going to MT 14/10

Provides a strong basis for how we want to 

work going forward, aligning with our 

strategic goals. Gives our people the tools 

to deal with the unprecedented long term 

changes and the upcoming structure 

changes 09/01/2020

Performance Management

195



T
his page is intentionally left blank



No. Workstream Lead Objective Aims Key themes summary to date

1 Business Camilla Sharp - 

Economy Lead 

Specialist

Support economic recovery in the 

Borough

1. Restoration of profitability to local businesses through 

support for supply chain and development of new markets.  

2. Recovery of employment for local residents through 

training, apprenticeships and other initiatives.  3. 

Maximisation of  income for the Council through occupation 

of employment land (inward investment generating new 

business rates) and efficient asset management.  4.  Local 

Centre regeneration   5. Identify funding streams for all four 

aims and submit applications

Safe reopening of the high streets achieved, distribution of grants to businesses rolled out, temporary pedestrianisation of the high streets in eastleigh to aid safe queuing outside shops, 2 x new skills and 

employment officers appointed, Hedge End temp market opened, Sorting Office and Wessex House reopened, pavement licences rolled out, ongoing dialogue with town centre businesses, Eastleigh College 

and highest business rate payers.  Brexit could have further negative impact on an economy already hit by COVID 19.   Business rates is 8% below this time last year .   Hedge End: temp market up to 17 stalls 

and Friday craft market launched with 12.  Both are popular and successful.  Reopening High Streets Safely (RHSS) funding application orally approved.  Gift card to be launched for entire borough as soon as 

contract is approved by Legal.  Funding streams: £48K allocated by Central Govt for eg marshalls and EBC has approved the allocation of these funds to additional EHOs for the Commercial Team as well as a 

sum for signage for Comms.

2 Transport Cali Sparks - 

Sustainable 

Transport Specialist

To support local communities to travel 

sustainably and build up local 

confidence that public transport is a 

safe, cheap and easy way to travel

To restore public and community transport services to 

normal (pre covid) levels and capacity.  To support operators 

during the period of social distancing. To build up patronage 

levels to normal.

TTRO for Eastleigh Town Centre to pedestrianise key parts to enable safe opening of shops. Applications received and approved to amend public transport timetables. Pavement licence process launched 

successfully. Public Transport patronage down 90% for early months of this year . Dr Bike sesssions ran across the summer. Public and community transport operators to attend EBC P&P in November to discuss 

their plight.

3 Local Response Centre 

Handover

Melvin Harley - 

Safetey & Resilliance 

Manager

Transfer the Local Response Centre 

into the everyday services within the 

Council.

To have an orderly transition and clear definition on activity 

that the Council chooses to sustain long term in its own 

services, and those activities that relate specifically to the 

LRC. This may be possible by the time of a revised MTFP in 

October 2020

Shielding paused end of July. Gov food parcels (Eastleigh had about 1000 in receipt) ended 31 July - all have migrated safely to new sustainable source of food.  LRC processes and systems well established. 84k 

DEFRA grant for food and essential items approved. Good ongoing communication with 3 foodbanks. EBC Comms campaign (#everyone's corner) to support shielders to rehabilitate.  Handover of LRC 

management to Melvin Hartley. Regular meetings held with the team and external voluntary groups.   Funding decisions agreed: To spend £20k of the £84k grant from DEFRA via HCC on the food banks to 

enable purchase of new stock - £10K to Eastleigh and   £5k to Hedge End and Hound.     Forward review undertaken using template provided by HCC team looking at various scenarios - current status, slight 

increase and then local and national lockdown to assess viability and any issues.  Voluntary groups status: KCC remain closed, and Eastleigh Community Aid are in pause mode.

4 Town & Parish Councils Becky Wiseman - 

Assistant LAM

Work with each Parish and to 

understand the impact of Covid on 

each of them and identify how we can 

best support this devolved structure 

moving forward to return to pre covid 

performance where applicable and 

where feasible.

Create a clear method to identify all issues affecting all 

parish and town councils. Identify cross cutting issues for all 

parishes in the Local Areas. Support the devolved structure 

to return, where appropriate to pre covid levels of 

community provision.

Majority of Parish Councils are conducting council meetings online. Weekly updates sent to Parishes clarifying any changes in government legislation. Government issues changes to the conditions of lockdown 

but leaves minimal time to implement the changes safely.  The government guidance has been complicated and Parish Councils have asked for guidance from a Health and Safety prospective. Successful 

opening of Parish Play area Parks in early July. Successful Opening of Play Parks, Tennis Courts, Libraries and community centres (from the 25th July) . Review the Asset Transfer process.

5 Health & wellbeing/                                                                                                                

Voluntary community

Diccon Bright - 

Strategy Lead

To Achieve the long term goal of 

returning to or surpassing the health 

& wellbeing levels of the borough 

priority to the Covid-19 pandemic as 

measured by our Corporate Outcome 

KPIs for Health and wellbeing.                                       

To work in collaboration with One 

Community to understand the effects 

of Covid-19 on community and 

voluntary groups and develop a plan 

to help these groups operate to the 

levels they were achieving pre-

covid19 pandemic

To consult with various key partners to identify emerging 

health and wellbeing issues and understand possible threats 

and opportunities, whilst utilising key outcome data from 

the Covid-19 Pandemic.  -To consult with the community 

groups and the community.  To communicate with potential 

providers (sports clubs, leisure and cultural venues, 

community organisations, private organisations) to 

understand what challenges and opportunities they foresee , 

identify and apply for external grant funding to help deliver 

other key aims.  >Understand the impact of Covid-19 on 

community and voluntary organisations. > Based on 

information gathered, develop a holistic action plan to 

enable community and voluntary groups to operate to 

similar levels pre covid-19. > to identify external grant 

funding streams and develop funding bids with One 

Community to aid recovery. 

Sports clubs and Leisure centres  – 17 have accessed grants.  Varying impacts – more for indoor clubs.  Enforced distancing means lower numbers and income.  Monitoring form tracking impacts of EBC grants. 

Parksport programme ran in adapted form.  Arts and Culture – Adaption to online programming. reaching 2663 people throughout April and May with projects spanning virtual dance classes,  digital exhibitions 

and family story telling sessions . Some outdoor dance sessions have run (e.g. Health and wellbeing activities including an ‘adventure trail’ at IVCP) and covid-secure indoor sessions. Learning Difficulties group 

feedback that some former participants too anxious to return, others desperate to return. Projects with schools and residential homes, isolated people.   Community and Voluntary groups – many not operating 

due to practical issues, viability (of operating with fewer participants, or of transport with fewer passengers).  Groups with vulnerable volunteers are unlikely to recover in short term. Many funded 

organisations continuing to support existing clients online and in new ways (AgeConcern, MHA, churches, foodbanks, RSLs, CitA, One Community).  Many agencies now part of Eastleigh Welfare Agencies 

Partnership (EWAP); comments at recent meeting include: rise in foodbank use, unemployment, relationship breakdown, UC claims, young people feeling blamed, non-profit vol sec under financial pressures 

(not receiving income from hall hire).   High levels of uncertainty, difficult to plan ahead, and in respect of face to face groups/support a need to adapt to new scenario.  Current strategy is continue response 

(Local Response Centre, support to foodbanks, services) alongside recovery, improved networking of key agencies via EWAP, initial explorations of meeting welfare needs in ‘new normal’:  discussions with HCC 

and districts, consideration of digital inclusion. 

197



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN: August 2020 to April 2021 

 
This Forward Plan sets out matters which may be considered by Cabinet in the four month period. It includes items on which a “key 
decision” is likely to be taken. 
 
A KEY DECISION IS - An executive decision (whether or not taken by the Cabinet) which is likely to: 
 
(1) result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% (whichever is the 

larger) of the gross expenditure budget for the service or general function to which the decision relates; or 
 
(2) be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards within the 

Borough of Eastleigh. 
 
The Plan also includes matters for likely decision relating to the Council’s policy or budget framework. 
 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

26 November 2020 
 

Yes 

 
Covid-19 Response  
 

Cabinet   26 Nov 2020   
 

Cabinet will be asked to note 
an update on the Council’s 
response to the Covid-19 
pandemic and approve plans 
for the recovery work 
needed. 

Natalie Wigman, 
Corporate 
Director - 
Strategy /  
 

199

A
genda Item

 12



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

2 

Yes 

 
Home Choice Allocations Policy  
 

Cabinet   26 Nov 2020   
 

Cabinet are asked to 
approve the following 
amendments to the policy: 
 

 Increase the 
qualification 
criteria threshold 
for applicants’ 
joint gross 
household 
income from 
£45,000 pa to 
£60,000 pa in 
order to have 
parity with the 
other four local 
authorities signed 
up to the 
Hampshire Home 
Choice 
agreement. 

 Award high 
priority banding 
(Band 2) to 
applicants 
occupying 
homeless 
temporary 
accommodation 
stock for 2 years. 

 Effect 
amendments 
throughout the 
policy to reflect 
the legislative 
changes brought 
about by the 
introduction of the 

Ross McClean, 
Strategic Lead 
(Health and 
Wellbeing) /  
 

200



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

3 

Yes 

 
10105 Woodhouse Lane Sports 
Facilities Project  
 

Cabinet   26 Nov 2020   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
approve forward funding for 
delivery of the community 
sports pitches and additional 
sports facilities in advance of 
allocated S106 receipts. 

Harry Lee /  
 

Yes 

 
Corporate Fees and Charges  
 

Cabinet   26 Nov 2020  All Pre Decision 
Scrutinies 
 

To consider and approve 
Corporate Fees and 
Charges. 

Andy Smith, 
Finance Lead 
Specialist 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer) 
/  
 

Yes 

 
Write Off Irrecoverable Debts  
 

Cabinet   26 Nov 2020   
 

To approve the write-off of 
irrecoverable debts. 

Mark Reed /  
 

Yes 

 
Corporate Financial and 
Performance Monitoring  
 

Cabinet   26 Nov 2020  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

To consider the quarterly 
report outlining the Council’s 
performance against 
outcomes in the Corporate 
Plan. 

Emma Pearce /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   26 Nov 2020   
 

To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

10 December 2020 
 

201



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

4 

Yes 

 
Covid-19 Response  
 

Cabinet   10 Dec 2020   
 

Cabinet will be asked to note 
an update on the Council’s 
response to the Covid-19 
pandemic and approve plans 
for the recovery work 
needed. 

Natalie Wigman, 
Corporate 
Director - 
Strategy /  
 

Yes 

 
Treasury Management Half 
Year Report  
 

Cabinet   10 Dec 2020  Audit & 
Resources 
Committee 
 

To consider and approve the 
Treasury Management Half 
Year report. 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   10 Dec 2020   
 

To consider and approve 
Community Infrastructure 
Projects (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet   10 Dec 2020   
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager /  
 

Yes 

 
Eastleigh Homes Strategy  
 

Cabinet   10 Dec 2020  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

Cabinet are asked to note 
the attached strategy setting 
out the key principles and 
aims that will inform and 
shape the Housing 
Programme and the 
Council’s development 
activity from 2021. Cabinet 
are asked to note any 
recommendations from the 
Policy & Performance 
Scrutiny Panel. 

Emily Howbrook, 
Strategy Led 
(Housing and 
Development) /  
 

202



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

5 

Yes 

 
Statement of Community 
Involvement  
 

Cabinet   10 Dec 2020   
 

To consider and adopt the 
addendum and temporary 
changes to consultation on 
planning matters. 

Diccon Bright, 
Strategic 
Planning 
Manager /  
 

10 January 2021 
 

Yes 

 
Improving waste and recycling 
collections across Eastleigh 
Borough  
 

Cabinet   11 Jan 2021  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

The council wants to work 
with residents to improve the 
Borough’s recycling rate and 
reduce the amount of waste 
generated. 

Gale Smith, 
Project Manager 
- Waste /  
 

Yes 

 
Capital and Treasury Strategy  
 

Cabinet   11 Jan 2021   
 

To consider and approve the 
Capital and Treasury 
Strategy. 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Infrastructure 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   11 Jan 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet      
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager /  
 

22 February 2021 
 

203



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

6 

Yes 

 
2021 - 2022 Borough Council 
Budget  
 

Cabinet   22 Feb 2021  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

To consider and recommend 
the 2021 – 2022 Borough 
Council Budget to Council for 
approval. 

Sarah King, 
Corporate 
Director - 
Support Services 
/  
 

 
 
FOOTNOTES: 
Public Participation will apply to enable representations to be made at the time the decision is to be taken. 
Written reports for public items will be available as part of the agenda papers and are usually available one week prior to 
the meeting. 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Johnston – Democratic Services Manager 
Publication Date: 13 November 2020 
 

204



Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 20/21 

Item for Consideration Focus for Scrutiny Officer 

 

JULY 2020 

Corporate Action Plan 19/20 
Review 

 DB 

Corporate Action Plan Pre-decision scrutiny DB 

Quarterly Performance Data 
Q3,4 

Commentary on covid19 plus additional indicators to help interpret 
COVID19 impact on services 

 

Tree Nursery Pre-decision scrutiny, congruence with Climate Action Plan Paul Naylor 

New Ways with Waste 
Project (Waste &  Recycling) 

Project Scope, Focus, Priorities Gale Smith 

Waste Policy Revisions Pre-decision scrutiny of some changes to the waste policy Gale Smith / 
Paul Naylor 

SEPT 2020 

COVID-19 Recovery Plans  NW 

Constitution Review Discussion and update  

Trees SPD Pre-decision  

Draft Policy Review 
Schedule 

To inform work plan DB 

OCT 2020 

205

A
genda Item

 13



Pollution Strategy Scope the pollution strategy refresh Neil Scott 

Report & Reccs from Social 
Policy and Health & 
Wellbeing Group  

Task and Finish Group report and recommendations  

Equalities Scope the equalities policy refresh DB 

23 NOV 2020 

Covid-19 Response Pre-decision NW 

Performance Data including 
MTFP 

 Corporate 
Management 
Team 

Biodiversity Strategy Early Discussion Jason Light 

Home Choice Allocations 

Policy 

Pre-decision  

M27 Motorway  To note Jason Light 

7 DEC 2020 

Public Transport Operators & 
Public Transport Strategy 

Scrutiny of PTOs, plus introduction to process for public transport 
strategy review 

Cali Sparks 

Climate Change Action Plan Regular 6-monthly scrutiny of progress and changes to CCAP Jason Light 

New Ways With Waste – 
Zonal Collections 

Pilot outcomes and shift to zonal waste collection Gale Smith 

 KICK OFF GROUP TO LOOK AT S106 priorities and lessons learnt on  

206



large developments; to bring back to Jan mtg with enforcement report. 

Housing Strategy Note the Housing Strategy prior to Cabinet Approval Andy Smith 

28 JAN 2021 

Planning Enforcement Update on performance since introduction of new policy in 2019/20 Andy 
Grandfield 

Tree Strategy Pre-decision Jason Light 

Complaints   ? 

Late Reports   Laura Johnston 

4 FEB 2021 

Community Safety 
Partnership Review 

 Melvin Hartley 

Equality Strategy?   

11 FEB 2021 

Budget  Sarah King & 
Andy Smith 

11 MAR 2021 

Pollution Strategy   

   

T.B.D. 

207



M27 Smart Motorway Invitation issued to Highways England  

Walking & Cycling Strategy Strategy for Feedback; ideally before it’s a “pre-decision” item Cali Sparkes 

Sport & Active Lifestyle 
Strategy (likely delayed by 
COVID?) 

  

Topic: Supporting our Parish 
Councils ** 

COVID-19; may need permission to publish key data from PCs  

Topic: Economic 
Development and Local High 
Streets ** 

COVID-19 Response; recovery agenda.   

Topic: Encouraging 
Sustainable Prosperity 

Mash-up of Economy and Environment  

Topic: Future Population 
Growth and Service Delivery 

  

Digital Inclusion 
Lockdown = less comms via 
non-digital inc parish 
councils, volunteer groups; 
loneliness 

Incorporate into equalities policy  

 

208


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Eastleigh Scheme of Housing Allocations
	Eastleigh Scheme of Allocations App1
	Eastleigh Scheme of Housing Allocations App2

	8 Biodiversity Strategy Development
	9 Responses to M27 Scrutiny Invitation
	M27 - App1
	M27 - App2
	M27 - App 3
	M27 - App 4
	M27 - App 5
	M27 - App 6
	M27 - App 7
	M27 App 8

	10 Corporate Performance and Financial Monitoring
	Appendix A Revenue Monitoring Variances
	Appendix B P&P Council Strategy Scorecard Summary
	Appendix C
	App D
	App E
	App F
	App G

	11 COVID 19 Recovery Proposals
	COVID App 1
	COVID App 2
	COVID App3
	COVID App 4

	12 Cabinet Forward Plan
	13 Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme

